

Australian Government

Australian Radiation Protection and Nuclear Safety Agency

SAFETY GUIDE

Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM)

RADIATION PROTECTION SERIES No. 15

The **Radiation Protection Series** is published by the Australian Radiation Protection and Nuclear Safety Agency (ARPANSA) to promote practices which protect human health and the environment from the possible harmful effects of radiation. ARPANSA is assisted in this task by the Radiation Health and Safety Advisory Council, which reviews the publication program for the **Series** and endorses documents for publication, and by the Radiation Health Committee, which oversees the preparation of draft documents and recommends publication.

There are four categories of publication in the *Series*:

Radiation Protection Standards set fundamental requirements for safety. They are regulatory in style and may be referenced by regulatory instruments in State, Territory or Commonwealth jurisdictions. They may contain key procedural requirements regarded as essential for best international practice in radiation protection, and fundamental quantitative requirements, such as exposure limits.

Codes of Practice are also regulatory in style and may be referenced by regulations or conditions of licence. They contain practice-specific requirements that must be satisfied to ensure an acceptable level of safety and security in dealings involving exposure to radiation. Requirements are expressed in 'must' statements.

Recommendations provide guidance on fundamental principles for radiation protection. They are written in an explanatory and non-regulatory style and describe the basic concepts and objectives of best international practice. Where there are related **Radiation Protection Standards** and **Codes of Practice**, they are based on the fundamental principles in the **Recommendations**.

Safety Guides provide practice-specific guidance on achieving the requirements set out in **Radiation Protection Standards** and **Codes of Practice**. They are non-regulatory in style, but may recommend good practices. Guidance is expressed in 'should' statements, indicating that the measures recommended, or equivalent alternatives, are normally necessary in order to comply with the requirements of the **Radiation Protection Standards** and **Codes of Practice**.

In many cases, for practical convenience, regulatory and guidance documents which are related to each other may be published together. A **Code of Practice** and a corresponding **Safety Guide** may be published within a single set of covers.

All publications in the **Radiation Protection Series** are informed by public comment during drafting, and **Radiation Protection Standards** and **Codes of Practice**, which may serve a regulatory function, are subject to a process of regulatory review. Further information on these consultation processes may be obtained by contacting ARPANSA.



SAFETY GUIDE

Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM)

Radiation Protection Series Publication No. 15

August 2008

This publication was approved by the Radiation Health Committee on 17 July 2008 and on 8 August 2008 the Radiation Health and Safety Advisory Council advised the CEO to adopt the Safety Guide

NOTICE

© Commonwealth of Australia 2008

This work is copyright. You may download, display, print and reproduce this material in unaltered form only (retaining this notice) for your personal, non-commercial use or use within your organisation. Apart from any use as permitted under the *Copyright Act 1968*, all other rights are reserved. Requests and inquiries concerning reproduction and rights should be addressed to:

Commonwealth Copyright Administration Attorney-General's Department Robert Garran Offices National Circuit Barton ACT 2600

URL: <u>www.ag.gov.au/cca</u>

Requests for information about the content of this publication should be addressed to the Secretariat, ARPANSA, 619 Lower Plenty Road, Yallambie, Victoria, 3085 or by e-mail to <u>secretariat@arpansa.gov.au</u>.

ISBN 978-0-9805638-4-9 ISSN 1445-9760

The mission of ARPANSA is to protect the health and safety of people, and to protect the environment, from the harmful effects of radiation.

Published by the Chief Executive Officer of ARPANSA in August 2008

Foreword

Naturally occurring radioactive materials (NORM) are ubiquitous in the environment. NORM is widespread in sands, clays, soils and rocks, and many ores and minerals, commodities, products, by-products, recycled residues, and devices used by humans. Although the concentration of NORM in most natural substances is low, any operation in which material is extracted from the earth and processed can potentially concentrate NORM in product, by-product or waste (residue) streams. The generation of products, by-products, residues and wastes containing NORM has potential to lead to exposures to both workers and members of the public, along with environmental impacts.

In 2004, the Radiation Health and Safety Advisory Council released a discussion paper on the management of NORM in Australia. After consultation, including at the *National Conference on Radiation Protection and Radioactive Waste Management in Mining and Mineral Processing* in April 2005, Council forwarded advice on NORM to me as the CEO of ARPANSA.

Following Council's advice, ARPANSA commenced a process of review and assessment of NORM management in various industries. This *Safety Guide*, was developed to provide national guidance on the management of NORM and a methodology for assessment of the need for a regulatory approach in specific situations involving NORM.

The *Safety Guide* takes account of recently developed international guidance on NORM management. It recognises that regulation will not always be the appropriate approach for dealing with NORM, and describes a graded approach to regulation for those cases where a regulatory approach is assessed as being necessary. It includes three detailed Annexes for the oil and gas, bauxite and phosphate industries. It is intended to prepare Annexes on other NORM-related industries in future.

A working group, including industry, regulator and ARPANSA representatives, developed a draft of the *Safety Guide*, which was released for public comment from 2 May 2008 until 13 June 2008. Thirteen public submissions were received and reviewed. The Radiation Health Committee approved the final draft at its meeting of 16-17 July 2008. The Radiation Health and Safety Advisory Council advised me to adopt the *Safety Guide* at its meeting of 8 August 2008.

A resource page on NORM issues has also been developed on the ARPANSA web site (<u>www.arpansa.gov.au/aboutus/committees/norm.cfm</u>). In consultation with a NORM stakeholder group that includes government and industry representatives, ARPANSA will develop this web page further over time.

It is expected that the *Safety Guide* and web page will be of particular assistance to industries and regulators considering the need for appropriate radiation protection measures and/or a regulatory approach in those situations where NORM is present in an industry. ARPANSA will continue to monitor international developments on NORM management and will work with relevant industries to prepare additional Annexes for this *Safety Guide*, and to develop the web page into a resource on radiation protection and NORM.

Lon

John Loy PSM CEO of ARPANSA

27 August 2008

Contents

Radiation Protection Series No. 15

Fo	rewo	ordi	I
1.	Int	roduction1	
	1.1	CITATION1	
	1.2	BACKGROUND1	
	1.3	PURPOSE6	
	1.4	Scope	
	1.5	STRUCTURE	
	1.6	RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER RADIATION PROTECTION SERIES	
		PUBLICATIONS7	
2.		ne Industries where Radiation Protection issues may	
	aris	se in dealing with NORM9	'
	2.1	OIL & GAS INDUSTRY9	
		2.1.1 Downstream processing of oil and gas10	
	2.2	BAUXITE/ALUMINIUM INDUSTRY10	
	2.3	PHOSPHATE INDUSTRY11	
	2.4	METAL EXTRACTION AND PROCESSING12	
		2.4.1 Copper	
	~ ~	2.4.2 Tin/Tantalum	
	2.5	COAL EXTRACTION AND ELECTRICITY GENERATION	•
	2.6	IRON AND STEEL PRODUCTION	
	2.7	MINERAL SANDS AND RARE EARTHS15	
	2.8	DOWNSTREAM PROCESSING OF MINERAL SANDS	
		2.8.1 Titanium dioxide pigment production	
	0.0	2.8.2 Zircon and zirconia production	(
	2.9	SCRAP METAL RECYCLING	
) WATER TREATMENT	
		THE BUILDING INDUSTRY	
		2 UNDERGROUND MINING AND TUNNELLING	
		3 GEOTHERMAL ENERGY GENERATION20	
3.	Rac	diological Issues in NORM Management21	
	3.1	GENERAL	
	3.2	EXPOSURE PATHWAYS 21	
		3.2.1 Internal exposures	
		3.2.2 External exposures	
	3.3		
		3.3.1 Open pit mines	
		3.3.2 Underground operations and work places	
		3.3.4 Liquid/gas extraction from wells	
	3.4	MINERAL AND DOWNSTREAM PROCESSING	
	J, I	3.4.1 Dust	
		3.4.2 Material handling	
		3.4.3 Radon	
		8	

Safety Guide Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM)

	3.5	TRANSPORT OF BULK COMMODITIES, RESIDUES AND WASTES	27
		3.5.1 Dust (loading and unloading)	
		3.5.2 External exposures during transport	
		3.5.3 Transport accidents	
	3.6	USE OF PRODUCTS	28
	3.7	MANAGEMENT OF RESIDUES	
		3.7.1 Storage/Disposal	29
		3.7.2 Utilisation of NORM residues	
		3.7.3 Optimisation - use of the ALARA principle	
	3.8	MANAGEMENT OF WASTES	
		3.8.1 Storage	
		3.8.2 Near surface burial	
		3.8.3 Other disposal options	
	3.9	PUBLIC PERCEPTION	32
	3.10	SUMMARY	32
4.	Reg	gulatory Issues in NORM Management	33
	4.1	INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENTS IN NORM MANAGEMENT	
		CURRENT REGULATORY FRAMEWORKS IN AUSTRALIA	
	4.3	Assessing the Need to Regulate NORM	
		4.3.1 Application of Exclusion and Exemption to NORM4.3.2 First stage of assessment - identification of operations	
		4.3.2 First stage of assessment - identification of operations involving NORM	36
		4.3.3 Second stage of assessment – consideration of other mater	
		4.3.4 Other work situations	
	4.4	GRADED APPROACH TO REGULATION	40
		4.4.1 Notification	40
		4.4.2 Screening assessment	40
		4.4.3 Unconditional exemption	
		4.4.4 Conditional exemption (registration)	
		4.4.5 Licensing	
		4.4.6 NORM management plan	43
	4.5	DOSE AND IMPACT ASSESSMENT	44
		4.5.1 The iterative improvement approach to dose and impact	
		assessment	
	4.0	4.5.2 Monitoring Programs	
	4.0	MANAGEMENT OF NORM WASTES AND RESIDUES	
		4.6.1 Wastes 4.6.2 Residues	
		4.6.3 Products	
	17	TRANSPORT	
		SITE REMEDIATION AND CLOSE-OUT REQUIREMENTS	
	4.9	ASSESSING THE IMPACT OF REGULATORY PROPOSALS	
5.	Ope	erational issues – the NORM Management Plan	
	5.1	INTRODUCTION	49
	5.2	IDENTIFICATION OF POTENTIAL SOURCES OF HEALTH IMPACT ON	
		WORKERS, MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND THE ENVIRONMENT	
	5.3	MANAGEMENT OF THE HEALTH IMPACT ON WORKERS, MEMBERS O	F
		THE PUBLIC AND THE ENVIRONMENT	

		5.3.1	Control/mitigation procedures	49	Radiation
			Monitoring programs		Protection
			Dose and safety assessment		Series
			The iterative improvement approach		No. 15
			The use of computer models		
	5.4 l	REMED	ATION AND CLOSE-OUT REQUIREMENTS FOR OPERATIONAL		
		SITES		56	
	5.5 l	NON-RA	DIOLOGICAL ISSUES	56	
6.	Rem	ediati	on of legacy sites	57	
7.	Sum	mary.		58	
Re	feren	ces	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	60	
Bil	bliogr	aphy .		65	Safety Guide Management of Naturally Occurring
					na et
An	nex 1	Mana	agement of NORM in the Oil & Gas Production		
			stry	78	
		A1.1	Introduction	78	l in de
		A1.2	Raw materials		
		A1.3	Processing steps		
		A1.4	Waste streams		
		A1.5	Operational Issues		
		A1.6	Environment Protection		
-		A1.7	NORM issues in downstream processing	89	
An	nex 2		agement of NORM in the Bauxite/Aluminium	01	Y
			stry		
		A2.1	Brief description of industry		
		A2.2	Mineral processing steps	94	
		A2.3	Types of NORM residues resulting from mineral processing	05	
		A2.4	Management strategies for each type of residue		
۸	nov 2		agement of NORM in the Phosphate Industry		R
A 11	IIICA J	A3.1	Brief Description of the Phosphate Industry		ad
		A3.2	Sources of Phosphate Rock		
		A3.3	Phosphate Processing		
		A3.4	The Origin of Phosphate NORM		
		A3.5	Occupational NORM Exposure		l Se
		A3.6	Management of Waste and Residue		Z
		A3.7	Public Health		
AR	PANS	SA Rac	liation Protection Series Publications	109	
Re	gulate	ory Au	thorities	111	
Co	ntribu	utors t	o Drafting and Review	112	Radioactive Material (NORM)
In	dex			113	R

Safety Guide

(This page intentionally left blank)

1. Introduction

1.1 CITATION

This Safety Guide may be cited as the Safety Guide for the Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM) (2008).

1.2 BACKGROUND

Naturally-occurring radioactive material (NORM) is the term used to describe materials containing radionuclides that exist in the natural environment. The radionuclides of interest include long-lived radionuclides such as uranium-238 (²³⁸U), uranium-235 (²³⁵U) and thorium-232 (²³²Th) and their radioactive decay products (such as isotopes of radium, radon, polonium, bismuth and lead), and individual long-lived radionuclides such as potassium-40 (⁴⁰K), rubidium-87 (⁸⁷Rb) and indium-115 (¹¹⁵In). The parent radionuclides have decay times (half-lives) which are comparable with or larger than the age of the earth, so they have always been present in the earth's crust and within the tissues of all living species. Where materials contain radionuclides from the naturally occurring decay chains (²³⁸U, ²³⁵U, ²³²Th), the large number of radionuclides in each chain, and the resulting large range of physical and chemical properties of the individual radionuclides, means that there can be a highly variable degree of secular equilibrium between the individual members of the chains.

The radiological and physical properties and the organs potentially at risk for each of the radionuclides in the ²³⁸U decay chain are summarised in Table 1.

Nuclide	Half-life (Chu	Form	Principal	Organ(s) potentially
nuclide	et al, 1999)	гопп	radiation	at risk
238U	4.468×10 ⁹ a	solid	α	lung, kidney
²³⁴ Th	24.1 d	solid	β	lung, skeleton, liver,
				colon
^{234m} Pa	1.17 min	solid	β	
234U	2.455×10 ⁵ a	solid	α	lung, kidney
²³⁰ Th	7.538×10 ⁴ a	solid	α, γ	lung, skeleton, liver,
				colon
²²⁶ Ra	1.6×10 ³ a	solid	α, γ	lung, bone
²²² Rn	3.82 d	gas	α, γ	lung
²¹⁸ Po	3.10 min	solid	α, γ	liver
²¹⁴ Pb	26.8 min	solid	β, γ	bone
²¹⁴ Bi	19.9 min	solid	β, γ	
²¹⁴ Po	1.643×10 ⁻⁶ s	solid	α, γ	liver
²¹⁰ Pb	22.3 a	solid	β, γ	bone
²¹⁰ Bi	5.013 d	solid	β, γ	
²¹⁰ Po	138.4 d	solid	α, γ	liver
²⁰⁶ Pb	Stable	solid		

Table 1: The important properties of the members of the ²³⁸U decay chain

The organ at risk for a particular radionuclide can depend on a number of factors. The organs quoted in Table 1, Table 2, and Table 3 assume that the nuclide is the only radionuclide present. However, if the nuclide of interest

1

forms inside the body as a result of radioactive decay, its impact can depend on the point where the decay takes place, particularly if the nuclide is shortlived. In some cases, particularly for beta emitting radionuclides such as ^{234m}Pa and the Bi isotopes, the internal dose contribution is negligible compared with the internal dose contributions from other nuclides.

The radiological and physical properties and the organs potentially at risk for each of the radionuclides in the ²³⁵U decay chain are summarised in Table 2. The fractional abundance of ²³⁵U is very much less than that of ²³⁸U, so that in most situations the dose contribution from ²³⁵U and its decay products is much smaller than the contribution from ²³⁸U and its decay products.

Table 2: The important properties of the members of the ²³⁵ U decay chain

Nuclide	Half-life (Chu et al, 1999)	Form	Principal radiation	Organ(s) potentially at risk
235U	7.038×10 ⁸ a	solid	α, β, γ	lung, kidney
²³¹ Th	25.52 h	solid	β, γ	lung, skeleton, liver, colon
²³¹ Pa	3.276 ×10 ⁴ a	solid	α, γ	
²²⁷ Ac	21.77 a	solid	β, γ	lung, liver, bone surface
²²⁷ Th	18.72 d	solid	β, γ	lung, skeleton, liver, colon
²²³ Ra	11.435 d	solid	α, γ	bone
²¹⁹ Rn	3.96 s	gas	α, γ	lung
²¹⁵ Po	1.781×10⁻³ s	solid	α, γ	liver
²¹¹ Pb	36.1 min	solid	β, γ	bone
²¹¹ Bi	2.14 min	solid	β, γ	lung
²¹¹ Po	0.516 s	solid	α, γ	liver
²⁰⁷ Tl	4.77 min	solid	β, γ	
²⁰⁷ Pb	Stable	solid		

The radiological and physical properties and the organs potentially at risk for each of the radionuclides in the ²³²Th decay chain are summarised in Table 3.

 Table 3: The important properties of the members of the ²³²Th decay chain

Nuclide	Half-life (Chu et al, 1999)	Form	Principal radiation	Organ(s) potentially at risk
²³² Th	1.41×10 ¹⁰ a	solid	α, β, γ	lung, skeleton, liver,
				colon
²²⁸ Ra	5.75 a	solid	β	lung, bone
²²⁸ Ac	6.15 h	solid	β, γ	
²²⁸ Th	1.91 a	solid	α	lung, skeleton, liver,
				colon
²²⁴ Ra	3.66 d	solid	α, γ	lung, bone
²²⁰ Rn	55.6 s	gas	α	lung
²¹⁶ Po	0.145 s	solid	α	liver
²¹² Pb	10.6 h	solid	β, γ	bone
²¹² Bi	60.6 min	solid	α, β, γ	
²¹² Po (64%)	2.99×10 ⁻⁷ s	solid	α, β, γ	liver
²⁰⁸ Pb	Stable	solid	β, γ	bone
²⁰⁸ Tl (36%)	3.053 min	solid	β, γ	
²⁰⁸ Pb	Stable	solid		

The physical and chemical properties of the radionuclides can have a strong influence on their environmental behaviour and resulting exposure pathways. For example, the isotopes of lead and polonium are volatile at temperatures commonly encountered in smelters, blast furnaces and power station furnaces. This means that these processes can release lead and polonium isotopes to the atmosphere.

The radiological and physical properties and organs potentially at risk for some single naturally occurring radionuclides are summarised in Table 4.

Nuclide	Half-life	Form	Principal radiation	Organ(s) potentially at risk
⁴⁰ K	1.277×10 ⁹ a	solid	β, γ	all – low risk
⁸⁷ Rb	4.75×10 ¹⁰ a	solid	β	all – low risk
¹¹⁵ In	4.41×10 ¹⁴ a	solid	β, γ	bone marrow

Table 4: The important properties of some single natural radionuclides

The concentration of potassium (and hence 40 K) in the human body is governed by homeostatic processes, and tends to remain approximately constant.

NORM is widely distributed, and gives rise to a natural radiation background that varies by approximately two orders of magnitude over the Earth, and even more if localised mineral deposits are taken into account. This means every living species is exposed to this radiation, and in most situations this exposure is not amenable to control. There appears to be no scientific evidence relating general variations in this natural background to health effects.

The world-wide average activity concentrations of some of the naturally occurring radionuclides in the undisturbed environment are given in Eisenbud (1987). More recent information is given in UNSCEAR reports

Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM)

(UNSCEAR, 2000). For the two most important naturally occurring decay series the average concentrations are given below:

²³⁸U: 0.03-0.05 Bq g⁻¹

²³²Th: 0.04-0.06 Bq g⁻¹

In Australia, the average annual dose received from this natural background radiation by an adult is approximately 1.5 - 2 millisievert (mSv), comprising approximately 0.3 mSv due to terrestrial gamma radiation (from the decay of radionuclides in soils and rocks), and approximately 0.6 - 1.1 mSv due to inhalation of radon (222 Rn) and its radioactive decay products. In addition, natural background includes a contribution of approximately 0.3 mSv due to cosmic radiation (at sea-level), and approximately 0.2 - 0.25 mSv due to beta and gamma radiation from 40 K inside the body. In some parts of the world the annual dose received from natural background radiation exceeds 100 mSv, and in one known case 200 mSv. The local variability in annual background doses can be of the order of 0.5 mSv over distances of a few kilometres.

The widespread occurrence of NORM means that sands, clays, soils and rocks, and many ores and minerals (e.g. coal, oil and gas, bauxite, phosphate rock, ores containing tin, tantalum, niobium, rare earths, and some copper and gold deposits), commodities (e.g. water, building materials, fertiliser), products (e.g. ceramics, glazes, uranium glass), by-products (e.g. phosphogypsum), residues with potential for future use (e.g. fly ash from coal burning, red mud from alumina production and slags from mineral processing), and devices used by humans (e.g. welding rods, gas mantles and electronic components) can contain NORM. Although the concentration of NORM in most natural substances is low, almost any operation in which any material is extracted from the earth and processed can concentrate NORM in product, by-product, residue or waste streams. There is also potential for this to occur in down-stream processing (see Sections 2.8 and 3.4). In some situations, specific radionuclides can become separated from the original radionuclide mixture (e.g. volatilisation of polonium and lead isotopes in mineral smelters or coal-burning power stations, and the separation of radium and uranium during the processing of phosphate ore to produce fertiliser and phosphogypsum).

In general, this Safety Guide deals with those situations where the radionuclides present in materials have little or no commercial value. This means that uranium and thorium ores and concentrates, sealed radium sources, etc., are not covered by this document. Uranium ores are mined specifically for their radionuclide content, and radium sources and similar devices are designed to exploit the radioactive properties of the incorporated radionuclides. Although mineral sands are not mined for their radionuclide content in Australia, the extraction and processing of mineral sands are subject to the *Code of Practice and Safety Guide for Radiation Protection and Radioactive Waste Management in Mining and Mineral Processing* (ARPANSA 2005a), referred to as 'the Mining Code', due to the radionuclide activities involved. Waste rock, process tailings, and products containing elevated concentrations of naturally occurring radionuclides are covered by this NORM Safety Guide.

The generation of products, by-products, residues and wastes containing NORM has the potential to lead to both exposures to workers and members

4

of the public, and to environmental impacts. This means that consideration has to be given to the management and disposal of these materials. Current and historical methods for disposing of NORM wastes and residues on-site include landfill, down-hole disposal, near-surface disposal, land contouring, and disposal into mine tailings dams. Off-site approaches to re-use or disposal include dilution in industrial waste disposal facilities, land farming by ploughing in over a gazetted disposal area, incorporation into concrete for building construction or road base, and incorporation into other building materials such as bricks or plasterboard. In some cases, a lack of awareness of NORM issues in the past has led to the creation of contaminated sites for which no individual or organisation is legally accountable. The remediation of these sites will require careful consideration.

An important issue with NORM is one of awareness. In some industries the management of possible NORM exposures is already being addressed. However, in industries where NORM has not been recognised as a potential issue, occupational and public health matters may not be adequately addressed. Public health issues may also arise from the use of products containing NORM or from the inappropriate disposal of NORM bearing wastes.

Raising the awareness of both industries and the public, while keeping potential risks in context, is an important part of any NORM management strategy.

In most NORM industries the potential for a catastrophic radiological accident does not exist; hence any proposed precautions in NORM industries may need to be based only on control of radiation exposures.

Despite the widespread occurrence of NORM, and notwithstanding the development of guidance material in some countries and by international authorities, there is no systematic international approach to regulating NORM in commodities and products, or for the management of NORM residues and wastes.

Similarly, in Australia, there is no uniform regulatory approach to NORM issues. Each State and Territory and the Commonwealth Government has a regulatory system for radiation protection, including the use of radioactive materials. In each jurisdiction the regulations include exemption limits for the activity and activity concentration of radioactive material to be regulated. While all jurisdictions have regulations that deal with radioactive wastes in general, there is no uniform approach to regulation of NORM wastes and residues, and no national guidance on the management of these materials. ARPANSA's role is to promote uniformity of radiation protection policy and practices across the jurisdictions of the Commonwealth, States and Territories in a manner consistent with international best practice, and to provide advice on radiation protection and related issues.

With these considerations in mind, the Radiation Health and Safety Advisory Council, established under the ARPANS Act 1998, released a discussion paper in 2003 on the management of NORM in Australia. Following public consultation on the discussion paper, Council revised the discussion paper (RHSAC, 2005a) and finalised its advice to the CEO of ARPANSA in September 2005 (RHSAC, 2005b). In responding to this advice, the CEO

Radiation Protection Series No. 15

agreed 'that it was timely to address management of NORM and for Australia to move ahead in a structured way to achieve nationally uniform outcomes' (ARPANSA, 2005b).

Accordingly, ARPANSA is developing national guidance on the management of materials containing NORM, and on a uniform approach to consideration of when regulation might be appropriate.

1.3 PURPOSE

The purpose of this Safety Guide is to assist regulators and industries in which radionuclide concentrations in NORM may be enhanced, in managing NORM and assessing the need for radiation protection measures, including regulation. The approach is based on the framework for management of NORM arising from the *National Directory for Radiation Protection* (ARPANSA, 2004), and the Mining Code. This Safety Guide also gives advice on the type of radiation protection measures that may be required.

1.4 SCOPE

This Safety Guide describes the broad regulatory decision-making framework of exclusion and exemption established by the National Directory for Radiation Protection and the regulatory framework of the Mining Code, giving broad guidance about how relevant decisions should be made to apply these frameworks. A series of Annexes addresses the application of this guidance to specific industries in which NORM may be a potential issue. The Annexes developed for this edition are: the oil & gas industry, the bauxite/aluminium industry and the phosphate industry. Other Annexes will be published in the future.

This Safety Guide deals primarily with NORM in materials associated with mineral extraction and processing (for example ores, bulk wastes, residues and products), where the radionuclide content of the materials does not have any commercial value. In addition, there are some industries such as water treatment and metal recycling, and some products, such as uranium glass, where consideration of NORM issues may arise.

It does not deal with uranium and mineral sands mining and processing as these operations are subject to an existing regulatory framework, which incorporates the ARPANSA Mining Code. It also does not deal with radioactive sources, but does discuss the potential problems associated with the loss and dispersal of a radioactive source containing naturally occurring radionuclides.

While mineral sands extraction and primary processing are not included in this Safety Guide, the products, residues and wastes arising from downstream processing of mineral sands (such as ilmenite and zircon) are included, because although these materials contain radionuclides, they are not specifically produced or generated for their radionuclide content.

This NORM Safety Guide is intended to supplement the Mining Code and Mining Safety Guide, and in particular provide guidance on situations where an assessment of the need for regulation or radiation protection measures is an important consideration.

1.5 STRUCTURE

This Safety Guide is structured as follows:

Section 2 describes industries where radiation protection issues could arise due to the concentration of NORM involved in residues, wastes, by-products or products associated with those industries. Further detail on each of the industries is provided in Annexes. The first edition of this Safety Guide includes Annexes on oil and gas, bauxite and phosphate industries. Annexes for the remaining industries will be considered in future.

Section 3 describes the radiological issues in NORM management and the pathways for exposures to occur within the different stages of the processes of each industry, including mineral extraction, mineral processing, the use of products and by-products containing NORM, the management of residues containing NORM, and the management of wastes containing NORM. Again further detail is provided in the Annexes.

Section 4 describes approaches to regulation of NORM-related industries, both internationally and in Australia. It discusses approaches to exclusion and exemption that might apply to NORM-related industries, a graded approach to regulation and a methodology for assessment of whether regulation is required in NORM-related industries. Monitoring programs and transport issues are also discussed.

Section 5 provides a summary of some of the key operational issues. The important potential exposure pathways are discussed, together with mitigation techniques for minimising doses to workers. Monitoring programs and transport issues are also discussed.

Section 7 contains a discussion of remediation strategies and methodologies for contaminated sites resulting from past operations (legacy sites).

Section 7 provides a summary and discussion of the key elements of NORM management.

The Annexes, in addition to expanding on the information in Sections 2 and 3 above, give information on the activity concentrations of NORM in specific industries and on approaches to NORM management in those industries.

1.6 RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER RADIATION PROTECTION SERIES PUBLICATIONS

Readers of this Safety Guide may find it useful to examine other related publications in the Radiation Protection Series, including:

RPS 1 (ARPANSA, 2002), which presents the overall radiation protection system and occupational and public doses limits;

RPS 2 (ARPANSA, 2008), which describes the requirements for transport of radioactive material including NORM;

Radiation
ProtectionRPS 6 (ARPANSA, 2004), the National Directory for Radiation Protection
(NDRP), which provides an overall framework for uniformity including
specific regulatory elements, and of particular relevance to NORM:No. 15- evention and evaluation provisions and

- exemption and exclusion provisions, and
- provisions covering the disposal of low level radioactive waste by the user (in preparation).

RPS 9 (ARPANSA, 2005a), which describes the requirements for radiation protection and radioactive waste management in mining and mineral processing, and could be used by regulators to apply to some NORM industries.

Safety Guide Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM)

2. Some Industries where Radiation Protection issues may arise in dealing with NORM

This section covers industries which generate products, wastes and residues containing NORM (for example industries involved in the extraction and processing of mineral ores), and industries which use NORM products and residues (for example the building industry).

The material in this section is based on international experience and recommendations (IAEA, 2003a; IAEA, 2006a), and a report (Cooper, 2005) which summarised production of NORM products, residues and wastes in Australia. In particular IAEA Technical Reports Series No. 419 (IAEA, 2003a) contains considerable information on the typical radionuclide concentrations found (world-wide) in many minerals and wastes produced by mineral processing.

2.1 OIL & GAS INDUSTRY

Oil and gas reservoirs consist of beds of permeable sandy sedimentary rock, with the oil and/or gas occurring in the interstitial spaces between the grains of sand. Commonly the oil and gas occurs in a layer which is on top of a layer of interstitial water. During oil and gas production, reservoir pressure drives the oil and gas towards wells drilled into the formation; as the reservoir is depleted of oil and gas, water is produced as well – this is referred to as 'produced formation water'. Water may be injected into the formation from outlying injection wells in order to maintain reservoir pressure.

The formation sands contain uranium in the range of proportions typical of sedimentary rock, and while the uranium remains in place, two of its decay products are able to leave the sand grains and enter the interstitial fluids:

- Radon can emanate from the sand into the oil, water or gas radon is soluble in hydrocarbons and less so in water;
- Depending on the chemistry of the formation water, radium can be dissolved from the sand and be held in solution in the formation water. The solubility of radium increases as the temperature and pressure increases and as the pH decreases. The common presence of H_2S and CO_2 dissolved in the formation water assists with lowering the pH.

Oil and gas production operations carry out varying amounts of processing of the produced fluids, depending on the circumstances of each operation. The separation of the produced formation water from the other liquids is essential; the water is typically returned to the ocean (in the case of an offshore field) or reinjected into the formation (for either an offshore or onshore field). Gases (methane, ethane, propane and butane) are often separated from the liquid hydrocarbons and may undergo further processing to remove contaminants (e.g. H_2S) and to separate the component gases. The fate of the radium and radon brought to the surface with the produced fluids diverge:

- The radium largely follows the water stream; as the pressures and temperatures are reduced, the solubility of radium is reduced and it precipitates out into process equipment. Commonly, these precipitates accompany non-NORM solids that have been produced with the oil and gas.
- The radon follows the gas streams; as it undergoes radioactive decay its decay products, being solids, typically filter or impact out at choke points and other process circumstances that interrupt or disturb the flow, such as bends in piping, piping 'T' pieces, control valves, orifice plates, strainers, pump impellers, etc. These deposits may, depending on the local fluid flow conditions, occur as NORM metals plated out inside items of processing equipment or may occur as finely divided dusts that settle in low flow areas.

Oil and gas processing takes place within enclosed equipment; thus occupational exposure to NORM typically takes place:

- as a result of gamma radiation from deposits inside equipment exposing workers outside the equipment; or
- as a result of disturbing NORM deposits during maintenance work on equipment when taken offline.

There is considerable additional information on NORM in the oil and gas industry in Safety Report Series No. 34 (IAEA, 2003b).

2.1.1 Downstream processing of oil and gas

NORM arising from oil and gas production can also be an issue in downstream processing. Most commonly this occurs during the subsequent processing of ethane (e.g. in petrochemical plants using ethane as a feedstock) and involves radon and its decay products. Radium may also be a minor issue during the refining of crude oil, where the highest boiling point fractions left after distillation processes may contain low activity concentrations of radium.

2.2 BAUXITE/ALUMINIUM INDUSTRY

Bauxite ores can sometimes contain elevated concentrations of uranium and thorium and their decay products. Production of aluminium from bauxite is carried out in two stages. In the first stage, bauxite is refined to produce alumina (anhydrous aluminium oxide), using the Bayer process, which consists of five basic steps:

- (a) bauxite washing and grinding;
- (b) bauxite digestion in caustic soda at high temperature and pressure;
- (c) separation and washing of solid residues;
- (d) precipitation of hydrated alumina;
- (e) calcining at about 1000°C to remove water and produce anhydrous alumina.

In the second stage, aluminium metal is produced by electrolysis of the alumina in a mixture of fluoride salts, contained in carbon cells.

10

Production of alumina, generates a *solid residue stream* comprising a *mud residue* component (also designated *red mud*) and a sand residue component (see Annex 2). The mud residue component preferentially carries the trace radionuclides transferred from the bauxite to the solid residue stream. Typically, 0.3 to 0.5 tonne of mud residue is produced per tonne of bauxite. Some of the radioactivity in the original bauxite may be associated with trace quantities of other minerals, such as ilmenite or monazite. As the radionuclides in the original bauxite ore transfer mainly to the mud residue, there is (approximately) a two-fold to three-fold increase in the radionuclide content of the mud residue compared to the original bauxite ore.

Very large volumes of red mud are generated, generally with elevated (above background) but still relatively low uranium and thorium concentrations.

Liquid residues, which arise from the washing of solid waste and from settling ponds, are recycled as process water.

Alumina smelting does not produce substantial quantities of solid waste.

Disposal of mud residue and sand residue commonly takes place by spreading in layers over a large area to allow the material to dry, followed by remediation of the land, which involves mixing the waste with sand and revegetating the surface. Mud residue has also been used as a soil conditioner (Summers et al, 1993; Cooper et al, 1995) because of its ability to enhance the water retention of very dry, sandy soils.

2.3 PHOSPHATE INDUSTRY

Natural phosphates contain a wide range of radionuclide concentrations. Most phosphates contain elevated levels of uranium and radium, but some phosphates can contain elevated levels of thorium. When phosphate ore is processed the uranium isotopes tend to remain with the fertiliser (product), while the radium isotopes tend to remain with the by-product phosphogypsum.

Very large volumes of phosphogypsum can be generated, generally containing low concentrations of radium up to approximately 10-15 times natural background levels.

Phosphogypsum has the same chemical properties as natural gypsum.

Phosphate ore can be combined with sulphuric or phosphoric acid to produce different kinds of fertilisers (characterised by the phosphorus content of the fertiliser) for agricultural use. Normal superphosphate is produced by adding sulphuric acid to phosphate rock to form soluble monocalcium phosphate and phosphoric acid. Phosphoric acid is used in the manufacture of higher grades of superphosphate and ammonium phosphates, and is also used as a raw material for phosphate chemicals used extensively in detergents, deflocculants, animal feeds and for corrosion treatment of metal.

Phosphoric acid itself is produced by treating rock phosphate with excess sulphuric acid. Unless the acid is to be used for fertiliser production, purification of the phosphoric acid is carried out by solvent extraction.

Beneficiation of phosphate ore prior to use for fertiliser production can produce clay and sand tailings that would normally be used as backfill material at the mine site.

The major solid waste resulting from fertiliser and phosphoric acid production is calcium sulphate (phosphogypsum). Approximately 4-5 tonnes of phosphogypsum are produced per tonne of acid, so that very large volumes of phosphogypsum are produced in Australia. In addition, small quantities of scales are deposited in process pipes, filtration tanks and filter parts. Phosphogypsum is stockpiled on site or used as landfill along with the scale and filter materials. Phosphogypsum is also used as fertiliser and soil conditioner, building materials (e.g. plasterboard), cement aggregate, and in road construction.

When phosphate rock is treated with sulphuric acid to produce phosphoric acid, the uranium and thorium series radionuclides become partitioned in the product or residue. Most of the ²²⁶Ra is left in the phosphogypsum, while most of the ²³²Th and ²³⁸U remain in the fertiliser at approximately 150% of their concentrations in the original phosphate rock. Typical radionuclide activity concentrations in the residue/waste streams range from 5-15 times natural background levels in the phosphogypsum, with the ²³⁸U activity concentrations of ²²⁶Ra and subsequent decay products. The ²³²Th activity concentrations in phosphogypsum are typically less than 0.01 Bq.g⁻¹. Radionuclide concentrations in scale are highly variable, ranging from near zero to 100 times the natural background level.

Radionuclide concentrations in fertiliser products are highly variable, and depend on the radionuclide content of the original ore and the method of production. Fertilisers are generally deficient in ²²⁶Ra relative to ²³⁸U. At normal rates of application of fertiliser products in the agricultural industry there is not a significant increase in the overall uranium and thorium levels in soil and consequently individual doses from their use are not enhanced above normal background.

2.4 METAL EXTRACTION AND PROCESSING

2.4.1 Copper

Copper metal is widely used in electrical installations and the electronics industry. In Australia the major proportion of copper comes from sulphide deposits (e.g. Olympic Dam and Mt Isa). These deposits are typically copper iron sulphides and may contain, or be associated with, other metals, including gold, silver (both in most deposits), lead, zinc (both for example at Mt Isa) and sometimes uranium (as at Olympic Dam). The sulphides must generally be concentrated before being passed to the smelting stage for subsequent metal recovery by pyrometallurgical and electrometallurgical processing.

Some near surface oxidised deposits contain copper that is recovered by leaching, solvent extraction and electrowinning. For this type of deposit, other metals are generally not present in economic quantities and are not recovered by this technique. After extraction and milling of the sulphide ores, the copper minerals are separated by flotation to produce a concentrate with a copper content of approximately 30%, depending on the mineralogy and the efficiency of the flotation process. As noted above, uranium (and to a lesser extent, thorium series) radionuclides may be present in significant quantities in the original copper mineralisation. While most of these radionuclides remain in the flotation tailings, some will be transferred to the copper concentrate.

The concentrate is smelted to remove some of the volatile impurities to a fume, and some of the iron and other impurities to a slag. The copper-iron-sulphur matte produced by smelting is further processed to an impure blister copper, and can be further smelted again to produce anodes which are used to electro-refine the copper to high purity for industrial use. Partitioning of ²³⁸U series radionuclides in the copper concentrate occurs during this smelting process.

Typically ²³⁸U, ²²⁶Ra (and some ²¹⁰Pb) in the copper concentrate is transferred to the slag with little passing through to the blister copper. ²¹⁰Pb and ²¹⁰Po are vaporised at the smelting stage and may accumulate in dusts collected from off-gases although significant quantities can remain in the blister and final anode copper.

The waste 'slimes' resulting from electro-refining the copper anodes, may contain remaining uranium series radionuclides (particularly ²¹⁰Pb and ²¹⁰Po). This slime is further processed for separate recovery of high purity metals (e.g. gold and silver) and ²¹⁰Pb and ²¹⁰Po are vaporised and will accumulate in off-gas.

Unless uranium series radionuclides are separated during processing, they will remain in the tailings from the flotation stage or will be present in the copper concentrate and partition to the slag, dusts and other products of copper smelting.

In the case of the Olympic Dam mine both the copper concentrate and the flotation tailings are leached to dissolve uranium which is subsequently recovered by a solvent extraction technique.

The main waste materials arising from the copper separation and refining processes are tailings from the flotation stage and furnace slags from the smelting stage.

2.4.2 Tin/Tantalum

Tantalum mineralisation is sometimes associated with tin-bearing minerals. Tantalum is used in the electronics industry as a major constituent of capacitors. Processing of the minerals takes place at plants at the respective mine sites.

Tantalum can be present in pegmatite ore in several possible mineral forms (as complexes with iron, manganese, calcium or antimony). The average grade of tantalum varies with the location of the ore body but ranges from 0.04 to 0.1%. The tantalum ore bodies also contain low grade (< 0.1%) tin mineralisation, either complexed with the tantalum mineral, or as the tin-

Radiation Protection Series No. 15

bearing mineral, cassiterite. Other major constituents of the ore include sulphide minerals and traces of ilmenite and zircon may also be present.

The primary ore goes through a crushing stage, followed by a series of dry and wet gravity, dry screening and magnetic stages, to produce high-grade tin and tantalum concentrates. Tantalum is normally supplied as high grade concentrates or glass. In some cases flotation and leaching are necessary to remove sulphides and trace quantities of uranium and thorium impurities in the concentrates. Smelting of the concentrates may be required to produce tin metal and tantalum glass.

The dry and wet separation stages produce a tailings slurry; this undergoes further treatment and is disposed of in a tailings dam close to the mine sites. Sulphide flotation and acid leaching of the tantalum concentrates produces further solid and liquid effluents that are also disposed of as tailings.

Activities of uranium and thorium in the primary tantalum/tin ore are less than 0.06 Bq g^{-1} and 0.005 Bq g^{-1} , respectively. However, the levels of uranium and thorium in the tantalum products range from 7.5 Bq g^{-1} to 75 Bq g^{-1} .

2.5 COAL EXTRACTION AND ELECTRICITY GENERATION

Approximately 85% of Australia's electricity requirements is generated by coal-fired power plants, with the balance generated by oil and gas plants, or hydroelectricity. Over 100 million tonnes of coal is consumed annually in Australia to produce electricity. Extraction of coal is done by excavation, either in open pits or in underground mines. Approximately 50% of coal used in Australia for power generation comprises bituminous and sub-bituminous coals (also known as hard or black coal). The remainder is lignite, or brown coal.

In a typical coal-fired power plant, coal is pulverised, mixed with hot air, and burnt in a boiler to produce steam. The steam is used to drive a turbine, which in turn drives an electrical generator. The combustion of the coal produces a mixture of heavy, refractory material (bottom ash, slag), and a mixture of hot gases and fine particulate residues (fly ash) which is passed to a gas handling system to separate the fly ash before discharge of the cleaned gas to the stack. Flue gases are scrubbed to remove other volatile contaminants prior to discharge to the atmosphere. The bottom ash and slag settles at the bottom of the boiler.

A typical coal contains 5 to 30% inert mineral material that remains as ash after burning; the ash content of lignite and brown coal is lower than that of black coal.

Most of the solid waste from a typical coal fired power station is fly ash, Current management practice for the disposal of fly ash is to slurry the ash, transfer it to a settling pond, and then dispose of the ash in a landfill, usually at the site of the power station. Bottom and fly ash are also used as cementextender in concrete, for road making and other applications, such as mine site remediation.

Coal contains trace amounts of ⁴⁰K and ²³⁸U, ²³⁵U and ²³²Th series radionuclides. These radionuclides are associated with elements in the coal

itself, such as sulphides, or occur within the minerals making up the coal Radiation formation. Radionuclide concentrations in coal are generally lower than the average radionuclide concentrations in soils and depend on the type of coal and the location of the mine (Cooper, 2005). Most of the radionuclides in the original coal tend to remain with the ash (with an enhancement factor of approximately 3-20), and the various radionuclides are partitioned between the different forms of ash. The more volatile radionuclides, such as ²¹⁰Po and ²¹⁰Pb, tend to accumulate in the fly ash and in the stack emissions, whereas the more refractory elements, such as uranium and thorium, accumulate in the bottom ash and slag (Cooper, 2005).

2.6 **IRON AND STEEL PRODUCTION**

Iron ore, which consists primarily of iron oxides, is the main source of pig iron for the iron and steel industry. Blast furnaces use iron ore to produce molten iron that can be cast into pig iron products for use as feedstock in steel production.

The raw materials for steel production are iron ore, coal and limestone. The first stage of steel production is to combine iron ore, coal or coke, and limestone into an iron rich porous clinker, called sinter. In the second stage the sinter is added to a blast furnace, together with additional iron ore and coke. Smelting reduces the iron ore and sinter, and molten iron forms in the bottom of the furnace. The limestone combines with the silica and alumina impurities in the iron ore to form a liquid slag, which is separated from the molten iron. In the third stage of the process the molten iron is added to an oxygen furnace, where it is converted into steel.

Production of sinter generates waste dust in the off-gases. Most of this dust is removed from the gas stream by dry electrostatic precipitators. In the blast furnace the main wastes are the blast furnace slags and the dusts and fumes collected from the off gas cleaning in the blast furnace operation. The slag is stored on site, or used as road base or in cement or concrete applications.

Iron ores scavenge radionuclides and heavy metals, because of their similar geochemical properties. There are also trace levels of uranium in the other raw materials for iron-making, namely coke, and limestone. The main accumulation of radioactivity in the sinter plant is due to ²¹⁰Pb and ²¹⁰Po in the dust collected from the gas cleaning systems. The concentrations of ²¹⁰Pb and ²¹⁰Po become further enhanced because of recycling of the dust through the sinter plant in order to reduce dust emissions. Blast furnace slag will contain low levels of long-lived radionuclides from the uranium and thorium series. The ²¹⁰Pb and ²¹⁰Po levels in dust collected from the blast furnace offgases are generally lower than those from the sinter plant.

2.7**MINERAL SANDS AND RARE EARTHS**

Mineral sands constitute ores with heavy minerals having densities in excess of 3 g cm⁻³. The heavy minerals of major commercial importance are the titanium bearing minerals (ilmenite, leucoxene and rutile), the zirconium bearing mineral zircon, and rare earth bearing minerals (monazite and xenotime).

While this Safety Guide does not address extraction of mineral sands, an understanding of the extraction processes is helpful in considering the issues associated with downstream processing. Extraction of mineral sand ores is carried out by dry operation or dredging of the slurried ore. Separation of the various heavy minerals takes place in two main stages. The primary step is the production of a heavy mineral concentrate using a wet gravity separation process. The concentrate constitutes between 5 and 10% of the original ore. Individual minerals are then separated in a dry process that utilises a sequence of electrostatic and magnetic steps to produce the various mineral products.

The heavy minerals extracted from mineral sands have a wide range of applications. Ilmenite and rutile are used to produce titanium dioxide pigments for the paint, paper and plastics industry, and for the production of titanium metal. The major uses of zircon, zirconia and zirconium products are in the ceramics industry, as refractory materials in the steel industry, in the foundry industry and for abrasive materials. Rare earths extracted from monazite are used for phosphors in the electronics industry, production of magnets, as catalysts, and in metallurgical applications (Cooper, 2005).

Ilmenite, which comprises the main mineral constituent, may also be upgraded to synthetic rutile as part of the production. This is done by chemically treating the ilmenite to remove iron oxides and produce a high percentage titanium oxide feed material for subsequent production of titanium pigment.

Apart from the mining overburden, primary processing of the ore at the mine site produces waste materials in the form of oversize material, sand tailings and clay fines. These materials are returned to the mined out pit for disposal, after drying if necessary. Where dredging is used for mining, waste slurries are discharged into the dredging pond for disposal.

Waste material from the mineral sand processing plant arises from the secondary separation of the heavy minerals from the concentrate produced during the primary separation of the ore and from the plant in which synthetic rutile is produced. The secondary separation waste consists of oversize solids, tailings, clay fines, dust and other particulates collected from stack discharges.

Apart from those heavy minerals that contain uranium and/or thorium within the mineral structure, the radioactivity levels in waste material depend mainly on the monazite content of the original ore, which can vary considerably from one ore body to another. Monazite is a phosphate mineral consisting of rare earth elements and thorium (about 6%) and uranium (< 1%).

Currently (in Australia), monazite concentrate is not usually marketed but is returned to the mine site for blending with mine sand tailings and disposed of into the mine pit. Synthetic rutile plants produce either solid or slurried waste in various forms, including:

- inert solids, iron oxides;
- slurries and oversize solids from the product drying kilns;

- neutralised acid effluent solids; and
- non-magnetic fines.

This waste material (collected either as dry solids, or slurries that have to be dried prior to disposal) is usually disposed of in dedicated landfill sites. Some material may be recycled or used as road base (e.g. kiln discharge oversize), and (in the case of the neutralised acid effluent solids) as fertiliser in the agriculture industry.

Typical activity concentrations for uranium and thorium in products and waste arising from mineral sand mining and processing (WACME, 2000; Hewson & Upton, 1996) are summarised in Cooper (2005). There is considerable variability between the different materials resulting from processing, and between the ores from different locations.

2.8 DOWNSTREAM PROCESSING OF MINERAL SANDS

2.8.1 Titanium dioxide pigment production

Rutile and synthetic rutile (from ilmenite) are processed to produce titanium dioxide pigments for use in the manufacture of paint, plastics, paper, ink, ceramics and many other products. Titanium oxide is extracted from rutile and synthetic rutile using either a chloride process or by sulphuric acid extraction.

Waste solids and slurries, including waste ore, arise from the chlorination and condensation stages of the process. The solids are neutralised, washed and separated from the liquids. The solid waste is slurried for transport and dried in ponds before final disposal as landfill. Solids from the effluent treatment are also disposed to landfill.

The original rutile and synthetic rutile minerals contain trace quantities of uranium and thorium and their radioactive decay products. These radionuclides tend to follow the solid waste stream during processing. Titanium oxide pigments do not have detectable levels of radioactivity. Typical radionuclide concentrations in the solid waste are given in Table 5.

Table 5: Typical quantities and radionuclide concentrations in titanium dioxide pigment production (WACME, 2000)

Material	Typical quantity ^a (kt a ⁻¹)	Thorium-232 ^b (Bq g ⁻¹)	Uranium-238 ^b (Bq g ⁻¹)		
Titanium dioxide pigment	95	Not detectable	Not detectable		
Neutralised residue slurry	100	1.20 (wet)	0.35 (wet)		
Solid waste from liquid effluent treatment	100	0.8 – 1.4 (dry)	0.3 – 0.5 (dry)		

Note: a. Quantities relate to a typical processing plant

b. Based on mass concentrations of U and Th, however, radioactive equilibrium of the respective U and Th series may not be maintained throughout processing

Table 5 is based on mass concentrations of U and Th; however, radioactive equilibrium of the respective U and Th series may not be maintained throughout processing.

2.8.2 Zircon and zirconia production

The element zirconium is widely found in silicate form as the mineral zircon and in oxide form in baddeleyite. Zircon is used as raw material in the manufacture of steel refractory materials, in glazes, glasses and ceramics, in the manufacturing of dielectric materials and in special alloys. Zircon is milled to produce zircon flour or powdered zircon, and also refined or fused to produce zirconia, which is the oxide form. Fused zirconia is used in the production of ceramics and glazes.

Zirconium oxide (zirconia) is produced by high temperature fusion of zircon to separate the silica. Zirconium metal manufacture involves a chlorination process to convert the oxide to zirconium chloride, which is then reduced to the metal.

Refractory bricks for steel and glass furnaces are made by fusing zircon sand with alumina and sodium carbonate. Disposal of used refractory bricks made from zircon may be a waste issue.

Dry milling or fusion of zircon produces dusts that are collected by filters in the plant. Accumulation of residues can also occur in off-gas systems and pipework. Relatively small quantities of waste, of the order of several hundred tonnes, are produced annually in a typical zircon processing plant.

Zircon mineral contains trace amounts of uranium and thorium incorporated in the mineral structure. Radioactive equilibrium tends to exist between the radionuclides in the natural decay series. Since zircon is used directly in the manufacture of refractory materials and glazes, the products generally contain similar amounts of radioactivity to those in the original zircon. Higher concentrations may be found in zirconia.

Fusion of zircon leads to accumulation of the more volatile radionuclides (for example ²¹⁰Pb and ²¹⁰Po) in dust and fumes within the plant. Occupational exposure to these radionuclides in airborne dusts in the processing plant can be a radiological issue.

The International Atomic Agency Safety Report Series No. 51 (IAEA, 2007b) gives a comprehensive discussion of the issues relating to radiation protection and NORM residue management in the zircon and zirconia industries.

2.9 SCRAP METAL RECYCLING

Radioactive sources containing naturally occurring radionuclides do not come within the scope of this Safety Guide. However, if one of these sources becomes lost, it could become part of a scrap metal shipment. When the scrap metal is recycled the source could be broken up and the radionuclides could be dispersed throughout the scrap metal, resulting in wide-spread contamination. The management of this contaminated material is covered by this Safety Guide. In addition, NORM residues on scrap metal have been known to set off radiation detection alarms at scrap metal treatment facilities. **Radiation Protection Series**

2.10 WATER TREATMENT

Groundwater is not widely used for major public supply systems in Australia, except in Perth. Some form of treatment for drinking water is undertaken for supplies in all Australian capital cities, except Hobart, as well as regional centres and some small communities.

Impurities (dissolved salts, heavy metals, salinity, and soluble major elements such as calcium and magnesium) are removed from potable water using a variety of processes. These processes, which depend on the nature of the impurities in the water being treated, include aeration to remove iron, sand filtration, ion exchange, reverse osmosis, aeration, flocculation and sedimentation, co-precipitation and lime softening.

In Australia the conventional treatment for surface and ground water supplies is flocculation with alum, followed by removal of the flocculant by sedimentation or filtration (in conjunction with aeration), or sand and mineral filtration. Other treatments include micro-filtration using porous membranes, and reverse osmosis (for some small volume applications).

Residues resulting from water treatment include flocculation sediments, filter sludges, other sand and sludges, spent ion exchange resins and reverse osmosis cartridges. The sediments and sludges are dried and disposed as landfill or by land-spreading.

Radium isotopes are often present in groundwater, particularly in groundwater with relatively high levels of salinity. The concentration of 228 Ra tends to exceed that of 226 Ra, reflecting the higher levels of 232 Th in the earth's crust compared to that of 238 U.

Uranium concentrations in groundwater can also be elevated in areas where there are uranium-bearing formations. The concentrations of uranium in water will vary depending on the local geology.

Treatments such as aeration, flocculation, reverse osmosis, ion exchange or lime softening tend to remove radium and dissolved uranium contaminants quite efficiently. Therefore the radionuclides concentrate in the wastes. Where large volumes of material are used in water treatment this concentration in the waste is unlikely to pose any significant radiological risk. However, for processes (for example reverse osmosis) where the volume of waste can be much smaller than the volume of treated water, the concentration can be significant and disposal of the wastes may require careful management to avoid unnecessary exposures.

Desalination has been discussed as one option for alleviating water shortages in parts of Australia. This can also concentrate radionuclides and other impurities and contaminants in the waste streams. Since most desalination plants are found on the coast, the liquid wastes are usually pumped into the ocean. However, the effect of these wastes on marine flora and fauna is not well understood.

No. 15

Radiation 2.11 THE BUILDING INDUSTRY

Protection Series No. 15

The building industry makes use of residues that may contain NORM in some instances:

- fly ash is used as a concrete extender or in lightweight building blocks;
- bottom ash is sometimes used as a concrete extender.

Phosphogypsum is used in plasterboard in many countries, but is not used for this purpose in Australia, because of the availability of abundant cheap supplies of natural gypsum.

The exhalation of radon from building materials can sometimes pose a potential radiological hazard, particularly in poorly ventilated areas (see Section 3.2.1). External exposure may also be a potential problem in some situations because of the effects of geometry (see Section 3.2.2).

Typical concentrations of radionuclides in various building materials are summarised in IAEA Technical Reports Series No. 419 (IAEA, 2003a).

2.12 UNDERGROUND MINING AND TUNNELLING

Underground operations (mining, processing and tunnelling) can result in higher radiation doses to workers than would result from above-ground operations, due to the potential for increased radon concentrations (inhalation) and the 4π geometry (external exposure). These problems are discussed in more detail in Section 3.4.3 (radon) and Section 3.2.2 (external exposures).

2.13 GEOTHERMAL ENERGY GENERATION

Geothermal energy generation is not currently used in Australia, but is being investigated. Using geothermal energy requires drilling deep holes (boreholes) and inserting pipes for pumping high-temperature fluids from the ground. The rocks that contain these high-temperature fluids may also contain minerals, which tend to form a scale inside the pipes and production equipment. As the rocks are also likely to contain radionuclides, such as radium, the mineral scales, production sludges, and waste water could contain enhanced concentrations of NORM. There is limited information available on the potential radiological issues associated with this industry, but it would seem reasonable to assume that any potential issues will be similar in principle to those encountered in the oil and gas extraction and processing industry (see Section 2.1).

3. Radiological Iss Management

Issues

in

NORM

Radiation Protection Series No. 15

3.1 GENERAL

In the past, most attention has focussed on the uranium and mineral sand mining and processing industries. In uranium mining, in particular, the ore is mined for its radionuclide content. In most industries where NORM is a potential problem, the radionuclides are present in the products and wastes/residues as a contaminant, and the radionuclide concentrations are generally lower than those encountered in the mining and processing of uranium and mineral sands. Therefore the radiological issues involved in NORM management can be quite different from those in uranium and mineral sand mining and processing.

In particular, because many NORM residues are low concentration, high volume materials, there is considerable incentive for producers to utilise these materials where possible. Therefore there is a need for clear guidance on the potential radiological issues involved in the management of NORM, and in particular on assessment of the potential environmental and health impacts of NORM management strategies.

There are several stages in the overall management of materials containing NORM. These will vary for different industries, but include:

- mineral extraction;
- mineral processing;
- the use of products and by-products containing NORM;
- the management of residues containing NORM;
- the management of wastes containing NORM.

Each of these stages involves specific processes that may give rise to radiation exposure, via a range of exposure pathways.

3.2 EXPOSURE PATHWAYS

3.2.1 Internal exposures

Internal exposures can result from the decay of radionuclides within the body. These radionuclides usually enter the body via inhalation, ingestion, and wounds, and by absorption through the skin. The last mechanism is not relevant for the naturally occurring radionuclides discussed in this document. For the naturally occurring radionuclides, the most common modes of entry to the body are via inhalation and ingestion.

Alpha radiation has the greatest effect for internal exposures, because its relatively high energy and low penetrating power means that all the energy of the alpha particle is deposited in a short distance when it passes through tissue.

Doses resulting from internal exposures can therefore depend on the radionuclide concentration(s) in air, food, water or materials being handled, the duration of the exposure, and the rate of intake of material into the body. The dose can also depend on other factors, such as the chemical form of the materials being handled, wind speed, diet, etc.

Inhalation of radon and thoron from materials containing NORM

Radon (²²²Rn) is produced by the radioactive decay of radium-226, which is present in most rocks, soils and minerals. The radiological risk associated with radon is due to the fact that the half-lives of the radon decay products are comparable with the residence time of air in the lungs. In general, radon levels in open air are not high enough to be a cause for concern. However, under unusual atmospheric conditions such as strong temperature inversions, or in poorly ventilated underground work areas, the radon concentration can increase significantly. Breaking up of rock and soil by blasting and earth-moving operations can also enhance the natural release of radon to the atmosphere.

Thoron (²²⁰Rn) is produced by the radioactive decay of radium-224. Thoron has a half-life of 55.6 s. This means that, unless the thoron is produced inside the body or the thoron concentration in the air being breathed is high, thoron dose not normally pose a significant radiological hazard. In those situations where thoron does decay inside the body, since the decay products (with the exception of ²¹²Pb) have half-lives which are short compared with the retention time of air in the respiratory tract they can also pose a radiological hazard.

Inhalation of radon and thoron from building materials

²²⁶Ra and ²²⁴Ra are present in many building materials (bricks, concrete, stone). In poorly ventilated areas, radon levels can become high enough to be a cause for concern. Normal indoor ventilation rates (1-3 air changes per hour) are usually sufficient to keep indoor radon levels below values which would be of concern. Due to its relatively short half-life (55.6 s), thoron is much less likely to be exhaled from the building materials and enter the indoor air.

Inhalation of dust and fume

Dust is usually raised by wind action, blasting, loading or unloading of solid ores, processed minerals or NORM residues, transport of ore with heavy vehicles and as a result of general earth-moving operations. The presence of naturally occurring radionuclides means that some of these radionuclides will be embedded in or attached to dust particles. If the resuspended dust is inhaled the radionuclides can subsequently decay inside the body.

During the cleaning, maintenance and repair of plant and equipment, there is potential for material (such as scales or dust deposited on surfaces) removed by the cleaning process to become resuspended in air. This material could then be inhaled.

Radon and thoron are the only naturally occurring radionuclides that exist in gaseous form at normal temperatures and pressures. However, polonium and

lead are volatile at temperatures typically encountered in smelters and coal burning power stations. This means that immersion in a cloud of material (fume) containing these radionuclides has to be considered as a potential exposure pathway.

Ingestion of material contaminated with NORM

Surface (landfill) or near surface disposal of NORM wastes/residues can result in leaching of radionuclides from the waste/residue by infiltration of surface water following rainfall or irrigation, or by infiltration of groundwater. The leached radionuclides can enter the groundwater; if this groundwater is subsequently used for irrigation or for watering stock, the leached radionuclides can enter the food chain, and may subsequently be ingested by humans. Estimation of doses from this type of potential exposure pathway is an important part of an environmental impact assessment.

Runoff of surface water can also carry off radionuclides from NORM wastes/residues on the ground surface (landfill). These radionuclides can also enter the food chain and be ingested by humans.

If NORM is being handled, material can be deposited on the skin or on clothing. If sensible hygiene procedures are not followed (washing the hands before eating, changing clothes before eating or going home) some of this material can be ingested.

3.2.2 External exposures

External exposures occur when the radiation source is outside the body. Gamma radiation has the greatest effect on external exposures because of its high penetrating power. Doses from external exposure depend on factors such as the duration of the exposure, proximity to the radiation source, the radionuclide concentration, and the presence of shielding material.

Direct exposure from radionuclides in residues or on equipment or plant surfaces

Humans can be exposed to gamma radiation resulting from the decay of radionuclides in bulk materials (ore, residues) or on equipment or plant surfaces.

Direct exposure from radionuclides on the ground surface

Radionuclides can be deposited on the ground surface as a result of deposition from the atmosphere (for example, material deposited on the ground from a coal-fired power station plume), as the result of the use of materials containing NORM being used as soil conditioner or fertiliser, or as a result of irrigation with water contaminated with elevated concentrations of NORM. Humans can be exposed to the gamma radiation resulting from the radioactive decay of these deposited radionuclides.

Direct exposure from radionuclides in landfill

Residues containing NORM are often utilised as landfill. People accessing the landfill can be exposed to direct radiation from the radionuclides contained

Radiation Protection Series No. 15

in the landfill material. The duration of exposures and (therefore) the doses received will depend on the subsequent use of the land (recreation, industrial, housing, agriculture, etc.).

Direct exposure from radionuclides in waste rock piles from mining operations

People accessing a waste rock pile can be exposed to direct radiation from the radionuclides contained in the waste. The doses received will depend on the radionuclide concentration in the waste rock and on the time spent on the waste rock pile.

Direct exposure from material deposited on the skin

Material containing radionuclides which is deposited on the skin (dust or fume) can result in external exposure.

Direct exposure from radionuclides in building materials

The occupants of buildings are surrounded by materials which can contain NORM. This situation is referred to as 4π geometry, as distinct from the ground surface or equipment surfaces (2π geometry), and effectively enhances the dose per unit source material by a factor of two. This is compensated for to some extent by the fact that many buildings are not continuously occupied.

This geometric effect is also important in underground operations (see Section 3.3.2).

3.3 MINERAL EXTRACTION

Methods of mineral extraction include extraction of solids by open pit or underground mining, dredging of slurries, and liquid/gas extraction from wells. Each method has specialised techniques for extracting the mineral(s) of interest, and a range of potential risks that have to be understood and managed. Some of these risks arise from the nature of the mineral(s), some arise from the extraction methods used in the specific extraction operation, and some are associated with the environment in which the operation takes place. Figure 1 gives a generic outline of the operations of mineral extraction and processing. The different processing streams (raw mineral, chemicals, water, product, by-product and residue) and their relationship to the overall process are shown. This generic outline applies to all the different types of extraction and processing operations discussed in the following sections, apart from oil and gas production which is discussed in IAEA Safety Report Series No. 34 (IAEA, 2003b).



Figure 1: basic stages in mineral extraction and processing

3.3.1 Open pit mines

The potential radiological exposures associated with open pit mining operations arise from the presence of naturally occurring radionuclides in the ore, waste rock and overburden. The main risks are:

- external exposure to gamma radiation emitted by the ore, waste rock and overburden being handled;
- internal exposures resulting from inhalation of dust; and
- inhalation of radon and radon decay products.

Radiological hazards can also depend on the type (solid, liquid or gas) of the material(s) being handled. Where solid materials are being handled the potential risks include external exposure, inhalation of resuspended material, and ingestion of contaminated material which becomes attached to the hands or to clothing. Where liquids are being handled, external exposure and ingestion of contaminated material splashed onto clothing and/or the hands are the most important risks. Where gases are being handled, internal exposure via inhalation is the most important risk.

3.3.2 Underground operations and work places

The potential radiological exposures associated with underground mining operations arise from the presence of naturally occurring radionuclides in the ore, waste rock and country rock. The main risks are:

- inhalation of radon and radon decay products;
- external exposure to gamma radiation emitted by the ore, and waste rock being handled and the surrounding country rock; and
- internal exposures resulting from inhalation of dust.

Radiation 3.3.3 Dredging for mineral extraction

Protection Series No. 15

Dredging operations for mineral extraction are conducted by scraping or digging sediment in lakes and rivers, bringing the material to the surface using bucket chains or similar equipment, and loading into vehicles, such as barges, ships, trains or trucks, for transport. In cases where the concentration plant is located close to the dredge, common practice is to pump the slurry directly to the concentration plant. As the materials are wet the potential for exposure due to inhalation is very low. However, as large volumes of material are being handled there is potential for external exposure and ingestion arising from the splashing of material onto clothing or skin.

3.3.4 Liquid/gas extraction from wells

Extraction of liquids or gases from wells can be accompanied by the build up of radioactive scales on the inside of pipes and pumping equipment, the release of radon, the release of contaminated formation water, and the generation of sludges and oily sands containing radionuclides.

3.4 MINERAL AND DOWNSTREAM PROCESSING

Several operations are involved in the processing of ores and downstream processing of minerals. These include physical or chemical separation of minerals from ore and from each other, or a combination of physical and chemical separation. Each of these operations can lead to the generation of wastes and residues. Each process may result in exposures of workers and discharges of mobile material to the environment. Environmental discharges can impact on the health of members of the public and the environment.

There are a number of pathways which can result in exposures to workers and members of the public. These include generation of dust, handling of material containing NORM, exhalation of radon from materials containing NORM, and cleaning of contaminated equipment.

3.4.1 Dust

In some industries, dry separation techniques are used to separate minerals. Materials can also be transported between different sections of a processing plant in dry form. These procedures have the potential to generate high concentrations of airborne dust containing NORM, which can pose an inhalation risk.

Dust generated in the open air can be dispersed off-site, where it can impact on the environment and members of the public.

3.4.2 Material handling

Handling of materials containing NORM can result in the deposition of contaminated material on the skin or on clothing. For solids the main issues are deposition of dust on clothing and exposed skin. Where liquids are being handled, splashing onto clothing and exposed skin can be an issue. Material deposited on clothing can be transferred to the hands by rubbing. Material on the hands can be inhaled or ingested when eating and/or drinking or if the face is rubbed.
3.4.3 Radon

Radon (²²²Rn) is a gas, and therefore the main exposure pathway is inhalation. The half-life of radon (approximately 3.8 days) is much longer than the residence time of air in the respiratory tract. However, the shortlived decay products of radon (²¹⁸Po, ²¹⁴Pb, ²¹⁴Bi, ²¹⁴Po) have half-lives shorter than or comparable with the residence time of air in the respiratory tract. In addition, the radon decay products form as metallic ions and readily attach to any nearby surface. Therefore in most situations the decay products may be the major radiological issue, either from direct inhalation or from inhalation of radon that decays in the respiratory tract with subsequent decay of one or more decay products in the respiratory tract.

3.5 TRANSPORT OF BULK COMMODITIES, RESIDUES AND WASTES

Bulk NORM commodities, residues and wastes can be transported as gases (natural gas, refined gas), liquids (oil), and solids. Therefore requirements for the safe transport of these bulk materials can vary widely.

The transport of radioactive material in Australia is governed by regulations in each jurisdiction that adopt the 'Code of Practice for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material (2008)' (the Transport Code).

The International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) has published a number of documents that are relevant to the transport of radioactive material. These include:

- IAEA Safety Standards Series Safety Guide No. TS-G-1.3 which discusses radiation protection programs for the transport of radioactive material (IAEA, 2007a);
- IAEA Safety Standards Series Safety Guide No. TS-G-1.2 (ST-3) which discusses emergency response to transport accidents (IAEA, 2002a);
- IAEA Safety Standards Series Safety Requirements No. TS-R-1 which contains the 2005 edition of the IAEA Transport Regulations (IAEA, 2005c); and
- IAEA Safety Standards Series Safety Guide No. TS-G-1.1 (ST-2) which contains advisory material on the IAEA Transport Regulations (IAEA, 2002b).

Some of the potential radiological issues arising from the transport of bulk materials are discussed in the following sections.

3.5.1 Dust (loading and unloading)

In the absence of dust control measures, loading and unloading of bulk commodities (for road, rail or sea transport) can generate significant quantities of dust. In some situations this dust could pose an inhalation risk to workers and members of the public.

Radiation 3.5.2 External exposures during transport

Protection Series No. 15

Transport of NORM is unlikely to lead to significant external exposures to members of the public, because of the very short exposure times involved. However, workers such as truck drivers can be exposed for much longer periods. There are two considerations which result in such exposures generally being lower than expected:

- truck drivers are generally enclosed in metal cabs during transport, which provides some shielding from the gamma radiation emanating from the material being transported;
- most of the gamma radiation produced by the radioactive decay of naturally occurring radionuclides is relatively low energy radiation, and a considerable fraction of the radiation released from bulk NORM material is absorbed in the material (self-absorption).

3.5.3 Transport accidents

In the event of an accident in which solid material is spilt from a damaged vehicle or container, the main exposure pathway is likely to be via inhalation of resuspended material (dust).

For transport accidents involving liquids, the main exposure pathways are likely to be external or ingestion from material splashed onto the skin or onto clothing.

For transport accidents involving gases, the main exposure pathways will be via inhalation and external exposure (immersion).

3.6 USE OF PRODUCTS

Products containing NORM are used in a wide variety of situations. These include fertilisers, ceramic pigments and glazes, uranium glass, thoriated welding rods, thorium gas mantles, and Mg-Th alloy in jet engines. In nearly all applications the concentration of radionuclides is low, or the total activity in the material is low (small amount of material used) or the exposure time in any realistic exposure scenario is short. This means that, in many cases, the presence of NORM in these products is of little concern. Some examples are given below.

Ceramic glazes

Although the radionuclide concentrations in ceramic glazes can be quite high (O'Brien et al, 1998), these glazes are usually applied in very thin layers. In homes, ceramic glazes are mostly used in areas (bathrooms, toilets, etc.) where occupancy times are relatively short, and individuals do not spend much time in close proximity to tiled surfaces. Dose estimates indicate that doses to members of the public resulting from the use of ceramic glazes in homes are within acceptable levels. However, these glazes are also used in tiled food stores, ceramic showrooms, older indoor swimming pools, hospitals, meat markets, etc. In these situations the doses received by workers may need to be checked because of the longer occupancy times. Further information is given in the IAEA Safety Report Series No. 51 (IAEA, 2007b).

Thoriated welding rods

Thoriated welding rods are used to conduct heat efficiently to areas where welds are being applied. The major hazard associated with the use of these rods is associated with the grinding necessary to maintain a fine point on the rod. This grinding can result in the suspension of fine particles containing thorium. However, provided good ventilation of work areas is maintained, the rate at which the rods are used is such that the risk of inhalation of thorium is very low.

3.7 MANAGEMENT OF RESIDUES

Processing of NORM materials gives rise to products, wastes and residues. Residues are those materials that have potential for utilisation. The most common ways of dealing with NORM residues are storage in stockpiles and/or tailings dams, utilisation in landfill, roadfill and building materials, and disposal by near-surface burial. The choice of method should be based on the results of an environmental impact assessment. This assessment should consider the nature of the residue, the possible exposure pathways (see the earlier discussion) resulting from each management method, the lifestyle (diet, recreation, etc.) of local residents, and different types of land use.

Strategies for managing NORM residues may be included in a NORM Management Plan (see Section 4.4.6).

3.7.1 Storage/Disposal

Stockpiles

Solid residues are usually stored in stockpiles. The potential exposure pathways associated with a stockpile are inhalation of radon and resuspended dust, direct external exposure, and ingestion of locally grown food which may be contaminated (see earlier).

Tailings dams

Liquid residues, sludges, slurries etc., or small quantities of residues resulting from the final stages of mineral processing are often stored in tailings dams. The important exposure pathways from tailings dams are direct external exposure, ingestion of contaminated water, and ingestion of contaminated food resulting from migration of tailings from the dam via, for example, leaching, leakage, or overflow. A tailings dam may be converted to a disposal site by allowing the liquid to evaporate and covering the tailings with a suitable, clean material such as soil or un-mineralised rock

Near surface burial

Near surface burial is often utilised for disposal of solid residues. This method removes inhalation of resuspended dust as an exposure pathway and reduces doses from direct external exposure, radon inhalation. However, other possible exposure pathways such as leaching to groundwater now have to be considered. In addition, because of the long half-lives of the naturally occurring (parent) radionuclides, the effect of erosion of the cover material over long periods of time has to be taken into consideration.

The large volumes of NORM residues generated in many industries require considerable tracts of land for disposal. This means that another important consideration is the degradation or destruction of habitats of native birds and animals. Consideration also has to be given to the possible habitat degradation or destruction that can occur at the site from which the covering material is obtained (the borrow site).

The cost of the earth moving required for near surface disposal has to be balanced against the reduction in the radiological risk.

3.7.2 Utilisation of NORM residues

In the past, NORM residues have been widely utilised in:

- landfill (phosphogypsum, waste rock, bauxite solid residue, fly ash);
- concrete extender (fly-ash);
- plasterboard (phosphogypsum);
- building materials (phosphogypsum¹, fly ash);
- soil conditioners (phosphogypsum, bauxite mud residue);
- rail ballast (waste rock);
- roadfill (waste rock, fly ash);
- scrap metal recycling (metal slags, bottom ash).

The radiological impacts of many of these uses of NORM residues have been assessed for many different situations, and there is a considerable body of scientific literature available, particularly on the use of NORM residues in landfill, concrete extender, phosphogypsum plasterboard, building materials and roadfill. However, each situation can be subtly different and it is good practice to check each situation before deciding to utilise a NORM residue. If an assessment of the potential radiological impact of these situations is to be carried out, the details of the assessment process should be discussed with the regulator. In the first instance the radiation protection regulator listed in this Safety Guide should be approached. However, other Authorities may also be involved.

3.7.3 Optimisation - use of the ALARA principle

The ALARA principle is defined (ICRP, 2008) as 'the source related process to keep the likelihood of incurring exposures (where these are not certain to be received), the number of people exposed, and the magnitude of individual doses as low as reasonably achievable, taking economic and societal factors into account'. This principle is a statement of the general principle that optimisation should include consideration of all factors, including societal and economic costs. While it can be difficult to implement in some situations, it is an important component of the internationally recommended system of radiation protection, and is particularly relevant to NORM residue management because of the large volumes of material involved and the

Phosphogypsum is used in building materials overseas, but is not used for this purpose in Australia, due to the availability of cheap supplies of natural gypsum.

(generally) low (but not always trivial) levels of radiological risk associated |Radiation with these materials.

In some cases (as mentioned earlier) an operation can result in exposures to members of the public which approach, and may even exceed, the annual public dose limit. In these situations, if the operation can be clearly shown to be optimised (i.e. doses cannot easily be further reduced without significant expense), and if all stakeholders are prepared to accept the elevated level of risk, application of the ALARA principle would suggest that the operation could be allowed to continue, subject to periodic review.

Another example is the situation where the costs associated with near-surface burial (soil removal, hire of earth-moving equipment, habitat degradation of both the burial site and the borrow site) have to be balanced against the radiological risks associated with other methods of disposal.

3.8 **MANAGEMENT OF WASTES**

The modern definition of a waste is a material for which there is no foreseeable use. The general approach is therefore to minimise waste production as much as possible and utilise residues as much as possible. This is particularly applicable to NORM and wastes/residues resulting from processing of NORM, where large volumes of material with relatively low concentrations of radionuclides are frequently involved.

The choice of an appropriate approach to management and disposal of NORM wastes can depend on factors such as radionuclide concentrations in the waste, the physical form of the waste (solid, liquid or gas) and the chemical form of the waste. Environmental impact can be limited by reducing the mobility of the waste. This can be done by solidification of liquids and/or the use of engineered barriers.

3.8.1 Storage

Except in unusual circumstances, storage of NORM wastes/residues should not be considered as a long term management option, because the very long half-lives of ²³⁸U, ²³⁵U and ²³²Th would not lead to significant reduction in exposures over typical storage timeframes. Storage requires the construction of permanent or semi-permanent buildings, with fencing or other means of restricting access, and in some cases (for example in urban areas) may require higher levels of security. An additional disadvantage is that storage is only an interim measure and the cost of ultimately removing the waste and decommissioning the storage facility has to be added to the costs associated with constructing and maintaining the facility.

3.8.2 Near surface burial

The Near Surface Disposal Code (NHRMC, 1993) is applicable to bulk NORM residue disposal. The principles outlined in this code can also be used for small quantities of NORM, particularly in situations with issues of potential transfer of radionuclides into groundwater. As already mentioned, near surface burial reduces the number of potential exposure pathways, but can result in the transfer of radionuclides to groundwater as a result of leaching.

Protection Series **No. 15**

Near surface burial can cause habitat degradation, but in many cases the land may become available for use for recreation, agriculture, residential or industrial purposes. Where necessary the allowable use(s) should be determined on the basis of environmental impact and safety assessments, and if necessary, restrictions should be placed on the use of the land.

3.8.3 Other disposal options

Other disposal options that might be appropriate for NORM wastes are:

- unrestricted disposal to municipal tips or landfill;
- disposal into underground mine cemented backfill;
- injection with some form of encapsulation (such as cement grout) into old oil wells slated for abandonment and plugging;
- disposal into mine waste rock dumps, smelter slag dumps, mine tailings dams or power plant ash ponds.

The last option, however, may only be an interim measure in some cases.

It is clear that the choice of disposal option will depend on the nature of the waste.

3.9 PUBLIC PERCEPTION

Public perception is an issue whenever radioactivity is mentioned. The traditional perception has been 'any exposure to radioactivity is dangerous'. For example, public perception often interprets low levels of exposure as having consequences similar to Chernobyl. Dealing with public perception is an important component of any strategy for management of NORM. It is generally accepted that open communication with and involvement of all stakeholders is an important component of the process of dealing with public concerns (IAEA, 1999a).

Relating the normally low risks associated with NORM exposure to the risks associated with non-radiological public health risks (e.g. from air pollution, travel) may help place NORM exposure in a reasonable context.

Establishing clear and open procedures for optimisation of protection from ionizing radiation in any particular situation is important in dealing with perception issues. The optimisation of protection, including the involvement of stakeholders, is discussed in ICRP Publication 103 (ICRP, 2008).

3.10 SUMMARY

There are many potential exposure scenarios involving NORM, and the dose resulting from a particular exposure scenario can depend on a range of factors. Therefore it is difficult to establish criteria which will apply to all situations. In those cases where the number of potential exposure scenarios is limited (for example, transport of material containing NORM), it is possible to set up simple criteria. However, these criteria may not be applicable in other situations, for example reuse of NORM residues as landfill, where exposures are likely to be of much longer duration.

4.1 INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENTS IN NORM MANAGEMENT

International interest in NORM issues, including environmental research, development of guidance material and exchange of information, has grown steadily over the past decade. For example, regulatory and management approaches for NORM residues were the subject of meetings held in Vienna in 2002 and 2004 by the IAEA (IAEA, 2006c). There has also been a number of international symposia on NORM, the most recent being the NORM V symposium in Seville in 2007.

There is now a significant and increasing set of international guidance publications on different aspects of NORM management. Some of the important principles within this guidance are:

• Graded approach to regulation

International guidance recommends that regulation be based on a graded approach consistent with the optimisation principle. Hence the stringency of the regulation should be '...commensurate with the characteristics of the practice or source and with the magnitude and likelihood of the exposures...' (IAEA, 1996).

• Scope of regulatory control

There is a consensus that the emphasis of regulatory activity should be on optimisation rather than limitation, and that economic, social and political issues need to be taken into account.

• Stakeholder involvement

Both the IAEA (IAEA, 2007a; IAEA, 2006b) and the ICRP (ICRP, 2008) have emphasised that open communication between stakeholders (operator, regulatory authority, public) is an important component of any regulatory system.

• Risk assessment methodologies

Clear methodologies should be established for assessing risk and demonstrating compliance with licence conditions (IAEA, 2006b). These can include the use of computer models, comparison of measured radionuclide concentrations with reference levels, or comparison of risks with the risks resulting from other activities.

4.2 CURRENT REGULATORY FRAMEWORKS IN AUSTRALIA

All States and Territories and the Commonwealth have regulatory systems governing the management of radioactive materials and sources. In addition, there is other legislation that may be applicable in certain circumstances, including mining, environmental and occupational health and safety legislation. An example is the Environment Protection and Biodiversity Radiation
 Protection
 Series
 No. 15
 Conservation Act 1999, which aims to protect the environment, particularly matters of National Environmental Significance (Protected matters). It streamlines national environmental assessment and approvals process, protects Australian biodiversity and integrates management of important natural and cultural places.

In providing an agreed national framework for radiation safety, the National Directory for Radiation Protection (NDRP) defines the scope of regulation and exemption levels that will include the management of exposures arising from operations involving NORM, and provide for the protection of the environment from NORM wastes.

The system for assessment of the need for regulation outlined in this Safety Guide is consistent with government actions intended to ensure that regulation is efficient and effective.

The 'Mining Code' applies to the control of occupational and public radiation exposures, and the management of radioactive waste generated at all stages of mining and mineral processing. A 'Mining Safety Guide' accompanies the Code.

Although the Mining Code was primarily developed to apply to the mining and processing of uranium and thorium concentrates and separation of heavy minerals from mineral sands ore, the Code (Clause 2.3.2) notes that:

'The relevant regulatory authority (see Annex A) may direct that this Code be applied, in whole or part, to other mining and mineral processing operations that have the potential to produce significant occupational radiation exposures, or to generate waste having the potential to cause a significant increase in the radiological exposure of members of the public or the environment and which would therefore require specific management. These operations may include:

- (a) the mining and processing of other minerals that adventitiously contain uranium or thorium or their decay products; and
- *(b)* processes which lead to the production of waste not usually regarded as radioactive, but which contains naturally occurring radionuclides.'

This Safety Guide extends the guidance provided in the Mining Safety Guide to operations involving NORM, to provide sufficient flexibility for the operator and regulator to optimise levels of protection in a risk-based manner that also incorporates the fundamental principles outlined above. It is also intended that this Safety Guide will assist both operators and regulators in considering whether a regulatory approach is necessary, and the type of regulatory approach that may be applied, in any particular case.

Where the Regulator directs that the Mining Code is to be applied to operations involving NORM, the extent of application of the Code should be operation specific and should be subject to negotiation between the regulator and operator.

4.3 Assessing the Need to Regulate NORM

An important consideration for regulatory bodies is whether there is a need to regulate activities involving NORM, and at what activity concentration a regulatory approach is necessary. In addition, for many NORM operations, the practices may be optimised to the point where regulation may not lead to an improvement in radiation protection. Invoking a regulatory approach at low activity concentrations, in cases where there is not likely to be improvement in protection, would result in a wide variety of low risk situations being regulated, thereby diverting regulatory resources from dealing with higher risk activities. There would also be a compliance cost to industry for limited benefit in improved protection.

As NORM may be present in tradable commodities, and residues have potential for future use, cross-border issues may arise. It is therefore important to develop a uniform approach to NORM management issues and consideration of regulation across jurisdictions.

The following discussion is intended to assist regulators by giving guidance on assessment of the need for regulation of NORM, and assist industry by describing the process regulators are likely to follow.

4.3.1 Application of Exclusion and Exemption to NORM

The concepts of exclusion and exemption, optimisation of radiation protection and the use of a graded approach to regulation are important considerations in assessing the need for a regulatory approach to NORM.

Exclusion is generally applied to exposures that are not amenable to control. Undisturbed mineral deposits are generally excluded from regulatory control.

For normal exposure situations, it is usually unnecessary to regulate materials with radionuclides of natural origin below 1 Bq g^{-1} . Under these conditions, it can be anticipated that doses to members of the public are unlikely to exceed about 1 mSv a^{-1} (IAEA, 2004a).

Exposure to a mineral deposit or other natural material may be excluded from the scope of regulatory instruments even if its state has been altered by human activities, when such exposure is deemed to be unamenable to control. However, it is appropriate for the regulatory body to take such exposure into consideration if the individual radionuclide concentration in the material exceeds about 1 Bq g⁻¹. Depending on the outcome of a screening assessment negotiated between the operator and the Authority, the activity concerned may be exempted or be subject to regulatory control.

It is appropriate for the Authority to consider exemptions for practices (generally expected to be dealings involving quantities of naturally occurring radioactive materials) resulting in individual doses up to about 1 mSv per year on the basis of an assessment (to be agreed between the operator and the Authority) that the radiation protection is optimised. Such an exemption may be subject to monitoring and reporting conditions to ensure that the basis for exemption stays in place.

No. 15

Radiation

Protection Series

Application of the exemption criterion of approximately 1 mSv to some situations (such as the use of some building materials containing natural radionuclides), will necessitate consideration by the Authority. It may be necessary in such cases to consider some form of regulatory control over exposures from materials due to radionuclides with activity concentrations below those given in Schedule 4 of the National Directory for Radiation Protection (ARPANSA, 2004).

4.3.2 First stage of assessment - identification of operations involving NORM

Section 2 of this Safety Guide gives a range of industry sectors where NORM management measures may need consideration. A regulatory body would start consideration by identifying which relevant industry sectors are operating in its jurisdiction, or by receiving a notification from an industry that it is dealing with NORM in its operations.

Having identified relevant industry sectors, priority should be given to the types of operation known from experience and current knowledge to be most likely to require regulatory measures. The IAEA has identified those types of operation likely to require regulatory control on the basis of worker doses. Table 6 below has been adapted from Table 3 of Safety Report Series 49 (IAEA, 2006a).

Table 6: Types of operation identified, on the basis of worker dose, as being likely	/ to
require regulatory control	

	Material involved			Worker dose (mSv a ⁻¹)
Type of operation	Description	Radionuclide(s) with highest activity concentration	Typical activity concentration (Bq g ⁻¹)	
Rare earth	Monazite	²³² Th series	40-600	Average 1-8,
extraction from	Thorium	²³² Th	Up to 800	could
monazite	concentrate		1	approach or
	Scale	²²⁸ Ra	1000	exceed dose
	Residue	²²⁸ Ra	20-3000	limit
Production of	Thorium	²³² Th	Up to 800	Typically 6-15
thorium compounds	concentrate Thorium compounds	²³² Th	Up to 2000	
Manufacture of	Thorium	²³² Th	Up to 2000	<1 to a
thorium	compounds		•	significant
containing	Products	²³² Th	Up to 1000	fraction of
products			1	dose limit
Processing of	Ore	²³² Th series	1-8	Could reach a
niobium/tantalum	Pyrochlore	²³² Th	80	significant
ore	concentrate			fraction of
	Residue	²²⁸ Ra	200-500	dose limit
	Slag	²³² Th	20-120	
Some	Ore		Up to 10	<1 to a
underground	Scales from	²²⁶ Ra, ²²⁸ Ra	Up to 200	significant
mines and similar	Ra rich water			fraction of
workplaces				dose limit ^a
Oil and gas	Scales during	²²⁶ Ra	0.1-15000	<1 to a
production	removal from			significant
	pipes/vessels			fraction of
	[dose limit

		Worker dose (mSv a ⁻¹)		
Type of operation	Description	Radionuclide(s) with highest activity concentration	Typical activity concentration (Bq g ⁻¹)	
TiO ₂ pigment production	Scales during removal from pipes/vessels	²²⁸ Ra, ²²⁶ Ra	<1-1600	<1-6
Thermal phosphorus production	Fume and precipitator dust	²¹⁰ Pb	Up to 1000 ^b	0.2-5 (average ~ 1)
Fused zirconia production	Fume and precipitator dust	²¹⁰ Pb, ²¹⁰ Po	Up to 600 ^b	0.25-4.5

^a Measurements in some metal mines indicate an effective dose from gamma radiation and dust of about 0.5 mSv a⁻¹ per unit ²³⁸U activity concentration (in Bq g⁻¹) in the ore. The effective dose from radon is highly variable and difficult to predict, being strongly dependent on ventilation conditions and other factors.

^b These values refer to the activity concentration of the precipitator dust.

IAEA (2006a) notes that '...the list is not exhaustive, but probably captures most of the relevant types of operation. It shows that there are relatively few types of operation that are likely to need formal regulation.'

Having evaluated the relevant operations on the basis of experience and/or a screening assessment, the regulator should consider the need for regulation, using a graded approach '*consistent with the optimisation principle*' (IAEA 2004a). Typically, a graded regulatory approach could include exemption, a requirement for authorisation of the responsible person for the operation, a requirement for a more detailed assessment of the radiation risks (including worker and public doses and environmental impact) and a requirement to develop and implement a NORM management plan.

In addition to worker exposure, public exposure and environmental issues must also be considered in any decision on the need for regulation.

A particular case where additional issues arise is that of underground mining or similar workplaces. In these cases consideration of exposure from radon is required in addition to gamma and dust exposure. Radon concentration will be affected by factors such as orebody activity concentration, ventilation, and inflow water quality and quantity. There are many publications on radon exposure and measurement, including IAEA and ICRP publications (IAEA, 2003d; ICRP, 1994a), so they are not described in detail in this Safety Guide.

4.3.3 Second stage of assessment – consideration of other materials

When the relevant higher priority types of operations above have been assessed, consideration can be given to other materials associated with the industry sectors listed in Section 2 of this Safety Guide. Table 7 below, based on Table 1 of Safety Report Series 49 (IAEA, 2006a), is a useful starting point.

Protection Series No. 15	Category	Material/operation	Radionuclide(s) with highest activity concentration	Typical activity concentration (Bq g ⁻¹)				
	Feedstocks	Monazite sand Metal ores, e.g. Nb/Ta, Cu, Au Zircon sand Phosphate rock TiO ₂ feedstocks Bauxite	 ²³²Th series ²³⁸U and ²³²Th series ²³⁸U series ²³⁸U series ²³⁸U series ²³²Th series 	$\begin{array}{c} 40-600\\ \text{Up to }10\\ 2-4\\ 0.03-3\\ 0.001-2\\ 0.035-1.4\end{array}$				
9 8	Bulk residues	Red mud (alumina production) Phosphogypsum (H ₂ SO ₄ process)	²³⁸ U, ²³² Th ²²⁶ Ra	$0.1 - 3 \\ 0.015 - 3$				
Safety Guide erial (NORM)	Slags	Niobium extraction Tin smelting Copper smelting Thermal phosphorus production	²³² Th ²³² Th ²²⁶ Ra ²³⁸ U	$\begin{array}{r} 20 - 120 \\ 0.07 - 15 \\ 0.4 - 2 \\ 0.3 - 2 \end{array}$				
Safet tterial (Scales, sludges and sediments	Scale (oil and gas production) Scale (phosphoric acid production) Residue (rare earth extraction) Scale (TiO ₂ pigment production)	²²⁶ Ra ²²⁶ Ra ²²⁸ Ra ²²⁸ Ra, ²²⁶ Ra	0.1–15000 0.003–4000 20–3000 <1–1600				
ctive Ma		Scale (rare earth extraction) Sludge (oil and gas production) Residue (niobium extraction) Scale (coal mines with Ra rich inflow water)	²²⁶ Ra, ²²⁸ Th ²²⁶ Ra ²²⁸ Ra ²²⁶ Ra, ²²⁸ Ra	1000 0.05-800 200-500 Up to 200				
Safi Occurring Radioactive Material		Scale (iron smelting) Scale (coal combustion) Sludge (iron smelting) Residue (TiO ₂ pigment production) Sludge (water treatment)	²¹⁰ Pb, ²¹⁰ Po ²¹⁰ Pb ²¹⁰ Pb ²³² Th, ²²⁸ Ra ²²⁶ Ra	Up to 200 >100 12-100 <1-20 0.1-14				
urring	Precipitator dust	Thermal phosphorus production Fused zirconia production Niobium extraction Metal smelting	²¹⁰ Pb ²¹⁰ Po ²¹⁰ Pb, ²¹⁰ Po ²¹⁰ Pb, ²¹⁰ Po	1000 600 100-500 Up to 200				
ly Occ	Intermediate products	Thorium compounds Thorium concentrate Pyrochlore concentrate (niobium	²³² Th ²³² Th	Up to 2000 Up to 800				
atural		extraction) Cerium concentrate (glass manufacture) Fused zirconia	²³² Th ²³² Th ²³⁸ U	80 10 2-8				
tofN	Products	Gas mantles Thoriated glass Thorium containing optical	232Th 232Th	500—1000 200—1000				
anagement of Natural		polishing powders Thoriated welding electrodes Thorium alloys Zirconium containing refractories Phosphate fertilizers	232Th 232Th 232Th 238U 238U 238U	$ \begin{array}{r} 150 \\ 30-150 \\ 46-70 \\ 1-4 \\ 0.4 \\ 2 \end{array} $				
lana		Phosphate fertilisers Technical grade phosphoric acid Phosphogypsum plasterboardª	238U 238U 226Ra	$\begin{array}{r} 0.4 - 2 \\ 0.14 - 2 \\ 0.004 - 0.7 \end{array}$				

Radiation | Table 7: Materials to be assessed for possible regulatory control

> Although this material has an activity concentration of less than 1 Bq g^{-1} , it is included a because it is a building material.

Measurement of the activity concentration levels in these materials may indicate further types of operation where radiation protection measures could be needed. The Regulatory Authority should decide, in accordance with the graded approach to regulation, whether the operations can be exempted, or whether they should be subject to authorisation. A graded approach means

Σ

that, where the regulatory authority has determined that regulatory controls | Radiation are necessary, the regulatory measures should be commensurate with the level of risk associated with the material/operation.

Protection Series No. 15

Table 8 (IAEA, 2006a) proposes that initial consideration should be given to materials where activity concentrations could lead to exceeding 10% of the dose limit. Table 8 (IAEA, 2006a) indicates a range of materials for which this could occur.

Table 8: Relationship	between	dose	and	activity	concentration	for	occupational
exposure to ga	mma radi	ation	and t	o dust			-

Category of material	effective dose p concen	ate of annual per unit activity tration per Bq g ⁻¹)	Individual radionuclide activity concentration ^b above which the expected dose may exceed 10% of the	
	MINIMUM	daga		
Large quantity, e.g. orebody, large stockpile	0.02	0.4	5	
Small quantity, e.g. mineral concentrate, scale, sludge	0.008	0.04	50	
Volatilised: furnace fume and precipitator dust	0.0006	0.003	500ª	

This value refers to the activity concentration in the precipitator dust, with exposure to fume having been accounted for by assuming an equivalent dust loading of 1 mg m-3 at the same activity concentration (i.e. a concentration of 0.5 Bq m⁻³ in fume) and an activity median aerodynamic diameter (AMAD) of 1 µm.

b The activity concentrations mean the highest individual radionuclide activity concentration in the material concerned.

Where the materials have activity concentrations of uranium and thorium series radionuclides not exceeding 1 Bq g⁻¹ they are unlikely to require further consideration unless they are used as building materials (see Section 2.11).

A graded approach to regulation of NORM of this type (including consideration of exemption) is important, as exposures arising from NORM operations are generally moderate with little likelihood of extreme radiological consequences from accidents.

4.3.4 Other work situations

It is possible that the following work situations may also require radiation protection measures:

Processes in industry sectors other than those in Section 2. Here the approach would be to establish, by sampling and measurement, if the activity concentration of uranium or thorium series radionuclides in the materials exceeds 1 Bq g⁻¹, and in particular if the activity concentration levels in Table 8 are exceeded. This can occur in processes that enhance concentration of radionuclides, such as formation of scale in pipes and vessels or the volatilisation and subsequent precipitation of radionuclides in high temperature processes. These are described in Appendix II of Safety Report Series 49 (IAEA, 2006a).

Workplaces, other than underground mines and workplaces with similar characteristics, where the activity concentrations are not elevated, but the radon concentration in air exceeds the action level of 1000 Bq m⁻³ (ARPANSA, 2002). Information that could assist in identifying workplaces with high radon concentration is given in Safety Report Series No. 33 (IAEA, 2003d).

4.4 **GRADED APPROACH TO REGULATION**

The graded approach to regulation, which assumes that regulatory effort should be proportional to radiological risk, should commence with the operator notifying the regulator of the existing or proposed operation, or the regulator notifying the operator that an assessment should be carried out. The regulator may require a screening assessment of the potential impact of the operation to be carried out. The details of the assessment should be agreed between the operator and the regulator.

As a result of this screening assessment, the regulator may grant an unconditional exemption or require that a detailed environmental impact assessment and safety assessment be carried out.

Following this more detailed assessment, the regulator may then grant an exemption (possibly with conditions) or require formal (licensed) ongoing management of radiation impacts.

The following sections describe this approach in more detail.

4.4.1 Notification

Most of the industries that have potential to lead to radiological exposures from NORM have been discussed in the earlier sections of this Safety Guide. In these industries, the operator is responsible for notifying the regulator that the operation involves naturally occurring radioactive materials. Typically, the nature of the process materials is reviewed as part of the initial mining and/or processing application, or environmental assessment for a project. The operator should consult the regulator if there is uncertainty as to whether a particular operation may require regulatory attention.

The process of notification provides a record for the Authority of the intended operation and the decision to either exempt the operation where it is clear that exposures and activity concentrations will not exceed the relevant exemption criteria, or to proceed with a screening assessment.

The Regulatory Authority may, on the basis of previous or international experience with a particular type of operation, contact a new or existing industry, and request a screening assessment.

4.4.2 Screening assessment

Upon receiving a notification, the Authority may require an initial screening risk assessment to be made to estimate:

• the magnitude of worker and member of public doses arising from the operation;

- the level of optimisation of radiation protection;
- the long term impact of any residues on the environment in the case of disposal;
- the impact of residues containing NORM or contaminated materials that may be recycled;
- the impact of manufactured items containing NORM.

Where the contact is initiated by the Authority, a screening assessment may also be required.

The screening assessment should be specific to the particular operation and should be negotiated between the operator and regulator. The assessment may be based on existing information relating to the operation, its processes and waste/residue management methods, or be based on an agreed monitoring program to provide more data.

Procedures for carrying out screening assessments have been described by the National Council on Radiological Protection and Measurements (NCRP) (NCRP, 1996). It is important that a screening assessment should be conservative, to ensure that risks are not underestimated.

Possible outcomes of the screening assessment include unconditional exemption, exemption plus periodic review, regulation (possibly including licensing), and/or development of a NORM management plan. This process is shown schematically in Figure 2.

Where a screening assessment indicates that regulation might be required, the form of regulatory control that could be applied to practices involving NORM in minerals is largely outlined in the Code of Practice for Radiation Protection and Radioactive Waste Management in Mining and Mineral Processing (2005), RPS 9 (ARPANSA, 2005a).

Radiation Protection Series No. 15 Radiation Protection

Series

No. 15



Figure 2: The basic process for management of NORM

4.4.3 Unconditional exemption

Where doses are below the exemption criteria, and any other impacts are considered acceptable, the Authority may exempt the operation from further requirements. This would apply to those cases where it is clear that the potential for significant exposures is negligible (even in situations where there are changes to the process or the materials being handled).

4.4.4 Conditional exemption (registration)

Where the screening assessment confirms that the criteria for unconditional exemption cannot be met, but the doses to the workforce and members of the public are expected to be well below the relevant dose limits, a conditional exemption may be appropriate.

The Authority should maintain a register of operations with ongoing requirements for monitoring and reporting and/or periodic re-assessment being applied as conditions of the exemption.

Periodic monitoring checks should be carried out to verify that the assumptions on which the original assessment was based are still valid. For example, changes in the process or in the nature of the materials being handled could lead to increases in doses to the work force and members of the public, or to increases in the assessed risk to the environment. In these situations the operator may be required to develop an appropriate NORM management plan (see Section 4.4.6), including provisions for re-assessment.

In the event of significant process change, or where external events have impacted on the operation (flooding, fire, land slippage, subsidence) a new assessment may be required. The operator and regulator should review the situation after a mutually agreed period to check whether exemption is still appropriate.

4.4.5 Licensing

Where an exemption is not granted, regulation may require the operator to hold an appropriate licence or registration. These authorisations would typically assign responsibilities and require a radiation management plan to be implemented. The Authority may apply conditions to any registration or licence issued to define the particular requirements for ongoing monitoring and reporting, and, where appropriate, to specify the frequency of reassessment of the status of the operation.

The Mining Code, supported by the Mining Safety Guide, establishes a regulatory framework that could be applied to the management of NORM. The Mining Code includes a system of authorisations and approvals and the development of plans for radiation management and radioactive waste management. For operations within the scope of this Safety Guide, where the screening assessment indicates that there is potential for significant exposures to occur, the Authority may require the operator to submit a NORM management plan (see Section 4.4.6). This plan should include provision for monitoring of radionuclide concentrations, and dose assessment where necessary.

4.4.6 NORM management plan

In the case of NORM, the Authority and operator would negotiate a project specific NORM Management Plan (NMP), that consists of a Radiation Management Plan (RMP) and Radioactive Waste Management Plan (RWMP), and other project specific management arrangements as agreed with the Authority, using the guidance from the Mining Safety Guide as a basis. The NORM management plan should include:

- a description of operation/process including a description of where in the process doses may arise;
- a demonstration of compliance with relevant radiation protection standards (see Mining Code and Safety Guide);
- the relevant elements of a radiation management plan (see Mining Code and Safety Guide);
- the relevant elements of a radioactive waste management plan, where applicable (see Mining Code and Safety Guide);
- an assessment of the current or projected use of a material that is regarded as a residue containing NORM and that currently is, or has the potential to be, recycled;
- an assessment of the potential impact of manufactured items containing NORM;

- appropriate monitoring programs;
- the relevant occupational health and safety issues;
- the relevant environmental protection issues;
- the definition of responsibilities for the operator/employer and employees;
- a process of review of the status of the operation in relation to continuing controls.

4.5 DOSE AND IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Dose and impact assessments can be carried out using simple approaches (for example a spreadsheet analysis which makes use of tables of dose coefficients (IAEA, 1996; ICRP, 1990; ICRP, 1994b; ICRP, 1995; ICRP, 1996a; ICRP, 1996b) or by using detailed computer models. Models are available for internal dosimetry calculations (Jarvis et al, 1996; Birchall et al, 2003; Birchall et al, 2006)) and for environmental impact assessments (Yu et al, 1993, Yu et al, 2007). The use of computer models is discussed in more detail in Section 5. The level of detail required in the assessment will be operation specific, and should be agreed by the operator and Authority.

4.5.1 The iterative improvement approach to dose and impact assessment

The number of possible exposure scenarios involving NORM is very large, and there is considerable variation between sites, operations and industries. This makes it difficult to develop 'standard' exposure scenarios which will cover every contingency. Therefore, the international community is placing strong emphasis on the development of iterative improvement methodologies for dose and impact assessment of complex operations.

This approach is designed to build confidence among all stakeholders. The process includes provision for both simple (preliminary) and detailed dose and impact assessments, and regular reviews of the current situation. The process is discussed in more detail in Section 5.3.3.

4.5.2 Monitoring Programs

Monitoring programs are an important component of any environmental impact assessment or safety assessment (IAEA, 2004b; IAEA, 2005a; IAEA, 2006c). There is considerable variation between sites (geology, geography, etc.), operations (extraction, processing, materials used), and industries. This means that it is difficult to design a monitoring program that will be appropriate in all situations. Therefore the monitoring program should be agreed between the operator and the regulator, and should form part of the NORM Management Plan.

4.6 MANAGEMENT OF NORM WASTES AND RESIDUES

Modern international practices in waste management (IAEA, 2006d) encourage the minimisation of waste. In many NORM industries large volumes of material are involved. The storage and/or disposal of these materials can be costly because of the large areas of land required. Therefore

the use of NORM residues is encouraged where feasible. However, this use | Radiation should be based on a health and environmental impact assessment as agreed by the operator and the Authority as part of a NORM management plan. This assessment should follow the principles discussed earlier, i.e. a simple assessment, followed if necessary by a more detailed assessment, and should include a baseline assessment to ensure that the impact of the storage or disposal operation is assessed correctly.

4.6.1 Wastes

Disposal of NORM waste may require approval of the Authority. Possible disposal options for NORM wastes include:

- tailings dams; •
- dilution and dispersal; •
- burial.

Guidance on the near-surface burial of NORM waste can be obtained from the Near Surface Disposal Code (NHMRC, 1993). It is likely that an assessment of the health and environmental impact of a proposed waste disposal method will be required.

4.6.2 Residues

Potential utilisation of NORM residues should be notified to the Authority, and assessment of possible health and environmental impacts may be necessary. Where an assessment of doses to members of the public from the utilisation of NORM residues is necessary, it should take into account the following:

- the actual or potential exposure scenario; •
- the potential future land use(s) (residential, industrial, agricultural, recreational, other);
- the proposed utilisation;
 - o land fill;
 - land spreading; 0
 - road base, road fill; 0
 - building materials; 0
 - concrete extender:
 - plasterboard.

The assessment should consider potential exposure pathways such as inhalation of dust, inhalation of radon, direct external exposure, and the effects of contamination of surface water, ground water and the food chain, and the possibility of recycling of scrap metal containing NORM. The estimated doses to members of the public would generally need to be below 1 mSv, and radiation protection would also have to be optimised. IAEA Safety Report Series No. 21 (IAEA, 2002c) and ICRP publication 103 (ICRP, 2008) provide useful guidance on optimisation.

Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM) Safety Guide

Protection Series No. 15

These assessments usually require the use of computer models. Guidance on the use of these models and on the default parameter values to be used is given in IAEA Safety Reports Series No. 19 (IAEA, 2001), and IAEA Technical Reports Series No.364 (IAEA, 1994) (currently under revision).

4.6.3 Products

The initial discussion between the operator and the Authority should establish whether there is potential for products containing NORM to cause exposures to members of the public. For the case of a new industry or product the Authority may require an impact assessment and/or monitoring (of dose rates, etc.) to be carried out to establish whether there is cause for concern.

4.7 TRANSPORT

The transport of radioactive material is subject to the regulations of the States, Territories and the Commonwealth. These regulations adopt the current ARPANSA Code of Practice for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material ('the Transport Code') (ARPANSA, 2008), which in turn incorporate the international transport regulations developed by the IAEA (IAEA, 2005c). Activity concentration exemption levels for each radionuclide are listed in the Transport Code. For naturally occurring radionuclides the limit is 1 Bq g⁻¹. In regard to the transport of NORM, the Transport Code also includes a modifying factor that applies to '*natural material and ores* containing naturally occurring radionuclides that are either in their natural state, or have been processed only for purposes other than for the extraction of the radionuclides, and that are not intended to be processed for use of these radionuclides', where the activity concentration of the material does not exceed 10 times the exemption limit (i.e. the modified exemption limit is 10 Bq g⁻¹ for natural materials). This exemption applies to bulk materials or individual items, and is designed so that large quantities of NORM that present a very low radiation hazard do not have to be transported as radioactive material. The exemption is considered to provide an appropriate balance between radiological protection concerns and the practical inconvenience, and associated costs, of regulating large quantities of naturally occurring radioactive material with low activity concentration.

Advice on application of the Transport Code and relevant regulations governing transport of NORM can be obtained from the relevant regulatory authority (see the Regulatory Authorities list following the Annexes in this Safety Guide).

4.8 SITE REMEDIATION AND CLOSE-OUT REQUIREMENTS

The operator and the Regulatory Authority should discuss and establish, as part of the NORM Management Plan, a set of requirements for the release (from control) of an operational site when the operation ceases. In many cases an operator is interested in the 'walk-away' criteria, i.e. the conditions under which the operator would have to carry out no further remediation before abandoning or disposing of the site. The general approach has been summarised by the IAEA (IAEA, 2006c). The possible requirements can include:

46

- consideration of future land use;
- an analysis of any remediation that may be required;
- implementation of an agreed remediation procedure.

The conditions for release of a site from regulatory control should be based on a safety assessment and an environmental impact assessment.

The safety assessment should consider such issues as (for example) the presence of mine shafts, pits, chemicals, rubbish, abandoned equipment and plant.

The environmental impact assessment should produce estimates of the dose contributions from potential exposure pathways such as dust inhalation, radon inhalation, direct external exposure, and the effects of contamination of surface water, ground water and the food chain, taking into consideration different types of future land use, and compare these results with premining/processing conditions. The assessment should also take into consideration the existing variations in natural background levels around the affected area. Typical variations in natural background radiation levels are of the order of 100-300 μ Sv per year (UNSCEAR, 2000).

If the results of the environmental assessment indicate that doses to members of the public are unlikely to exceed this range, and the safety assessment is acceptable, there is no obvious benefit to be obtained from further remediation (i.e. no further optimisation is practicable), and it should be reasonable to release the site from regulatory control. Where the assessment predicts doses up to approximately 1 mSv, and after review of the assessment, the regulator may decide that release of the site from regulatory control is appropriate and consistent with optimisation having been achieved. At still higher doses a more detailed assessment should be carried out before a regulatory decision is made.

4.9 Assessing the Impact of Regulatory Proposals

The Best Practice Regulation Handbook (OBPR, 2007) published by the Australian Government states that 'An efficient regulatory system is essential to a well functioning society and economy and depends on having effective processes and institutions for making and administering regulation in all its forms.' To ensure that regulation is efficient and effective (i.e. effective in addressing an identified problem and efficient in terms of maximising the benefits to the community - taking account of the costs), an enhanced regulatory framework has been introduced to improve the analysis applied to regulatory proposals and hence to improve the quality of regulation.

This implies consideration of the case for acting in response to a perceived policy problem at an early stage, including addressing the fundamental question of whether regulatory action is required, or whether the policy objectives can be achieved by alternative measures which would involve lower costs for business and the community.

The Best Practice Regulation Handbook notes that: 'In 2006, the Government endorsed the following six principles of good regulatory process identified by the Taskforce on Reducing Regulatory Burdens on Business.

- Governments should not act to address 'problems' until a case for action has been clearly established. This should include establishing the nature of the problem and why actions additional to existing measures are needed, recognising that not all 'problems' will justify (additional) government action.
- A range of feasible policy options (including self-regulatory and co-regulatory approaches) need to be identified and their benefits and costs (including compliance costs) assessed within an appropriate framework.
- Only the option that generates the greatest net benefit for the community, taking into account all the impacts, should be adopted.
- Effective guidance should be provided to relevant regulators and regulated parties in order to ensure that the policy intent of the regulation is clear, as well as the expected compliance requirements.
- Mechanisms are needed to ensure that regulation remains relevant and effective over time.
- There needs to be effective consultation with regulated parties at all stages of the regulatory cycle.'

The primary means by which these principles are put into effect is by the preparation of a regulatory impact statement that addresses the costs and benefits of the regulatory proposal and other options for achieving the objective. This should include identifying the affected parties and assessing the costs and benefits to each group. Consultation with stakeholders on regulatory proposals, including the regulatory impact assessment, is also required during their development.

Where proposals, such as Codes and Standards, are national in nature the COAG *Principles and Guidelines for National Standard Setting and Regulatory Action by Ministerial Councils and Standard-setting Bodies* (June 2004) must be followed. The processes for developing the proposals are essentially the same, except that the regulatory impact assessment must address the costs and benefits nationally rather than for a single jurisdiction.

The system for assessment of the need for regulation outlined in this Safety Guide is consistent with government actions intended to ensure that regulation is efficient and effective.

5. Operational issues – the NORM Management Plan

Radiation Protection Series No. 15

5.1 INTRODUCTION

The major radiological issues to be considered in any operation involving materials containing NORM include:

- identification of potential sources of exposure to workers and members of the public
- identification of potential impacts on the environment;
- management of exposures to workers and members of the public; and
- management of environmental impacts (including management of discharges to the environment)

Guidance on general operational issues is given below, and further detail on operational issues for specific industries is given in the Annex for each industry.

5.2 IDENTIFICATION OF POTENTIAL SOURCES OF HEALTH IMPACT ON WORKERS, MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND THE ENVIRONMENT

The potential sources of exposure to workers and members of the public will depend on the type of operation, the materials being handled, the processes being used, and the potential for discharges to the environment. The identification of these potential sources of exposure should be carried out at the planning stage, to identify the areas of increased risk to workers, the public and the environment and, to enable appropriate control/mitigation measures to be included in the operational NMP if required.

5.3 MANAGEMENT OF THE HEALTH IMPACT ON WORKERS, MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND THE ENVIRONMENT

Once the potential sources of exposure have been identified, the general approach to management of the health impact on workers, members of the public and the environment involves three basic steps; mitigation, monitoring and dose assessment. These steps are described in more detail below.

5.3.1 Control/mitigation procedures

Mitigation is the process of controlling/reducing the potential/identified sources of exposure. Appropriate mitigation procedures should be chosen for each situation, as discussed below.

Radon

The half-life of radon is 3.8 days, whereas typical ventilation rates in buildings are 1-3 air changes per hour. Therefore radon concentrations can be maintained at acceptable levels by provision of adequate ventilation.

In underground work areas, radon can build up because of exhalation of radon from the surrounding rock/soil. In this case provision of adequate ventilation is again the most effective method of controlling the radon concentration in the work-space air. In some circumstances, the ingress of groundwater containing dissolved radon can increase radon concentrations underground, and the control of water ingress can assist with controlling the concentration of radon in air.

Process dust

Machinery used for dry separation of minerals should be enclosed with dedicated dust extraction systems to keep dust levels in air breathed by workers to a minimum. Where materials are transported in dry form, spraying with water or the use of hoods should keep dust levels in work areas at acceptable levels.

Spills of process materials

Bunds and sumps should be installed to contain and retrieve spills of NORM process materials within process plants and transfer points. Work procedures should include regular wash down of bunded areas to dedicated sumps for disposal or recycling of contents.

Material on the skin or on clothing

The radiological risk associated with this pathway can be significantly reduced by following good hygiene procedures, such as washing the face and hands before eating, and removing contaminated clothing before leaving the workplace.

Cleaning of contaminated equipment

Contaminated equipment can be cleaned using sprays, abrasives, and wipes. The cleaning agents need to be disposed of with care, as the radionuclide concentrations in the used cleaning materials can pose a potential radiological risk in some situations. Cleaning operations, particularly where abrasives or wipes are used, can result in the re-suspension of contaminated material, which can lead to inhalation issues.

Some maintenance activities may have similar radiological risks to the cleaning of contaminated equipment, but may not be recognised as 'cleaning'. For example, in the oil and gas production industry, the impellers of pumps in LPG service can acquire coatings of ²¹⁰Pb, ²¹⁰Bi and ²¹⁰Po. Such impellers may need to be rebalanced by grinding off some metal, a process which could lead to significant airborne concentrations of those radionuclides.

Stockpiles

The potential exposure pathways associated with a stockpile are inhalation of radon and resuspended dust, direct external exposure, release of seepage surface or ground water, and ingestion of locally grown food which may be contaminated (see earlier). Exposures can always be reduced by restricting access to stockpiles, the use of water sprays and binding agents to minimise dusting, direction of seepage to disposal ponds or secondary containments.

Tailings dams

External exposure to radionuclides in tailings dams can be minimised by restricting access to such areas.

Leakage or leaching of radionuclides into groundwater can be significantly reduced or delayed by the use of engineered barriers. Clay and HDPE liners have been widely utilised for this purpose.

Overflows resulting from high rainfall events can be contained by the provision of secondary containment barriers (bunds).

Near surface burial of NORM waste

The 'Code of practice for the near surface disposal of radioactive waste in Australia 1992' (NHMRC, 1993) (the Near Surface Disposal Code) sets out the site selection criteria to be checked when planning to dispose of radioactive waste by near surface disposal. The code also states that when the ideal site criteria cannot be met, compensating factors should be incorporated in the design and siting of a near-surface disposal facility.

The IAEA has also published documents (IAEA, 1999b; IAEA, 1999c; IAEA 2003c) which provide guidance on the factors to be considered when planning near-surface burial of radioactive wastes/residues.

Transport accidents

In most cases, because of the relatively low radionuclide concentrations in most NORM materials, cleanup of contaminated areas is straightforward.

In the case of a transport accident involving dry material, removal of loose material on surfaces, or suppression of dust by spraying can significantly reduce the potential exposures. Solid materials can be collected by conventional methods such as scraping, sweeping and vacuuming. Where this has the potential to raise large quantities of dust, personal protective equipment (PPE) should be used, and access to contaminated areas by members of the public should be restricted until the hazard has been reduced to an acceptable level.

For spillage of liquids as a result of a transport accident, the spill should be contained and the liquid removed as soon as possible. Public access to contaminated areas should be restricted, particularly in cases where the liquid is likely to pose a chemical hazard. PPE should be used where necessary.

For release of gas(es) following a transport accident, public access to the affected areas should be restricted. Under normal atmospheric conditions, dispersal of airborne contamination is usually rapid, and remaining indoors is an effective way of minimising exposures.

Optimisation of discharges to the environment

Particulates and volatile polonium and lead isotopes can be discharged from stacks at processing plants, coal-fired power stations and smelters. The use of

Radiation Protection Series No. 15

scrubbers on discharge stacks will significantly reduce the discharge of particulates to the environment.

Use of physical barriers (e.g. concrete, HDPE liners or clay) can significantly inhibit leaching of radionuclides into groundwater, and surface water discharges to the environment (NCRP, 2006).

Dispersal of dust can be reduced by using any of the dust mitigation methods discussed earlier.

5.3.2 Monitoring programs

A monitoring program has several basic aims:

- to check the validity of the initial assessment;
- to identify gaps in the initial assessment;
- to check the efficiency of control/mitigation measures that have been put in place (evaluate residual risks);
- to provide data for ongoing risk/dose assessments;
- to provide data for environmental impact assessments;
- to show justification for continued exemption; or
- to demonstrate compliance with licence requirements (see Section 4.5.2).

An effective radiation protection program will include means of assessment of the impact of the operation, in terms of doses to workers and the public and impact on the environment. The general principles for the design of monitoring programs have been summarised in several publications (IAEA, 2004b; IAEA, 2005a). The details of a monitoring program should be discussed with the regulator.

Monitoring programs should be set up to determine the concentrations of radionuclides in the materials being handled, and in the workplace in general. Monitoring of discharges to the environment in air or surface water or groundwater should also be carried out.

Monitoring is also needed to assess differentiation of radionuclides (for example, in the phosphate industry), to ensure radionuclide concentrations in the different process streams remain at levels that are not considered to pose any risk and, to verify the efficiency of control measures.

If monitoring results indicate that the radionuclide concentrations in any of the different processing streams increase to a level requiring further action, the operator should investigate the cause, and where necessary, notify the appropriate regulator and agree with the regulator on an appropriate course of remedial action.

Where there is concern about the doses received, the use of monitoring devices such as personal monitors or dose rate meters to check exposure levels is recommended. If doses or dose rates are found to be unacceptably high, time management methods can be used to reduce doses, or extra shielding can be installed, e.g. in transport vehicles.

Monitoring programs can include measurements of environmental variables | Radiation such as radon concentrations in air, radionuclide concentrations in air, soil, surface water, groundwater, airborne dust, surface dust, locally grown foods, relevant plants and animals, as well as personal and/or area doses.

Periodic monitoring checks should be carried out to verify that the assumptions on which the initial assessment was based are still valid. In the event of significant process change or where external events have impacted on the operation, (flooding, fire, land slippage, subsidence) a new assessment may be required.

It is often difficult to determine the incremental dose to a member of the public resulting from an operation involving materials containing NORM, for several reasons. The first is that the increment is often small. The second is that the natural background can vary considerably across a site, which introduces 'noise' into the measurements. Another possibility is that for many existing operations, no baseline was determined prior to the commencement of operations, and it is difficult to retrospectively determine the baseline once operations have commenced because of the difficulty of deciding what constitutes a representative set of measurements.

This problem can also occur when trying to determine the levels of contamination in food and groundwater.

5.3.3 Dose and safety assessment

Periodic dose assessments should be carried out for licensed operations using the results of the monitoring program. This ongoing assessment and review process should consider doses to both workers and members of the public and should also consider environmental impacts (ICRP, 2008) with the aim of achieving continual improvement in radiation protection.

Several methods of dose assessment can be used, including:

- a comparison of measured radionuclide concentrations against reference levels (e.g. background levels);
- a spreadsheet analysis which makes use of tables of dose coefficients (IAEA, 1995; ICRP, 1990; ICRP, 1994b; ICRP, 1995; ICRP, 1996a; ICRP, 1996b): or
- the use of detailed computer models.

Models are available for internal dosimetry calculations (Jarvis et al, 1996; Birchall et al, 2003; Birchall et al, 2006) and for environmental impact assessments (Yu et al, 1993; Yu et al, 2007). The use of computer models is discussed in more detail below.

The aim of safety assessment is to minimise the risk of accidents in the workplace and discharges to the environment. Safety assessment should include a regular review of the process stages, the equipment and procedures, controls and contingency plans that may impact on assessed and potential doses.

Protection Series No. 15

Radiation5.3.4The iterative improvement approachProtection

The basic idea of the iterative improvement approach to NORM management is to start with a relatively simple (preliminary) assessment, since data are likely to be limited at the planning stage or in the early stages of an operation. If this preliminary assessment suggests that the estimated risk is very low, then it may be appropriate for the regulator to exempt the operation from regulatory control.

If the preliminary assessment indicates that the situation warrants more detailed investigation, procedures should be implemented for carrying out this more detailed assessment process. This will usually involve measurement programs to gather data, the use of these data in more detailed impact assessments, and regular reviews of NORM management procedures. These assessments and reviews can also include the effects of technical and socioeconomic developments (ICRP, 2008). The aim of the whole process is to ensure that radiological protection is optimised for the specific situation. Since circumstances can change (e.g. more information becomes available, or technical procedures improve) and adjustments to the management plan need to be made to accommodate these changes, the process is one of continuous iterative improvement.

In order to build confidence and trust it is important that the process is transparent to all stakeholders.

The iterative improvement approach to the management of NORM wastes and residues and other operations involving NORM is illustrated in Figure 3 for the case of a proposed operation (for example, a new mine or mill or waste repository, etc.).

Series

No. 15

54



Figure 3: an iterative improvement approach to risk and impact assessment

5.3.5 The use of computer models

Computer models are very useful for workplace or environmental impact assessment. However there are several points that need to be borne in mind, when using these models or contemplating their use:

- the more complex the model, the more data are required; •
- in many situations a simple calculation may be enough to provide the . required estimate(s);
- many of the computer models currently available are not particularly well • documented:
- the model has to be appropriate for the particular situation; .

•

- many of the available computer models assume idealised geometry (for example for waste disposal) and uniform conditions (for example rainfall) real situations rarely correspond to these ideal cases;
- considerable skill and experience is required to understand the assumptions on which a particular model is based, and the limiting effect of the assumptions on the applicability of the model;
- considerable skill and experience may be needed to interpret the results of model predictions;
- the assumptions used in all modelling work should be clearly stated together with the results of the work to which the assumptions are applicable.

Monitoring programs and risk and impact modelling should be used in conjunction with each other. In some cases default data have to be used in a computer model, because site-specific data are not available. The choice of parameter values can depend on climate, soil type, and other considerations (see, for example, IAEA Technical Reports Series No. 364 (IAEA, 1994)). When default data are used the results of model calculations are limited to prediction, and do not allow any conclusions to be made about the validity of the model or whether the model is appropriate for the specific situation being considered.

Where site-specific data are available (as the result of a monitoring program) these data should always be used in preference to default data. In this situation the site-specific data (for example radionuclide concentrations in airborne dust) can be used to validate the predictions of model being used. If the model is found to be inadequate, a different model can be used or the existing model can be updated to make use of the new information provided by the monitoring program.

5.4 **Remediation and close-out requirements for** operational sites

For existing operational sites, the remediation and close-out criteria should be part of the NMP agreed between the operator and the regulatory authority.

5.5 Non-radiological issues

Non-radiological issues are outside the scope of this document and will not be discussed in detail. However, it should be noted that there are several nonradiological issues that need to be considered in any assessment of risk or health impact associated with operations where materials containing NORM are present. These include the use of blasting (extraction of ore), chemicals (processing), heavy earth-moving and transport equipment, and the presence of heavy metals.

6. Remediation of legacy sites

Remediation may also be required at sites (legacy sites) that have been contaminated as a result of past operations that were conducted prior to the introduction of regulatory requirements or under a different regulatory regime. In many of these situations there is little or no documentation available to describe the operations that were carried out at the site or the levels of contamination that were present when the site was abandoned. In many cases it is difficult to assign responsibility for any remediation work required, because the owner/operator of the site cannot be easily identified. In these situations the responsibility for any remedial work may have to be taken by government.

Remediation consists of several stages (IAEA, 1998), similar to those in an operational NMP. The first stage is a characterisation of the site and the surrounding areas, by monitoring, to determine the nature and level of any contamination present, and to determine whether contamination has migrated into the environment. The second stage is to predict the impact of contaminants on the site itself, on the surrounding environment, on members of the public who use the site, and on members of the public who use the site.

If these impacts are assessed as being acceptable, no further work may be required. However, if further remediation work is required, the third stage is to determine an appropriate strategy. Computer models (using the results of the monitoring carried out when characterising the site) are very useful for evaluating the impact of different remediation strategies.

Once an appropriate remediation strategy/plan has been determined, the remediation work can be carried out. The procedure is similar to the iterative improvement approach described in sections 4.5.1 and 5.3.3. As the work proceeds, monitoring and assessment should be carried out to determine if the plan needs to be modified.

When the remediation work has been completed, the site may be released for use, subject to the approval of the Authority.

Radiation Protection Series No. 15

7.

Summary

This Safety Guide discusses the issues involved in consideration of risks associated with naturally-occurring radioactive material (NORM). It does not discuss uranium mining and processing or mineral sand extraction as they are dealt with in existing regulatory frameworks.

The extraction and processing of mineral ores containing low levels of naturally-occurring radionuclides can lead to the generation of products, byproducts, wastes and residues containing elevated concentrations of these radionuclides. There is also considerable variability in quantities of material and radionuclide concentrations within and between industries. Potential exposures from NORM can occur in a wide range of industries and for a wide range of materials. A short description of known industries where NORM may arise is given in Section 2. The long half-lives of some of the radionuclides means that radionuclide concentrations in NORM tend to decrease only slowly with time. These features mean that management of NORM is a long-term issue, and it is important that operators acknowledge that it is their responsibility to understand and manage the NORM issues relevant for their industry. These issues include radiological protection during extraction, processing, transport, storage and disposal of NORM. Section 3 describes the radiological issues associated with NORM management.

In general, the activity concentrations in NORM are low. This means that in many cases, regulation is unlikely to be necessary. Guidance for both regulators and operators is given on assessing the need for regulation, including consideration of unconditional or conditional exemption, which could be appropriate in many NORM situations. In particular, guidance is given on the need for a graded approach to regulation, which places emphasis on the need for optimisation of protection. The costs and benefits of introducing a regulatory approach need to be considered and compared with those for other options that would achieve the same objective.

Implementation of a NORM Management Plan, including characterisation of materials, monitoring of radionuclide concentrations, and ongoing risk/dose assessment is an important management tool, whether or not regulation is applied. The main features of a NORM Management Plan are described.

Section 5 deals with operational issues, giving guidance on characterisation of materials, identification of potential risks, risk assessment and risk mitigation.

Guidance on remediation of legacy sites (sites contaminated as a result of past operations) is given in Section 6. In particular, guidance is given on the use of computer models as an aid to planning and assessing alternative remediation strategies.

Public perception is important in any issue involving radioactive materials. Involvement of stakeholders is therefore an important consideration when assessing the optimisation of protection when utilising NORM, or disposing of NORM residues and wastes. There is a clear need for communication of the potential risks and benefits associated with proposals of this nature. Relating the normally low risks from NORM exposure to other risk factors understood by the public (e.g. road accidents, heart attacks) may be useful.

Radiation Protection Series No. 15

There is growing interest in utilising NORM residues because of the difficulties associated with long-term storage and/or disposal, as a consequence of the large volumes of material involved. Many of the residues are generated in large quantities, e.g. megatons per year. Potential uses include incorporation in landfill, roadfill and building materials. In considering potential disposal options for NORM, there is a need for careful assessment of radiological risks. Guidance on a framework for such assessments is provided.

This Safety Guide currently incorporates three Annexes giving detailed information on the oil and gas, bauxite/aluminium and phosphate industries. It is anticipated that further Annexes will be developed in future on other industries dealing with NORM.

References

Australian Radiation Protection and Nuclear Safety Agency (2002). Recommendations for Limiting Exposure to Ionizing Radiation (1995) and National Standard for Limiting Occupational Exposure to Ionizing Radiation (republished 2002). Radiation Protection Series No. 1.

- Australian Radiation Protection and Nuclear Safety Agency (2004). National Directory for Radiation Protection Edition 1.0. Radiation Protection Series No. 6.
- Australian Radiation Protection and Nuclear Safety Agency (2005a). Code of Practice and Safety Guide on Radiation Protection and Radioactive Waste Management in Mining and Mineral Processing. Radiation Protection Series No. 9.
- Australian Radiation Protection and Nuclear Safety Agency (2005b). CEO's Response by the CEO of ARPANSA to the Radiation Health and Safety Advisory Council (RH&SAC) Recommendations on NORM. (www.arpansa.gov.au/pubs/norm/ceo_norm.pdf)
- Australian Radiation Protection and Nuclear Safety Agency (2008). Code of Practice for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material (2008). Radiation Protection Series No. 2.
- Birchall, A., Puncher, M., James, A. C., Marsh, J. W., Jarvis, N. S., Peace, M. S., Davis K., King, D. J. (2003). IMBA expert(r): Internal dosimetry made simple. Radiation Protection Dosimetry 105:421-425.
- Birchall, A., Puncher, M., Marsh, J. W., Davis, K., Bailey, M. R., Jarvis, N. S., Peach, A. D., Dorrian, M.-D., James, A. C. (2006). IMBA Professional Plus: a flexible approach to internal dosimetry. Radiation Protection Dosimetry 125: 194-197.
- Chu, S.Y.F., Ekström, L.P., Firestone R.B. (1999). The Lund/LBNL Nuclear Data Search. Version 2.0, February 1999. Web-site (http://nucleardata.nuclear.lu.se/nucleardata/toi/)
- Cooper, M.B., Clarke, P.C., Robertson, W., McPharlin, I.R., Jeffrey, R.C. (1995) An investigation of radionuclide uptake into food crops grown in soils treated with bauxite-mining residues. Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry, Vol. 194, No. 2, 379-387.
- Cooper, M.B. (2005). Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials (NORM) in Australian Industries – Review of Current Inventories and Future Generation. Report prepared for the Radiation Health and Safety Advisory Council, Envirorad Services Pty Ltd, Melbourne.
- Eisenbud, M. (1987) Environmental Radioactivity: from Natural, Industrial and Military Sources. Academic Press, Inc. Third Edition.
- Hewson, G.S., Upton, H. (1996). Operational and Regulatory Aspects of the Management of Radioactive Wastes Arising from Mineral Sands Processing. Radiation Protection in Australia, Vol 14(3), 60-67.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (1994). Handbook of Parameter Values for the Prediction of Radionuclide Transfer in Temperate Environments. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. Technical Reports Series No. 364.

Safety Guide Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM International Atomic Energy Agency (1995). The Principles of Radioactive Waste **Radiation** Management. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA Safety Series No. 111-F.

- International Atomic Energy Agency (1996). International Basic Safety Standards for Protection against Ionizing Radiation and for the Safety of Radiation Sources. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA Safety Series No. 115.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (1998). Characterization of Radioactively Contaminated Sites for Remediation Purposes. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA-TECDOC-1017.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (1999a). Communications on nuclear, radiation, transport and waste safety: a practical handbook. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA-TECDOC 1076.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (1999b). Near Surface Disposal of Radioactive Waste. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA Safety Standards Series: Safety Requirements No. WS-R-1.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (1999c). Safety Assessment for the Near Surface Disposal of Radioactive Waste. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA Safety Standards Series No. WS-G-1.1.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (2001). Generic Models for Use in Assessing the Impact of Discharges of Radioactive Substances to the Environment. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA Safety Reports Series No. 19.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (2002a). Planning and Preparing for Emergency Response to Transport Accidents Involving Radioactive Material. International Atomic Energy Agency Vienna. IAEA Safety Standards Series Safety Guide No. TS-G-1.2 (ST-3).
- International Atomic Energy Agency (2002b). Advisory Material for the IAEA Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material Safety Guide. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA Safety Standards Series Safety Guide No. TS-G-1.1 (ST-2).
- International Atomic Energy Agency (2002c). Optimization of Radiation Protection in the Control of Occupational Exposure. International Atomic Energy Agency Vienna. IAEA Safety Reports Series No. 21.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (2003a). Extent of Environmental Contamination by Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM) and Technological Options for Mitigation. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA Technical Report Series No. 419.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (2003b). Radiation Protection and the Management of Radioactive Waste in the Oil and Gas Industry. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA Safety Reports Series No. 34.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (2003c). Derivation Of Activity Limits for the Disposal of Radioactive Waste in Near Surface Disposal Facilities. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA-TECDOC-1380.

Safety Guide Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM)

Protection Series No. 15

International Atomic Energy Agency (2003d). Radiation Protection Against Radon in Workplaces Other Than Mines. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA Safety Reports Series No. 33.

- International Atomic Energy Agency (2004a). Application of the Concepts of Exclusion, Exemption and Clearance. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA Safety Standards Series: Safety Guide No. RS-G-1.7.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (2004b). Surveillance and Monitoring of Near Surface Disposal Facilities for Radioactive Waste. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA Safety Reports Series: Safety Report Series No. 35.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (2005a). Environmental and Source Monitoring for Purposes of Radiation Protection. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA Safety Standards Series Safety Guide No. RS-G-1.8.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (2005b). Derivation of Activity Concentration Values for Exclusion, Exemption and Clearance. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA Safety Reports Series No. 44.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (2005c). Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material: 2005 Edition. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA Safety Standards Series No. TS-R-1.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (2006a). Assessing the Need for Radiation Protection Measures in Work Involving Minerals and Raw Materials. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA Safety Report Series No. 49.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (2006b). Regulatory and Management Approaches for the Control of Environmental Residues Containing Naturally-Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM). Proceedings of a Technical Meeting held in Vienna, 6-10 December 2004, International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA-TECDOC-1484.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (2006c). Release of Sites from Regulatory Control on Termination of Practices. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA Safety Standards Series No. WS-G-5.1.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (2006d). Fundamental Safety Principles. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA Safety Standards Series No. SF-1.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (2007a). Radiation Protection Programmes for the Transport of Radioactive Material. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA Safety Standards Series No. TS-G-1.3.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (2007b) Radiation Protection and Norm Residue Management in the Zircon and Zirconia Industries. Vienna. IAEA Safety Reports Series No. 51.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (2008). Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM V). International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA Proceedings Series.
- International Commission on Radiological Protection (1990). Age-Dependent Doses of the Public from Intake of Radionuclides: Part 1. ICRP Publication 56: Annals of the ICRP Volume 20(2).
- International Commission on Radiological Protection (1994a). Protection Against Radon-222 at Home and at Work. ICRP Publication 65: Annals of the ICRP Vol. 23(2).
- International Commission on Radiological Protection (1994b). Age-Dependent Doses to Members of the Public from Intake of Radionuclides: Part 2. ICRP Publication 67: Annals of the ICRP Vol. 23(3/4).
- International Commission on Radiological Protection (1995). Age-Dependent Doses to Members of the Public from Intake of Radionuclides: Part 3. ICRP Publication 69: Annals of the ICRP Vol. 25(1).
- International Commission on Radiological Protection (1996a). Age-Dependent Doses to Members of the Public from Intake of Radionuclides: Part 4. ICRP Publication 71: Annals of the ICRP Vol. 25(3-4).
- International Commission on Radiological Protection (1996b). Age-Dependent Doses to Members of the Public from Intake of Radionuclides: Part 5. ICRP Publication 72: Annals of the ICRP Vol. 26(1).
- International Commission on Radiological Protection (2008). The 2007 Recommendations of the International Commission on Radiological Protection. ICRP Publication 103. Annals of the ICRP Vol. 37 (2-4).
- Jarvis, N.S., Birchall, A., James, A.C., Bailey, M.R., Dorrian, M-D. (1996). LUDEP 2.0: Personal computer program for calculating internal doses using the ICRP Publication 66 respiratory tract model. National Radiological Protection Board, Chilton: Technical Report NRPB-SR287.
- National Council on Radiological Protection and Measurements (1996). Screening Models for Releases of Radionuclides to Atmosphere, Surface Water and Ground. National Council on Radiological Protection and Measurements, Bethesda, MD. NCRP Report No. 123 (Vol I).
- National Council on Radiological Protection and Measurements (2006). Performance Assessment of Near-surface Facilities for Disposal of Low-Level Radioactive Waste. National Council on Radiological Protection and Measurements, Bethesda, MD. NCRP Report No. 152.
- National Health and Medical Research Council (19903). Code of practice for the near-surface disposal of radioactive waste in Australia (1992). Radiation Health Series No. 35. Australian Government Publishing Service, Canberra.
- O'Brien, R.S., Aral, H., Peggie, J.R. (1998). Internal and gamma radiation doses from glazed ceramic tiles. Health Physics 75(6):630-639, 1998.
- Office of Best Practice Regulation (2007). Best Practice Regulation Handbook, Canberra.
- Radiation Health and Safety Advisory Council (RHSAC) (2005). Naturally-Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM) in Australia: Issues for Discussion (www.arpansa.gov.au/pubs/norm/rhsac_adv.pdf)
- Standards Australia International (1994). Selection, use and maintenance of respiratory protective devices, AS/NZS 1715:1994.

Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM) Safety Guide

- Summers, K.J., O'Connor, B.H., Fox, D.R. (1993). Radiological Consequences of Amending Soils with Bauxite Residue/Gypsum Mixtures. Aust. J. Soil Res., 31, 533-538.
- United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation (2000). Sources and Effects of Ionizing Radiation, UNSCEAR 2000 Report to the General Assembly, with Scientific Annexes, United Nations, New York.
- Western Australia Chamber of Minerals and Energy. (2000). Best practice in radioactive waste management guidelines in the Western Australian mineral sands industry, January 2000 revision.
- Yu, C., Loureiro, C., Cheng, J.-J., Jones, L.G., Wang, Y.Y., Chia, Y.P., Faillace, E. (1993). Data Collection Handbook To Support Modelling Impacts Of Radioactive Material In Soil. Environmental Assessment and Information Sciences Division, Argonne National Laboratory, Argonne, Illinois, April 1993.
- Yu, C., Gnanapragasam, E., Biwer, B.M., Kamboj, S., Cheng, J.-J., Klett, T., LePoire, D., Zielen, A.J., Cheng, S.Y., Williams, W.A., Wallo, A., Domotor, S., Mo, T., Schwartzman, A. (2007) User's Manual for RESRAD-OFFSITE Version 2. ANL/EVS/TM/07-1, DOE/HS-0005, NUREG/CR-6937. June 2007.

Safety Guide Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM)

Bibliography

- Andel, P., Priban, V. (1996a) Environmental restoration of uranium mines and mills in the Czech Republic. In: IAEA 1996a, 113-136.
- Anderson, M.P., Woessner, W.W. (1992) Applied groundwater modelling: simulation of flow and advective transport. Academic Press Inc.

Ash Development Association of Australia (2004). Public submission.

Australian Petroleum Production and Exploration Association Limited (2002). Guidelines for Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials. Canberra.

Australasian (iron & steel) Slag Association (2004). Public submission.

- Baetslé L.H. (1991) Study of radionuclides contained in wastes produced by the phosphate industry and their impacts of the environment. European Commission, Report EUR 13262.
- Baker, R. (1993) Bauxite mining by Alcoa of Australia Ltd in Western Australia. In Australasian Mining and Metallurgy: The Sir Maurice Mawby Memorial Volume. Eds. J.T. Woodcock and J.K. Hamilton. The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy: Melbourne, Australia. ISBN 0 949106 76 3. Second Edition: Vol. 1; 749-750.
- Barlow, T. (1993) Overview of the Australasian aluminium industry. In Australasian Mining and Metallurgy: The Sir Maurice Mawby Memorial Volume. Eds. J.T. Woodcock and J.K. Hamilton. The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy: Melbourne, Australia. ISBN 0 949106 76 3. Second Edition: Vol. 1; 745-748.
- Baxter, J.L. Heavy mineral sands deposits of Western Australia. Mineral Resources Bulletin 10. Perth, Western Australia: Geological Survey; 1977.
- Baxter, M.S. Technologically enhanced radioactivity: an overview. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity: 32:3-18, 1996.
- Baxter, M. S., MacKenzie, A.B., East, B.W., Scott, E.M. (1996) Natural decay series radionuclides around a large metal refinery. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity: 32, 115-134.
- Beretka, J., Mathew, P.J. (1985). Natural radioactivity of Australian building materials, industrial wastes and by-products. Health Phys. 48:87-95.
- Brown J. et al. (1998). Technetium-99 contamination in the North Sea and in Norwegian coastal areas 1996 and 1997. Strälevern Rapport 1998:3. Norwegian Radiation Protection Authority. Østerås, Norway.
- Burnett, W.C., Schultz, M.K., Hull, C.D. Radionuclide flow during the conversion of phosphogypsum to ammonium sulphate. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity 32:33-52, 1996.
- Canadian NORM Working Group of the Federal Provincial Territorial Radiation Protection Committee. (2000). Canadian Guidelines for the Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials (NORM). Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada. Cat.H46-1/30-2000E, ISBN 0-662-29448-3.

Radiation Protection Series No. 15

- Cancio, D., Gutierrez, J., Ruiz C., Sainz, A. (1994). Radiological considerations related with the restoration of a phosphogypsum disposal site in Spain. In: European Commission. (1994), 645-652.
- Cassels, B., Waite, A. (2001). Regulatory management of NORM Wastes from Petroleum Exploration in the Northern Territory. Radiation Protection in Australia 18(1):16-34.
- Chen, Q, Degrange, J-P., Gerchikov M.Y., Hillis Z.K., Lepicard S, Meijne E.I.M., Smith K.R., van Weers A. (2003). Effluent and Dose Control from European Union NORM Industries - Assessment of Current Situation and Proposal for a Harmonised Community Approach - Volume 1: Main Report. European Commission: Radiation Protection 135.
- Clifford, L. (1993). Overview of the Australasian coal mining industry. In: Australasian Mining and Metallurgy: The Sir Maurice Mawby Memorial Volume. Second Edition (in two volumes). Woodcock, J.T., and Hamilton, J.K. (Editors). The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Monograph Series, Monograph No. 19. Melbourne, Australia.
- Conference of Radiation Control Program Directors, Inc. Regulation and Licensing of Technologically Enhanced Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials (TENORM); Suggested State Regulations for Control of Regulation. Vol. 1, Part N, Conference of Radiation Control Program Directors, Inc., Frankfort, Kentucky, October 1999.
- Cooper, M.B. (2003). Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials (NORM) in Australian Industries - Review of Current Inventories and Future Generation. Report prepared for the Radiation Health and Safety Advisory Council, ERS-006.
- Cooper, M.B., Stanney, K.A., Williams, G.A. An Investigation of the Speciation of Radionuclides in Sediments and Soils. Technical Report ARL/TR039, ISSN 0157-1400, August 1981.
- Cooper, M.B., Statham, J.R., Williams, G.A. Natural Radioactivity in the Production of Titanium Dioxide Pigment: A Study of the Laporte Plant and Environmental Behaviour of Radionuclides at Bunbury, Western Australia. Technical Report ARL/TR037, ISSN 0157-1400, October 1981.
- Cottens, E., Vanmarcke, H., Loos, M., Slegers, W., Govaerts P., Vangelder, E., Declercq, H., Flemal, J.M., Avaux, J.L., Martens, R. (1994). Contamination and possibilities for remediation in the vicinity of the former radium extraction plant in Olen. A case study. In: European Commission (1994)., 263-280.
- Council Directive (1996) 96/29/Euratom of 13 May 1996 laying down the basic standards for the protection of the health workers and the general public against the dangers arising from ionising radiation. Official Journal of the European Commission L159 (29-06-96).
- Daroussin, J.L., Pfiffelmann, J.P. (1996). Milling sites remediation: Elements for a methodology as developed in France by COGEMA. In: IAEA 1996b, 97-112.
- Deworm, J.P., Slegers, W., Gillard, J., Flemal, J.M., Culot J.P. (1988). Survey of the natural radiation of the Belgian territory as determined by different methods. Radiation Protection Dosimetry, 24, 347-351.

Safety Guide Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM) Dixon, D.W. (1984) Hazard Assessment of Work with Ores Containing Elevated Levels of Natural Radioactivity. National Radiological Protection Board, NRPB-R143, Didcot, pp17. **Radiation Protection Series**

- Droppo, J.G. Buck, J.W. (1996) Multimedia Environment Pollutant Assessment Systems (MEPAS): atmospheric pathway formulations. PNNL 11080, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, Washington.
- Drury, N.C. (1994). Remediation and restoration of a radium and thorium contaminated site. In: European Commission (1994)., 671-692.
- Eckerman, K.F., Ryman, J.C. (1993). External exposure to radionuclides in air, water and soil. Federal Guidance Report No. 12. Office of Radiation and Indoor Air, US EPA, Washington DC20460.
- Eisenbud, M. (1987). Environmental Radioactivity: from Natural, Industrial and Military Sources. Academic Press, Inc. Third Edition.
- Energy Supply Association of Australia. (2004). Public submission.
- Esso Australia Pty Ltd. (2004). Public submission.
- Ettenhuber, E. (1996). Environmental restoration plans and activities in Germany. Contribution to Regional Project on Environmental Restoration in Central and Eastern Europe, RER/9/022, Felix, Romania, 4-8 November 1996.
- European Commission (1994). Proceedings of International Symposium on Remediation and Restoration of Radio-active Contaminated Sites in Europe. Antwerp, 11-15 Oct., 1993. European Commission: Environment, Civil Protection and Nuclear Safety, Report XI-5027/94
- Falck, W.E. (2001). Environmental Remediation: Strategies for Cleaning Radioactively Contaminated Sites. IAEA Bulletin 43/2/2001.
- Faw, R.E., Shultis, J.K. Radiological Assessment: Sources and Exposures. PTR Prentice-Hall, Inc. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey 07632; 1993.
- Ferry, C. (1995). GEOS V1.0: Transfer of radionuclides through the geosphere from near-surface radioactive waste disposals. IPSN/DPEI/SERGD/95/14.
- Freeze, R.A., Cherry, J.A. (1979). Groundwater. Prentice-Hall Inc.
- Food Standards Australia New Zealand. (2000). Food Standards Code, Commonwealth Gazette, 24 August 2000, as amended.
- Gouma, J., Bhasin, A. (1993.) Alumina production by Nabalco Pty Limited at Gove, NT. In Australasian Mining and Metallurgy: The Sir Maurice Mawby Memorial Volume. Eds. J.T. Woodcock and J.K. Hamilton. The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy: Melbourne, Australia. ISBN 0 949106 76 3. Second Edition: Vol. 1; 763-766.
- Hartley, B.M., Hewson, G.S. (1990). Contribution of regulatory programs to radiation risk reduction in the mineral sands industry. Proceedings of the International Conference on Occupational Health and Safety in the Minerals Industry, Minesafe International 1990. Perth, Western Australia: Chamber of Mines and Energy; 255-268.

No. 15

Radiation Protection Series No. 15 Harvey, M.P., Hipkin, J., Simmonds, J.R., Mayall, A., Cabianca, T., Fayers, C., Haslam, I. (1994) Radiological consequences of waste arising with enhanced natural radioactivity content from special metal and ceramic processes. European Commission: Environment, Nuclear Safety and Civil Protection, Report EUR 15613.

- Hedvall. R., Erlandsson, B. (1996) Radioactivity concentrations in non-nuclear industries. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity: 32, 19-32.
- Henze, G. and Weiss, D. (1995). Radiological impact on the environment due to mining and milling of uranium bearing hard coal in Central Germany (Freital Region, Saxony). In: Proceedings of an International Symposium on Environmental Impact on Radioactive Releases, IAEA, Vienna, 8-12 May 1995. IAEA-SM-339/45: 493-501.
- Hewson, G.S., Hartley, B.M. Radiation research priorities in the mineral sands industry. Journal of Radiological Protection 3:221-229, 1990.
- Hinde, R.A., Mantarelli, D.M. (1993) Bauxite mining by Worsley Alumina Pty Ltd at Boddington, WA. In Australasian Mining and Metallurgy: The Sir Maurice Mawby Memorial Volume. Eds. J.T. Woodcock and J.K. Hamilton. The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy: Melbourne, Australia. ISBN 0 949106 76 3. Second Edition: Vol. 1; 745-748.
- Hipkin, J., Shaw, P.V. (1999). Working with Ores Containing Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials. 3rd European ALARA Network Workshop, Neuherberg, Germany, 15-18 November 1999.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (1982). Generic models and parameters for assessing the environmental transfer of radionuclides from routine releases: exposures of critical groups. IAEA Basic Safety Series No. 57. International Atomic Energy Agency: Vienna.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (1988). Emergency Response Planning and Preparedness for Transport Accidents Involving Radioactive Material. IAEA Safety Series No. 87. International Atomic Energy Agency: Vienna.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (1989). Evaluating the Reliability of Predictions Made Using Environmental Models. IAEA Safety Series No. 100. International Atomic Energy Agency: Vienna.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (1990). The environmental behaviour of radium. Vol. 2. IAEA Technical Reports Series No. 310. International Atomic Energy Agency: Vienna.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (1992). Current Practices for the Management and Confinement of Uranium Mill Tailings. IAEA, Vienna, Austria. pp 140.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (1994). Handbook of parameter values for the prediction of radionuclide transfer in temperate environments. IAEA Basic Technical Report Series No. 364. International Atomic Energy Agency: Vienna.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (1996). Clearance levels for radionuclides in solid materials: Application of exemption principles (Interim report for comment). IAEA-TECDOC-855. International Atomic Energy Agency: Vienna, January 1996.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (1996a) Planning for the environmental restoration of radioactively contaminated sites in central and Eastern Europe.



Volume 1: Identification and characterisation of contaminated sites. Proceedings of a workshop held within the Technical Co-operation Project on Environmental Restoration in Central and Eastern Europe in Budapest, Hungary, 4-8 October, 1993. IAEA-TECDOC-865.

- International Atomic Energy Agency (1996b) Planning for the environmental restoration of radioactively contaminated sites in central and Eastern Europe. Volume 2: Planning for the Environmental Restoration of Contaminated Sites. Proceedings of a workshop held within the Technical Co-operation Project on Environmental Restoration in Central and Eastern Europe in Piestany, Slovakia, 11-15 April, 1994. IAEA-TECDOC-865.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (1996c) Planning for the environmental restoration of radioactively contaminated sites in central and Eastern Europe. Volume 3: Technologies for, and the Implementation of, Environmental Restoration of Contaminated Sites. Proceedings of a workshop held within the Technical Co-operation Project on Environmental Restoration in Central and Eastern Europe in Rez, Czech Republic, 12-16 December, 1994. IAEA-TECDOC-865.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (1999). Assessment of Occupational Exposures Due to Intakes of Radionuclides. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. Safety Standards Series No. RS-G-1.2.
- International Atomic Energy Agency (2005). Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials (NORM IV) – Proceedings of an International Conference held in Szczyrk, Poland, 17-21 May 2004. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. IAEA TECDOC Series No. 1472, 2005.
- International Commission on Radiological Protection (1979). Limits for intakes of radionuclides by workers. Publication 30, Annals of the ICRP: 2(3/4), 1-116.
- International Commission on Radiological Protection (1992). The 1990 Recommendations of the International Commission on Radiological Protection: Users' Edition. Pergamon Press, Oxford.
- International Commission on Radiological Protection (1993). Age-dependent doses to members of the public from intake of radionuclides: Part 2 - Ingestion dose coefficients. Publication 67, Annals of the ICRP: 23(3-4), 1- 167.
- International Commission on Radiological Protection (1994). Human respiratory tract model for radiological protection. Publication 66, Annals of the ICRP: 24(1-3), 1-482.
- International Commission on Radiological Protection. (1998). Radiation protection recommendations as applied to the disposal of long-lived solid radioactive waste. Publication 81, Annals of the ICRP: 28(4), 1-2.
- International Commission on Radiological Protection. (2000). Protection of the public in situations of prolonged radiation exposure. Publication 82, Annals of the ICRP: 29(1), 1-2.
- International Commission on Radiological Protection. (2003). A framework for assessing the impact of ionizing radiation on non-human species. Publication 91, Annals of the ICRP: 33(3), 207-266.
- Juhasz, L., Erdi-Krausz, G. (1996). Consequences of the Hungarian uranium mining and milling. In: IAEA 1996a, 151-156.

Radiation Protection Series No. 15

Juhasz, L., Lendvai, Z.S., Csicsak, J. Csovari, M. (1996b). The restoration work on the Hungarian uranium mining area. In: IAEA 1996c, 121-134.

- Keating, G.E., McCartney, M., Davidson, C.M. (1996) Investigation of the technological enhancement of natural decay series radionuclides by the manufacture of phosphates on the Cumbrian coast. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity: 32, 53-66.
- Kerrigan, G.C., O'Connor, B.H. Evaluation of Thorium series disequilibrium in Western Australian monazite. Health Physics 58:157-163, 1990.
- Krizman, M.J. (1996). Planning for environmental restoration of contaminated sites in Slovenia. In: IAEA 1996b, 197-218.
- Krizman, M.J., Logar, Z. (1996). Technologies for and implementation of environmental restoration project in Slovenia. In: IAEA 1996c, 225-236.
- McDonald, K.B., Mandla, R. (1993) Bauxite mining and beneficiation by Comalco Aluminium Ltd at Weipa, Qld. In Australasian Mining and Metallurgy: The Sir Maurice Mawby Memorial Volume. Eds. J.T. Woodcock and J.K. Hamilton. The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy: Melbourne, Australia. ISBN 0 949106 76 3. Second Edition: Vol. 1; 750-754.
- McDonald, P., Baxter, M.S., Scott, E.M. (1996) Technological enhancement of natural radionuclides in the marine environment. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity: 32, 67-90.
- Manolopoulou, M., Papastefanou, C. (1992). Behaviour of natural radionuclides in lignites and fly ashes. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity 16, 261-271.
- Markkanen, M., Annanmäki, M. (1994). Guidance on building materials and industrial waste containing elevated levels of radionuclides. In: European Commission (1994)., 223-232.
- Mathew, P.J.; Beretka, J. Specific radioactivity of some Australian building materials. Radiation Protection in Australia. 1(2):59-61; 1983.
- Mathew, P.J., Beretka, J. (1984). Method for the reduction of radioactivity of some building materials. Radiation Protection in Australia. 2(1):31-34.
- Mustonen, R., Pennanen, M., Annanmäki M., Oksanen, E. (1997) Enhanced Radioactivity of Building Materials. For the European Commission, Contract No 96-ET-003 (draft final report).
- National Bureau of Standards. U.S. Department of Commerce (1981). Radon transport through and exhalation from building materials: A review and assessment. Washington D.C.: NBS; Technical Note 1139.
- National Council on Radiological Protection and Measurements (1984). Radiological Assessment: Predicting the Transport, Bioaccumulation, and Uptake by Man of Radionuclides Released to the Environment. National Council on Radiological Protection and Measurements, Bethesda, MD. NCRP Report No. 76.
- National Council on Radiological Protection and Measurements (1993). Radiation Protection in the Mineral Extraction Industry. National Council on Radiological Protection and Measurements, Bethesda, MD. NCRP Report No. 118.

National Health and Medical Research Council. (1985). Guidelines for Remedial Action in Areas where Residues from Mineral Sand Mining and Processing have been Deposited, Appendix XXV, Report on the Ninety-seventh Session (Sydney, June 1984), NHMRC.

- National Health and Medical Research Council (1986). Code of Practice for the Disposal of Radioactive Wastes by the User (1985). Canberra, Australia: Australian Government Publishing Service.
- National Health and Medical Research Council. (1993) Code of practice for the nearsurface disposal of radioactive waste in Australia (1992). Radiation Health Series No. 35. Canberra, Australia: Australian Government Publishing Service.
- National Health and Medical Research Council/Agriculture and Resource Management Council of Australia and New Zealand (2001). Australian Drinking Water Guidelines. NHMRC/ARMCANZ.
- Newchurch, F.N., Galloway, T.J., Moretto, K.E. G.R. (1993) Alumina production by Worsley Alumina Pty Ltd at Worsley, WA. In Australasian Mining and Metallurgy: The Sir Maurice Mawby Memorial Volume. Eds. J.T. Woodcock and J.K. Hamilton. The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy: Melbourne, Australia. ISBN 0 949106 76 3. Second Edition: Vol. 1; 769-772.
- Norwegian Radiation Protection Authority and Institute of Marine Research. (2001). Radioactivity in the marine environment 1999. Stralevern Rapport 2001:9. Østeras, Norway.
- O'Brien, R.S. (1996). Radioactivity in building materials effects on indoor radon concentrations and gamma doses. ACPSEM Conference, Canberra, Australia, October 21-24, 1996.
- O'Brien, R.S. (1997). Gamma doses from phospho-gypsum plaster-board. Health Physics 72(1):92-96.
- O'Brien, R.S. (1998). Dose Calculations for Intakes of Ore Dust. Australian Radiation Laboratory Technical Report ARL/TR127, ISSN 0157-1400, August 1998.
- O'Brien, R.S., Aral, H., Peggie, J.R. (1998). Internal and gamma radiation doses from glazed ceramic tiles. Health Phys. 75(6):630-639.
- O'Brien, R.S., Cooper, M.B. (2000). Assessment of potential radiological risks associated with the long term management of NORM-contaminated wastes arising from ESSO's oil and gas operations in Victoria. Contract report to ESSO Australia Ltd., March 2000.
- O'Brien, R.S., Peggie, J.R., Leith, I.S. (1995). Estimates of Inhalation Doses Resulting from the Possible Use of Phospho-gypsum Plaster-board in Australian Homes. Health Physics 68(4):561-570.
- O'Brien, R.S., Aral, H., Peggie, J.R. (1998). Internal and gamma radiation doses from glazed ceramic tiles. Health Phys. 75(6):630-639.
- O'Brien, R.S., Peggie, J.R., Leith, I.S. (1995). Estimates of Inhalation Doses Resulting from the Possible Use of Phospho-gypsum Plaster-board in Australian Homes Health Physics 68(4):561-570.
- O'Connor, B.H. (2004). Public submission (prepared for Alcoa World Alumina Australia).

Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM) **Safety Guide**

Radiation Protection Series No. 15

- O'Keeffe, F.D. (1993) Bauxite mining by Nabalco Pty Limited at Gove, NT. In Australasian Mining and Metallurgy: The Sir Maurice Mawby Memorial Volume. Eds. J.T. Woodcock and J.K. Hamilton. The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy: Melbourne, Australia. ISBN 0 949106 76 3. Second Edition: Vol. 1; 754-755.
- Onishi, Y., Serne, R.J., Arnold, E.M., Cowan, C.E., Thompson, F.L. Critical Review: Radionuclide transport, sediment transport, and water quality mathematical modelling; and radionuclide adsorption/desorption mechanisms. NUREG/CR-1322, PNL-2901; Pacific Northwest Laboratory, Richland, Washington, 1981.
- Papastefanou, C. (1996) Radiological impact from atmospheric releases of Ra-226 from coal-fired power plants. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity: 32, 105-114.
- Papastefanou, C., Charalambous, S. (1979). On the radioactivity of fly ashes from coal power plants. Zeitung für Naturforschung, 34a, 533-537
- Penfold, J.S.S., Degrange, J.-P., Mobbs, S.F., Schneider, T. (1997) Establishment of reference levels for regulatory control of workplaces where minerals are processed which contain enhanced levels of naturally occurring radionuclides. 95-ET-009.
- Pérez Estévez, C., Sanchez Delgado, M. (1996a). Identification and radiological characterisation of contaminated sites in Spain: Andujar uranium mill site. In: IAEA 1996a, 299-314.
- Pérez Estévez, C., Sanchez Delgado, M. (1996b). Decommissioning plan for Andujar uranium mill facilities. In: IAEA 1996b, 219-226.
- Piestrynski, A., Pieczonka, J., Mielniczuk, W., Chrusciel, E., Jodlowski P. (1996). Effects of uranium mining on the contamination of some areas in Poland. In: IAEA 1996a, 193-216.
- Putnik, H. (1996). Identification and radiological characterisation of contaminated sites in Estonia. In: IAEA 1996a, 137-142
- Pruppers, M.J.M., Blaauboer, R.O., Janssen, M.P.M., van Tuinen, S.T., Stoop P., Leenhouts, H.P. (1997). Radiological risks of non-nuclear industries in the Netherlands. In: Proceedings of International Symposium on Radiological problems with natural radioactivity in the non-nuclear industry. European Commission - KEMA, Amsterdam, 8-10 September, 1997.
- Radiation Protection Authorities in Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway and Sweden. (2000) Naturally Occurring Radioactivity in the Nordic Countries Recommendations. ISBN 91-829230-00-0.
- Robertson, D.E., Schilk, A.J., Abel, K.H., Lepel, E.A., Thomas, C.W., Pratt, S.L., Cooper, E.L., Hartwig, P., Killey, R.W.D. Chemical speciation of radionuclides migrating in groundwaters. Journal of radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry, 194(2), 237-252, 1995.
- Rönsch, W. and Ettenhuber, E. (1994). Relics of mining and milling in Eastern Germany and their radiological consequences. In: European Commission (1994)., 119-129.
- Saler, A., Barisic, D., Vekic, B., Lulic, S. (1996). Restoration of radioactively contaminated sites in the Republic of Croatia. In: IAEA 1996a, 91-112.

Sandru, P. (1996a). Consideration on some radioactive areas in Romania: Potential subjects for environmental restoration. IAEA 1996a, 217-230. **Protection**

- Sandru, P. (1996b). Planning for environmental restoration in Romania. In: IAEA No. 15 1996b, 145-152.
- Sandru, P. (1996c). Technology for restoration of contaminated sites: Review of available experience in the field of environmental restoration in Romania. In: IAEA 1996c, 181-188.
- Santiago, J.L. (1994). Remediation of inactive uranium mining and milling sites in Spain. In: European Commission (1994), 541-562.
- Scholten, L.C. (1996) Approaches of Regular Management of Large Volumes of Waste Containing Natural Radionuclides in Enhanced Concentrations. ETNU-CT93-0105.
- SENES Consultants Limited (1985) A study to develop and demonstrate techniques for the probabilistic assessment of the long-term effects of uranium mill tailings in Canada - Phase II. Research report prepared for the National Uranium Tailings Program, CANMET, EMR, under Supply and Services Canada Contract No. OSQ84-00207.
- SENES Consultants Limited (1986) Probabilistic model development for the assessment of the long-term effects of uranium mill tailings in Canada Phase III. Research Report prepared for the National Tailings Program, CANMET, EMR, under Supply and Services Contract No. OSQ85-00182.
- SENES Consultants Limited (1987) Uranium tailings assessment program (UTAP 3): component model documentation. Research paper prepared under the National Uranium Tailings Program, CANMET, EMR, under Supply and Services Contract No. 23317-6-1728/01 SQ.
- Simmonds, J.R., Lawson, G., Mayall, A. (1995) Radiation Protection: Methodology for assessing the radiological consequences of routine releases of radionuclides to the environment. European Commission, Luxembourg: Report EUR 15760 EN.
- Skiba, G.R. (1993) Alumina production by Queensland Alumina Limited, at Gladstone, Qld. In Australasian Mining and Metallurgy: The Sir Maurice Mawby Memorial Volume. Eds. J.T. Woodcock and J.K. Hamilton. The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy: Melbourne, Australia. ISBN 0 949106 76 3. Second Edition: Vol. 1; 766-768.
- Smith, D.M., Kemball, P. (1998) Regulatory Control and NORM the U.K. Position. Applied Radiation and Isotopes: 49/3, 211-214.
- Smith, K.P. (1992). An Overview of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials (NORM) in the Petroleum Industry. Argonne National Laboratory Report No. ANL/EAIA-7; 1992.
- Streile, G. (1996) Multimedia Environment Pollutant Assessment Systems (MEPAS): short-term release formulations. PNNL 11248, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, Washington.
- Strenge, D.L., Chamberlain, P.J. (1995) Multimedia Environment Pollutant Assessment Systems (MEPAS): exposure pathway and human health impact assessment models. PNNL 10523, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, Washington.

Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM) Safety Guide

Swaine, D.J. (1990). Trace Elements in Coal: Chapter 8 (Radioactivity in Coal). Butterworths.

- Terry, K.W. Alpha self-absorption in monazite dust. Health Physics 69:553-555, 1995.
- Terry, K.W., Hewson, G.S. Retention and excretion of thorium by mineral sands industry employees. Minerals and Energy Research Institute of Western Australia; Report No. 117; 1993.
- Testa C., Desideri D., Meli M.A., Roselli C., Bassignani A., Colombo G. and Fantoni R.F. (1994). Radiation protection and radioactive scales in oil and gas production. Health Physics, 67(1), 34-38.
- Till, J.E., Meyer, H.R. (eds). Radiological assessment: A textbook on environmental dose analysis. U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington D.C. 20555, NRC FIN B0766, September 1983.
- Timmermans, C.W.M., Van der Steen, J. (1996) Environmental and occupational impacts of natural radioactivity from some non-nuclear industries in The Netherlands. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity: 32, 98-104.
- Twining, J., McGlinn, P., Hart, K. The solubility of thorium and uranium from respirable monazite bearing dust in simulated lung and gut fluids. Radiation Protection in Australia 11:149-156, 1993.
- United Kingdom Ionising Radiations Regulations 1999, Statutory Instrument 3232, 1999.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency. (1993) Diffuse NORM wastes waste characterization and preliminary risk assessment. U.S. E.P.A., Washington D.C: Draft Report RAE-9232/1-2, Vol.1.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). (1987) PATHRAE-EPA: A performance assessment code for the land disposal of radioactive wastes documentation and user's manual. Office of Radiation Programs, EPA 520/1-87-028.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency. Diffuse NORM wastes: waste characterization and preliminary risk assessment. Report to the USEPA by SC&A, Inc., McLean, Virginia, and Rogers & Associates Engineering Corp., Salt Lake City, Utah. Report No. RAE-9232/1-2, April 1993.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency. (2000). Evaluation of EPA's Guidelines for Technologically Enhanced Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials (TENORM). Report to Congress, June 2000.
- Vandenhove, H., Zeevaert, Th., Bousher, A., Jackson, D., Lambers B., Hedemann Jensen, P. (2000). Investigation of a possible basis for a common approach with regard to the restoration of areas affected by lasting radiation exposure as a result of past or old practice or work activity - CARE, Final report for EC-DG XIproject 96-ET-006. Radiation Protection 115, Luxembourg, Office for Official Publication by the European Communities, printed in Belgium. pp 238.
- van der Steen, J. (2007). Practical Experiences in Support of Legislation. Paper presented at the Third IBC Conference on Natural Radiation and NORM, held in London, England on March 5th and 6th, 2007.

Safety Guide Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM)

- Van Weers, A.W., Pace, I., Strand, T., Lysebo, I., Watkins, S., Sterker, T., Meijne, E.I.M. (1996) Current Practice of Dealing with Natural Radioactivity from Oil and Gas Production in EU Member States. ETNU-CT94-0112.
- Veil, J.A., Smith, K.P., Tomasko, D., Elcock, D., Blunt, D.L., Williams, G.P. (1998). Disposal of NORM-Contaminated Oil-Field Wastes in Salt Caverns. Report on USDOE Contract W-31-109-Eng-38, August, 1998.
- Vos, H.A., Williams, G.A., Cooper, M.B. The Speciation of Radionuclides in Sediments and Soils. Part II. Studies with a Sequential Organic Extraction Procedure. Technical Report ARL/TR058, ISSN 0157-1400, July 1983.
- Wallace, B.J., Leach, V.A. (1987). Radiation Exposure of Sand Blasting Operators. Radiation Protection in Australia: 5/3, 63-68.
- Watson, I.D., Taylor, R.K. The development of separate radiation protection regulations for monazite production in Western Australia. Radiation Protection in Australia 2:17-25, 1984.
- Whelan, G., McDonald, J.P. (1996) Multimedia Environment Pollutant Assessment Systems (MEPAS): Groundwater environment. PNNL 10907, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, Washington.
- Wichterey, K. (1994) The radiological impact of mining and smelting of copper ore in Central Germany (Mansfeld-region). In: European Commission (1994), 295-308.
- Wilson, A.J., Scott, L.M. (1992) Characterization of radioactive petroleum piping scale with an evaluation of subsequent land contamination. Health Physics, 63, 6, 681-685.
- WMC (Olympic Dam Corporation) Pty Ltd. (2004). Public submission.
- Woodcock, J.T., Hamilton, J.K. (Editors). Australasian Mining and Metallurgy: The Sir Maurice Mawby Memorial Volume. Second Edition (in two volumes). The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Monograph Series, Monograph No. 19. Melbourne, Australia, 1993.
- Yu, C. (1993) Manual for implementing residual radioactive material guidelines using RESRAD, version 5.0. ANL/EAD/LD-2, Argonne National Laboratory, Argonne, Illinois.
- Yuan, Y.C. (1989) MILDOS-AREA: an enhanced version of Mildos for large-area sources. ANL/ES-161, Argonne National Laboratory, Argonne, Illinois.

Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM) Safety Guide

Radiation Protection Series No. 15

Glossary

Acceptable risk

For the purposes of this Safety Guide, is the level of risk acceptable to all stakeholders in a particular operation.

Activity

the measure of quantity of radioactive materials, except when used in the term 'human activity'.

Activity, *A*, is a measure of the amount of a radioactive material given by:

 $A = \frac{dN}{dt}$

where dN is the expectation value of the number of spontaneous nuclear transitions which take place in the time interval dt.

The SI unit of activity is s⁻¹ with the special name becquerel (Bq).

Decay chain

a series of radionuclides, each of which (except for the first, or parent) is formed as a result of the radioactive decay of the previous member of the chain.

Secular equilibrium

the condition in which successive members of a decay chain have the same activity.

NORM

radioactive material containing no significant amounts of radionuclides other than naturally-occurring radionuclides.

Radioactive material

any material that emits ionizing radiation spontaneously.

Responsible person

in relation to any radioactive source, ionizing or non-ionizing radiation apparatus, nuclear installation, prescribed radiation facility or premises on which unsealed radioactive sources are stored or used means the person:

- (a) having overall management responsibility including responsibility for the security and maintenance of the source, apparatus, installation or facility;
- (b) having overall control over who may use the source or apparatus, installation or facility; and
- (c) in whose name the source, apparatus, installation or facility, would be registered if this is required.

Screening assessment

This is a simple assessment of the risks/doses associated with an existing or planned operation. It should be based on conservative assumptions, so that if the estimated risks/doses are found to be well below regulatory limits, no further action needs to be taken, and to ensure that risks are not underestimated

Sealed radioactive source

radioactive material that is permanently sealed in a capsule or closely bonded in a solid form.

Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM) Safety Guide

Annex 1

Radiation Protection Series No. 15

Management of NORM in the Oil & Gas Production Industry

A1.1 INTRODUCTION

The whole of the oil and gas industry is by convention separated into two sections:

- 'Upstream', also called production, which includes exploration, the development of facilities (platforms, wells, plants, etc.) and sufficient processing to provide crude oil, methane ('natural gas'), ethane, propane and butane at marketable qualities. Propane and butane are frequently sold as mixtures and collectively are called liquefied petroleum gas (LPG). Crude oil exits the upstream when it is sold to a refinery.
- 'Downstream' starts at the refinery which converts crude oil into a range of marketable products, such as gasoline, jet fuel, kerosene, diesel, fuel oil, etc.

This Annex deals with NORM in the Upstream in detail, with more limited discussion of NORM in the Downstream in section 4.

• IAEA Safety Report 34 (IAEA, 2003b) provides additional detail in its chapter on NORM in the oil and gas industry.

A1.2 RAW MATERIALS

The 'raw materials' are the hydrocarbons and water existing in the sand formations into which oil and gas wells are drilled. The NORM is present as:

- Radium (²²⁶Ra, ²²⁸Ra and ²²⁴Ra) dissolved in the formation water. Given the geological timescales involved, it is presumed that the water will be saturated with radium under the prevailing solubility conditions of temperature, pressure, pH, and salinity.
- Radon (²²²Rn) dissolved in the oil and in the water. The short half life (55 seconds) of ²²⁰Rn (sometimes called thoron) from the thorium decay chain make it of little practical importance.

The low proportion of 235 U decay chain radionuclides compared with the much greater abundance of 238 U decay chain members means that they will be ignored for the rest of this Annex.

A1.3 PROCESSING STEPS

The first two steps described below apply to all the fluids produced from the formation; the latter two steps may not apply in all cases. Production operations vary considerably depending on the characteristics of the fields being produced and the availability of local infrastructure to take products.

A1.3.1 Bringing the fluids to the surface

The fluids brought to the surface vary from well to well and field to field, and vary considerably over the life of a field. For example, when an oil field starts production usually only hydrocarbons are produced; but as the field is depleted, an increasing proportion of water is usually produced, with almost all of the daily produced volume being water towards the end of the economic life of the field. Examples of the fluids that might be produced are:

- 'Wet' gas. This is usually a mixture of methane, ethane, propane and butane together with heavier (higher carbon number) hydrocarbons in the vapour phase. Water vapour or mist may be present, as may contaminants such as H₂S and CO₂. The heavier hydrocarbons (pentane and up) are liquids at normal atmospheric pressure and temperature; as they condense out as temperatures and pressures reduce during processing they are often called 'condensate'.
- Radiation Protection Series No. 15
- 'Dry' gas is mainly methane with perhaps some ethane, propane and butane, but no heavier hydrocarbons no condensate. Gaseous contaminants may still be present. There is no hard and fast division between 'wet' and 'dry' gas.
- Crude oil may contain gases methane, ethane, propane and butane dissolved under pressure. As the pressure is reduced, these gases effervesce out of solution. Crude oil may also contain contaminants such as H_2S and CO_2 (also dissolved under pressure) and other materials such as heavy metals (mercury, arsenic, etc). While water and crude oil are generally immiscible, they can be produced as a mixture or as an emulsion of oil in water or water in oil. Solids sands from the formation can also flow to the surface with the fluids.

The formation pressure which drives the fluids to the surface decreases over time, and the methods employed to maintain fluid flows can influence the amounts of NORM encountered. Depending on the circumstances, one or more of the following methods may be used to increase the recovery of oil and gas:

- Gas may be reinjected into the formation to maintain pressures, or because there is no current sales route for the gas.
- Gas may be injected towards the bottom of individual wells ('gas lift') to enhance the oil recovery from the wells.
- Water may be injected into the formation to maintain pressure and to sweep the oil and gas from the injection wells to the production wells. In offshore fields, the injected water could be sea water.
- Direct pumping from down-hole pumps is also used.

When the water used to flood the reservoir is different chemically from the formation water, then chemical incompatibilities between the water flood and the formation water can lead to the development of significant levels of scaling in the production system. These scales can include barium compounds (e.g. barium carbonate and sulphate), and their precipitation can lead to the co-precipitation of radium compounds, very significantly concentrating the radium in the scales from the formation water. Some of the highest NORM levels found (e.g. 226 Ra in scale of 1,000 to 100,000 Bq g⁻¹) have been associated with this process.

A1.3.2 Initial separation

The fluid mixture brought to the surface is first separated; depending on the circumstances, the separation can be into three phases: water, oil and gas. This separation is typically done by gravity in a large vessel. Setting the operating pressure of the vessel to below the formation pressure allows gases (hydrocarbons, CO_2 and H_2S) to come out of solution. Produced fluids usually leave the formation at elevated temperatures, which reduce over distance from the formation. Fluids from offshore wells, in particular, are cooled as they traverse the ocean water column. The reduced temperature and pressure and the increased pH all lead to a reduction in the solubility of radium and other minerals in the water, leading to precipitation and NORM accumulation in the separator vessel and in the production piping.

It is at this stage that the first separation of the radium and radon that were brought to the surface occurs. The radium either stays in the water phase or precipitates out, while the radon either follows the gas stream or remains dissolved in the oil.

n A1.3.3 Crude treatment

The presence of dissolved gases (methane, ethane, propane, butane, radon) in crude oil make it unsafe to transport and store at atmospheric pressure. The removal of such gases and the removal of almost all of the water is required to bring the crude oil to the quality required for trade. These processes are referred to as 'crude stabilisation'. Typically, simple physical separation processes, such as driving off the gases using heat and reduced pressures are employed. Further opportunities for radium precipitation occur during crude stabilisation.

A1.3.4 Gas treatment

The input feed to a gas plant is typically a wet gas stream, with how 'wet' being variable from field to field. As the water content is typically in the form of water vapour – at least under the input feed conditions – radium is not usually an issue in gas plants. The ultimate separation between methane, ethane, propane and butane is usually done based on boiling point; as the boiling point of radon is intermediate between those of ethane and propane, the radon can be expected to be split between the ethane and the propane. Because the separations are never 100% efficient, small amounts of radon might still be able to be found in the methane and butane streams.

Ethane is not conveniently liquefied by either increased pressure or reduced temperature, and so plants consuming ethane as a feedstock (typically in polyethylene production) are usually connected to a gas plant via a pipeline and receive their feedstock as a gas with no intermediate storage of the ethane. Because pipeline transit times may often be less than the 3.8 day half-life of ²²²Rn, it is common for plants using ethane to experience NORM in the form of radon and its decay products.

Propane is conveniently liquefied by either increased pressure or reduced temperature and so can be stored for extended periods. Depending on the residence time, this can reduce or practically eliminate radon as a contaminant in the propane when the propane leaves the storage facility. However, the longer lived decay products of ²²²Rn, particularly ²¹⁰Pb and ²¹⁰Po will accumulate in propane storage systems which receive fresh propane.

The decay chain starting with ²²²Rn can be conveniently grouped into two:

- The short-lived radon decay products ²¹⁸Po, ²¹⁴Pb, ²¹⁴Bi and ²¹⁴Po have a collective half-life of approximately 30 minutes, which means that they will grow in to a stream containing just ²²²Rn within 30 to 60 minutes; if separated from the ²²²Rn they will decay with a half-life of approximately 30 minutes.
- The longer-lived radon decay products consisting of ²¹⁰Pb, ²¹⁰Bi and ²¹⁰Po. The 21 year half life of ²¹⁰Pb means that while these grow in to radioactive equilibrium with the parent ²²²Rn slowly, they persist in equipment for significant periods.

As all the decay chain members below radon are solids, they will not indefinitely follow the fluid flow lines in the equipment. Instead they will tend to accumulate at points of impaction, such as control valves, orifice plates, pump suction strainers and pump impellers, and will also accumulate where flows are very low, such as in a storage vessel. There is also the possibility of a thermal precipitation effect in heat exchangers. These accumulation points can be thought of as being inefficient filters, which separate the radon from its decay products.

• Figure 4 describes the dynamics of short-lived (²¹⁸Po, ²¹⁴Pb, ²¹⁴Bi, ²¹⁴Po) and longer-lived radon decay product (²¹⁰Pb, ²¹⁰Bi, ²¹⁰Po) production within an LPG processing system in an idealised way assuming the filters are highly efficient. After each 'filter' only radon is present; however over time (passage further

through the process) radon decay products will grow in until they once again | Radiation encounter a 'filter'. The radiation from the short-lived radon decay products includes some high energy gammas which penetrate the steel walls of pressure equipment and potentially lead to external gamma radiation fields outside the equipment. In contrast, the longer lived radon decay products do not have gamma emissions which can be detected outside the equipment.

Protection Series No. 15



Figure 4: External gamma radiation from radon decay products

In the common situation of two identical LPG pumps arranged in parallel, in which one is a spare for the other and only one is running at any time in a service which includes significant levels of ²²²Rn in the LPG:

- when a pump is first brought into service, external gamma radiation levels from its suction strainer and impeller will increase over a few hours and will then remain steady (assuming a constant radon concentration in the LPG);
- when a pump is taken out of service, the external gamma radiation levels from it . will decay with a half life of approximately 30 minutes;
- assuming the average duty cycle of each pump is 50%, when they are opened, they will be found to contain equal amounts of the longer lived radon decay products, which will not have been detectable from outside the pumps.

WASTE STREAMS A1.4

A1.4.1 Waste water

A good summary of this waste stream is provided in the IAEA Safety Report 34 (IAEA, 2003b):

'Produced water volumes vary considerably between installations and over the lifetime of a field, with a typical range of 2400–40 000 m³ d⁻¹ for oil producing facilities and 1.5–30 m³ d⁻¹ for gas production [59]. Produced water may contain ²²⁶Ra, ²²⁸Ra, ²²⁴Ra and ²¹⁰Pb in concentrations of up to a few hundred becquerels per litre but is virtually free of ²²⁸Th. Mean concentrations of 4.1 Bq L⁻¹ of ²²⁶Ra and 2.1 Bq L⁻¹ of ²²⁸Ra were recorded from a recent survey of Norwegian offshore oil production installations [60] but concentrations at individual facilities may well reach levels 50 times higher. Ratios between the concentrations of the radionuclides mentioned vary considerably. As a consequence, the dominant radionuclide may be ²²⁶Ra or ²²⁸Ra or ²¹⁰Pb.'

on | A1.4.2 Scales and oily sands

These are precipitates from oil/water service. 'Scales' are harder deposits on the inside of production piping and other equipment, while the 'oily sands' are looser precipitates also referred to as 'sludges'. Typically, oily sands are found in the bottom of the larger vessels when they are opened for cleaning and internal inspection, although drier, loose materials can also be found in equipment such as pumps and valves.

As is common in the oil and gas industry, the activity concentrations involved in these materials cover a very wide range: at the low end 226 Ra concentrations can be 0.1 to 10 Bq g⁻¹, while at the high end concentrations can exceed 10, 000 Bq g⁻¹.

A1.4.3 ²¹⁰Pb contaminated equipment

As discussed in section A1.3.4, gas processing plants and ethane transmission and use facilities accumulate ²¹⁰Pb, ²¹⁰Bi and ²¹⁰Po deposits at impaction points, at points of low flow rates and in heat exchangers. The waste arising from these processes consists of contaminated equipment removed from service and dust from cleaning and maintenance activities. The volume of such waste is typically much smaller than the volume of scale and oily sands waste.

The activity concentrations of this waste stream have not been widely reported in the literature. However, experience at one Australian production operation has seen loose dust up to 20 Bq g⁻¹ of ²¹⁰Pb in very low flow LPG environments and impacted material of over 800 Bq g⁻¹ of ²¹⁰Pb on pump impellers.

A1.4.4 Miscellaneous contaminated items

Operational precautions for the handling of NORM contaminated equipment invariably produces additional NORM contaminated waste in the form of plastic sheets, air filters, gloves, disposable coveralls, etc.

A1.5 **OPERATIONAL ISSUES**

A1.5.1 Occupational health issues

External radiation

Oil and gas production and initial downstream processing takes place within closed systems that very often operate at pressures above atmospheric. The production equipment therefore mainly consists of pressure vessels and pressure piping. The steel walls of this equipment mean that apart from maintenance work involving the opening of the production equipment, only energetic gamma emitters capable of penetrating the steel from NORM inside the equipment could become a source of external radiation exposure. The radionuclides involved are:

- the short-lived radon decay products (from ²²²Rn); and
- ²⁰⁸Tl from the ²²⁸Th decay series.

The first of the above can be found in both main situations: water-related NORM (radium scales and sands) and gas-related NORM, while ²⁰⁸Tl is only associated with water-related NORM. In some operations, external gamma radiation from water-related NORM may be higher than those from gas-related NORM, while in other operations, the opposite can be the case.

External gamma radiation levels from NORM scales and sands (water-related NORM) depend on the activity concentrations involved, the amount of scale or sand present and the wall thickness of the equipment. As usual, these factors are highly



variable, with some production operations experiencing insignificant external |Radiation gamma levels, and others experiencing levels requiring considered responses. As an example of the latter, one operation found external gamma levels of up to 600 μ Sv hr^{-1} at the surface of some small containers of scale (< 50 kg in total) which was found upon analysis to contain up to 1,700 Bq g⁻¹ of ²²⁶Ra, 2,600 Bq g⁻¹ of ²²⁸Ra and 1,000 Bq g⁻¹ of ²²⁸Th.

External gamma radiation levels from gas-related NORM follow the dynamics described in Section A1.3.4 above: as the gamma emissions from the longer lived radon decay products (210Pb, 210Bi and 210Po) are too weak to be of significance outside the equipment, only the gammas from the short lived radon decay products are of potential significance.

Depending on the circumstances, the control of external radiation exposures may not be necessary, as levels may be too low. Monitoring will be necessary to determine if further controls are necessary and to detect any changes over time. The general control approaches available are:

- For both water-related and gas-related NORM: erecting barriers around areas of significant external radiation levels, posting warning signs, limiting access times, requiring additional pre-job planning for work within the barriers, etc.
- For gas-related NORM, taking the item of equipment to be worked on out of service for a few hours prior to the commencement of work. While this will greatly reduce the external gamma levels from the equipment, it will have no impact on the potential internal radiation hazard when the equipment is opened.

Internal radiation

All of the NORM radionuclides have the potential to cause committed doses once inside the body. In particular, a number of the alpha emitting radionuclides are of increased significance if inhaled or ingested. IAEA Safety Report 49 contains estimates of effective doses from a range of NORM materials, including scales and sludges. The kinds of activities and the routes of exposure that could give rise to internal exposures are:

- Larger pieces of equipment that contain radium scales (water-related NORM) have the potential to have radon (²²²Rn) and thoron (²²⁰Rn) concentrations if unventilated, potentially leading to inhalation exposures of radon decay products. However, as industry good practice is to ensure good vessel ventilation prior to entry, this is not likely to be a significant source of exposure.
- When equipment is opened it may contain loose material (both water-related and gas-related NORM). This material may be wet (oily sands or sludges), in which case it will not pose an immediate risk of inhalation exposure, but could pose an increasing risk if allowed to dry and contaminate work surfaces, walkways, etc. The material could be dry and friable, in which case its risk of inhalation exposure would be greater, or it could be hard, as in many scales and the thin deposits of gas-related NORM at impaction points, in which case the risk of inhalation exposure will depend on the extent to which it is disturbed.
- The containment of NORM materials from inside equipment is important for • both occupational and environmental reasons. Uncontained materials could accumulate on work surfaces and walkways where subsequent activities could disturb the material making it airborne and available for inhalation. In addition, NORM from such surfaces or directly from the equipment being handled could contaminate skin, leading to direct skin exposures, and via the hands could lead to ingestion via hand to mouth transfer.

Protection

Series

No. 15

- When pressure vessels are opened, they usually need to be cleaned for inspection. The cleaning process has the potential to disturb NORM deposits, and this needs to be considered when planning the work. If metal defects are found by the inspection, actions such as welding, grinding and air-arc gouging may be used to remedy the defects; if residual NORM is present, these also have the potential to make the NORM airborne. Some of these activities (air-arc gouging in particular) have sufficient potential to cause non-NORM airborne contaminants to require a high standard of respiratory protection, which should also protect against the NORM.
- Other work on equipment internals may disturb NORM. Even if the equipment is to be discarded (sold for reuse or for scrap), as discussed later it may need to be cleaned (made acceptably NORM-free) before being discarded. Depending on the cleaning method employed, airborne NORM dust could be generated.
- Repair work on equipment may involve the generation of airborne NORM. For example, pump impellers may be ground as part of a re-balancing process; if the impeller has a thin layer of ²¹⁰Pb, ²¹⁰Bi and ²¹⁰Po, some or all of the layer could be made airborne by the grinding process. Similar repair works could apply to valve seats, to re-tubing heat exchangers, etc.

The control strategies for all the above examples of potential inhalation and ingestion exposure risk are no different in principle from the control approaches recommended by occupational hygienists for the control of exposures to other hazardous materials. As in other occupational health control matters, the hierarchy of control should be applied, although given NORM's status as an unwanted contaminant in an industry which does not in this case set out to handle radioactive substances, the application of the first two options: elimination and substitution is not available.

Engineering controls apply to:

- The use of ventilation, both local and general for work inside NORM contaminated vessels and on NORM contaminated equipment.
- The use of enclosed cleaning equipment such as a glass bead blaster for cleaning NORM from equipment removed from service. The bead blasting would take place inside a ventilated cabinet, with the air exhausted from it being cleaned by HEPA filters before release.
- The use of any purpose designed and built cleaning facility for removing NORM from oil and gas industry equipment. Such facilities exist in oil and gas producing areas outside Australia, but no such facility is available in Australia.

Procedural controls apply to virtually all work potentially involving NORM contaminated items. Such a procedure might contain:

- working definitions of 'NORM contaminated' used for determining when the NORM procedure applies;
- a classification of tasks on NORM contaminated equipment on the basis of their potential for generating NORM dust;
- options for carrying out tasks by methods which generate a minimum of airborne dust;
- personal protective equipment by NORM task classification;
- methods for containing NORM, preventing the spread of contamination, and for collecting, storing and labelling waste; and
- steps to be taken if it is proposed to release a NORM contaminated item of equipment from site.

Safety Guide Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM



Personal protective equipment controls are likely to be embedded in the NORM | Radiation procedure as described above. These controls will focus on preventing skin contamination (e.g. impermeable gloves), on preventing the accumulation of NORM on clothing worn outside the immediate work area, and most importantly, on achieving effective respiratory protection against airborne NORM.

Achieving effective respiratory protection against any hazardous dust requires significant effort in the form of a formal respiratory protection program with elements including the selection, cleaning and maintenance of respirators, the training of respirator wearers, and the individual fit testing of respirators for each wearer. Australian Standard AS/NZS 1715 'Selection, Use and Maintenance of Respiratory Protective Devices' (SAI, 1994) provides detailed advice on the content of an effective respiratory protective equipment program.

Contamination control

Contamination control is usually achieved through a combination of:

- ensuring that equipment with NORM inside is sealed at all openings;
- working over plastic sheeting or a similar collection system to ensure that any NORM released by the work underway is caught and retained;
- wearing impermeable gloves to prevent hand contamination;
- wearing disposable coveralls;
- wet wiping tools and other items used for the work.

The extent of the contamination control required will depend on the specific circumstances.

A1.5.2 Public health issues

NORM in products

Ethane is the product most commonly contaminated with NORM. However, NORM can also occur in LPG and methane products, and to a smaller extent, in crude oil. LPG comes to market from two distinct sources:

- From Upstream operations with wet gas fields which separate out the LPG for sale. This source of LPG can contain NORM contamination: the quantity depends on the source of the LPG, the transit time from well to sale, and to some extent on processing arrangements.
- Oil refineries also make LPG, by cracking larger hydrocarbon molecules into smaller ones. This refinery made LPG is not expected to contain any NORM.

Apart from ethane, the presence of NORM in the other products is not likely to reach the levels found in the Upstream oil and gas production industry. However, there is little data available on the build-up of ²¹⁰Pb, ²¹⁰Bi and ²¹⁰Po in LPG transport and storage equipment and the likely exposures of persons specialising in their maintenance. Accordingly, it would seem prudent for Upstream sellers of LPG to measure the radon levels in their products and to disclose the results in the Material Safety Data Sheets for their products.

NORM residues on items released from the industry

The oil and gas industry relies on a significant number of service organisations to help maintain its equipment. Some of these are offsite workshops carrying out work such as pump rebalancing, exchanger retubing, valve refurbishing, etc. These workshops may therefore receive items bearing NORM contamination and may

Protection Series No. 15

carry out work on those items which disturbs the deposits and carries a risk of inhalation exposure to NORM as well as leaving some residual contamination in the workshop.

The industry also generates equipment items for which it no longer has any use. Well tubing and drill piping is perhaps the largest single category by number of items. These items can be sold for scrap metal – thus recycled through a smelter – or may be sold for reuse. Well tubing and drill piping is attractive for reuse, for example as irrigation piping, because of its standard lengths and threaded connections making joining easy.

Regardless of the destination of a NORM contaminated item after it leaves an oil and gas production site, those receiving the items should be made aware of its NORM contamination status. An example process is:

- the oil and gas operator's internal procedures forbid the release from site of equipment items unless they have been shown to be NORM-free or a specific NORM item release process has been completed;
- items that are NORM contaminated do not leave the industry site until the recipient has been advised in writing of the NORM-positive status of the item(s) and has indicated their willingness to accept the item(s) in that state.

The absence in Australia of any third party NORM cleaning facility makes it harder for oil and gas operators to guarantee that only NORM free items will be released to service workshops or into the wider community for reuse or recycling.

A1.5.3 Monitoring programs

Monitoring program objectives

NORM monitoring programs can be performed for a number of reasons, and the objectives of the program will drive how the monitoring is approached. Possible objectives are:

- surveillance this monitoring is done to answer questions such as:
 - is NORM occurring in this operation?
 - \circ how much NORM is present, and what type is it?
 - is the NORM changing over time?
- confirmation of controls this monitoring is done in order to check that assumed parameters on which controls are based are accurate, or that controls are working. Examples of such monitoring are:
 - carrying out personal dosimetry for external radiation exposures to confirm that exposures fall into the range expected from external radiation surveillance monitoring;
 - measuring airborne radioactive dust during maintenance activities to check that the assumptions upon which respirator selections were made are accurate or if respirators are needed at all;
 - $\circ~$ a surface contamination survey in a workshop to confirm that NORM contamination controls are working;
 - sampling and analysis of waste streams to confirm that they remain within regulatory limits.
- Operational this is monitoring done during day-to-day operations to determine if NORM precautions are required for a particular piece of equipment, or to determine the NORM status of an item prior to release off site.

Safety Guide Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM Operators may decide to treat all equipment as NORM contaminated unless | Radiation tested; however, the additional costs this approach will entail means that some NORM status monitoring to determine the applicability of precautions is likely to be necessary. Depending on the operator's NORM procedures, this monitoring may be pass/fail, or it may give rise to some kind of graduated set of precautions.

External radiation

The monitoring of external radiation levels outside oil and gas equipment is relatively easily performed using readily available equipment such as energycompensated GM detectors. The industry requirement for intrinsically safe electrical equipment (or the need for additional precautions when using non intrinsically safe monitors) does complicate monitoring slightly, but suitable monitors conforming to intrinsic safety standards are available.

The major issue with external radiation monitoring is the need for those involved to understand its important limitations when it comes to gas-related NORM for equipment that has been offline for several hours. For such equipment, the low energy alpha, beta and gamma emissions associated with ²¹⁰Pb, ²¹⁰Bi and ²¹⁰Po mean that when the equipment is closed, the radiation is unable to penetrate the steel walls; when the equipment is open, the usual external radiation detectors may still be very inefficient at detecting this radiation. The potential therefore exists, if external radiation monitors are relied upon, for the hazard due to surface contamination with those radionuclides to be missed. It is for this reason that criteria for 'NORM contaminated' based solely on external μ Sv hr⁻¹ readings are to be avoided.

Surface contamination

Several different types of surface contamination monitors exist from the uranium mining industry that have the capability of detecting emissions from NORM radionuclides. Some detectors are capable of separately measuring α and β/γ radiation. Some detectors have the capability of identifying which radionuclides are present. In the uranium mining industry, such instruments are typically used to measure against surface contamination criteria for work surfaces, lunch rooms, etc. expressed in Bq cm-2. There are some significant difficulties in applying these in the oil and gas industry:

- The detectors are usually flat and designed and calibrated to measured surface contamination on flat surfaces. The oil and gas industry has few flat surfaces when it comes to inside equipment.
- The measurement of radiation from scales and other deposits is likely to be subject to self-absorption in the deposit, particularly for α radiation.

Because of the above measurement difficulties, the use of criteria for 'NORM contaminated' expressed in Bq cm^{-2} is very problematic. As a result, industry operators may instead adopt working definitions of 'NORM contaminated' that are conservative and based on a pass/fail approach, such as whether readings from the equipment being tested are significantly above background.

Airborne dusts

The measurement of airborne NORM dusts involves occupational hygiene issues of size-selective air sampling devices and radionuclide laboratory on-filter counting and analysis. As in other workplace monitoring, personal monitoring, in which the air sampling device is worn by the worker whose exposure is being monitored is the preferred strategy.

Protection **Series** No. 15

Radon in products

This is a specialist monitoring process that is available in Australia. The usual method for gaseous products involves passing a known volume of product through a trap containing activated charcoal. The timing of the sample collection and subsequent analysis is important, as the radon concentration in the product is inferred from measured decay product concentrations as the decay products grow-in over time.

A1.5.4 Issues needing additional consideration

The absence of a risk-based, field measurable definition of 'NORM contaminated' is a significant issue for the oil and gas industry that needs additional consideration. The use of pass/fail criteria based on deviations from background, while conservative, suffers from anomalies due to the varying backgrounds encountered in the industry: the background level on an offshore platform with little NORM and no radioactive sources on board can be as low as one-tenth of the background at an onshore plant. This leads to items being 'NORM-positive' in one environment and 'NORM-negative' in another.

A1.6 Environment Protection

A1.6.1 Waste streams

Produced formation water

In the absence of considerations of its NORM content, produced formation water is typically disposed of:

- into the ocean in the case of offshore facilities;
- by re-injection into the formation in the case of either onshore or offshore facilities; or
- by evaporation in evaporation ponds.

Ocean disposal is conditional on meeting regulatory criteria for hydrocarbon content.

Operators should be expected to have a surveillance system in place through which long term trends in the activity concentration of NORM in their produced formation water are tracked. Produced formation water is produced continuously while a facility is in operation.

Scales, sands and sludges

As discussed this group of wastes can be very variable in both annual volume production and radionuclide content. It is possible, through careful management and with good record keeping, for operators to dilute higher activity material with lower activity material to bring the mixed waste down to below a regulatory activity concentration limit for disposal. This approach requires the analysis of samples from each batch of waste generated. These wastes are produced when equipment is shut down and cleaned, and are thus produced in batches as a result of planned activities.

The presence of oil in sands and sludges can complicate the regulation of its disposal, as the waste may fall into the jurisdiction of the relevant environmental protection regulator due to its oil content and into the jurisdiction of the relevant radiation protection regulator due to its NORM content.

Management of contaminated items

These fall into two groups:

- production equipment, virtually always metal items such as pipes, pumps, and valves; and
- materials used in NORM control procedures, such as gloves, plastic sheeting, disposable coveralls, etc.

NORM contaminated production equipment is frequently stockpiled awaiting further consideration, testing, or regulatory clarity. The main environmental issues associated with this practice are the potential for ground and water contamination if loose NORM materials in the equipment are allowed to spill or be washed out by rain.

In the past, these items may not have always been well managed – perhaps because the presence of NORM was not recognised. The Australian Government has received a communication from another country in the region complaining of the presence of NORM in scrap oil industry components sent to the other country for smelting.

NORM contaminated materials are typically stored in drums or bins. As contamination levels may typically be low on these items, the main environmental issue may be the collision between waste minimisation objectives and the NORM occupational health and contamination control objectives which generate this waste.

Waste disposal options

The selection of which waste disposal option is to be employed in any particular case should be the result of discussions between the industry operator and the relevant regulatory bodies. In some cases, formal studies have been required which consider all relevant environmental pathways from the disposed waste to people and which estimate committed equivalent doses to members of critical groups. As discussed, the presence of oil in addition to NORM can complicate this process.

Waste disposal routes that have or are being used or are being considered in Australia include:

- on-going ocean disposal of produced formation water following a formal study of the kind referred to above;
- ocean (overboard) disposal of sands and scales from platforms, provided oil content criteria have been met and again following formal studies;
- down-hole disposal of smaller volumes of higher activity scales and sands into disused oil wells followed by cementing of the wells;
- onshore near surface disposal of stabilised oily sands and sludges into engineered clay pits which are covered by a defined thickness of clean fill after disposal. Some contaminated plastic sheet, gloves, etc., has also been disposed of via this route;
- disposal of contaminated items via smelter recycling has occurred in Australia after careful definition of contamination limits and associated measurement protocols.

A1.7 NORM ISSUES IN DOWNSTREAM PROCESSING

A1.7.1 Use of ethane as a feedstock

Ethane is a valuable feedstock for the petrochemical industry. In the absence of an ethane customer, an oil and gas production operator may blend the produced ethane

into natural gas, or may use the ethane as a process fuel. Ethane customers need to be connected to the production operation by pipeline; as economics limit the length of such pipelines, some radon commonly enters the ethane customer's plant, with the activity concentration depending on the radon activity concentration at source and the transit time from well to customer.

Once the radon has arrived at the customer plant, its behaviour and potential exposure risks are as described for gas processing. NORM precautions are commonly required and implemented at such plants. In addition, it is possible for the plant using the ethane to separate some of the radon into a side-stream which is on-sold to another petrochemical facility, providing the second facility with the need to also consider NORM precautions.

A1.7.2 Potential radon decay product contamination in LPG distribution systems

There is very little information in the literature or in international guidance documents about this potential. This may need some further investigation and field surveys.

A1.7.3 NORM in oil refining

Low levels of NORM are occasionally encountered in oil refineries. The limited experience to date has been that while the NORM is concentrated in the highest boiling point streams in the refinery, the activity concentrations found are low and that specific NORM precautions and waste disposal considerations are not required. Additional data on this would be valuable.

A2.1 BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF INDUSTRY

The industry description draws on material from Cooper (2005), from Woodcock and Hamilton (1993), from the Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics (ABARE, 2007) and from the Australian Aluminium Council (2007).

The main source of aluminium is bauxite ore which contains 30 to 50% hydrated aluminium oxide, in the mineral forms gibbsite and boehmite, for the Australian deposits currently being mined. Australia has vast deposits of bauxite, with identified supplies expected to last 70 to 75 years at the current level of extraction. It is the world's largest producer and exporter of both bauxite (63.6 Mt in 2006) and alumina (18.4 Mt in 2006), and the fifth largest producer of aluminium metal (1.9 Mt in 2006). The difference between the bauxite and alumina values gives an indicative figure for the production of solid residue (45 Mt in 2006). The Australian aluminium production industry receives its entire alumina demand from the domestic alumina industry, amounting to 20% of alumina production in 2006. The residual 80% of alumina production is exported. In 2007 Australia had 5 bauxite mines, 7 alumina refineries and 6 aluminium smelters.

The schematic in Figure 5 shows the principal steps in the production of smelter grade alumina which is the feedstock for the production of aluminium metal (bauxite mining; and then the production of smelter grade alumina through the Bayer process). The natural radioactivity present in the ore transfers almost entirely to the solid residue stream from the Bayer processing stage. The solid residue comprises a mud residue stream to which most of the bauxite radioactivity transfers and a lower-activity sand residue stream. The radioactivity in the bauxite ore, Bayer process materials and mud residue (and perhaps sand residue) may be potentially of radiological interest, but not aluminium production as the carry through of radionuclides into smelter grade alumina (and therefore alumina metal from smelting) is minimal.



Figure 5: Simplified schematic showing the steps involved in the processing of bauxite ore to produce smelter grade alumina, with reference to potential radiological impacts. The ore may be washed prior to being transported to the bauxite refinery

Raw materials

The five bauxite mines operating in Australia produce feedstock for the Bayer process covering broad ranges in available alumina content and in radionuclide concentrations which accounts for the wide range of solid residue volumes produced per tonne of bauxite feed as well as the wide range in residue radionuclide concentrations. Bauxite mined at Gove in the Northern Territory and Weipa in Queensland have close to 50% extractable alumina, placing them amongst the world's highest grade deposits, compared with the lower-grade Western Australian deposits (ca. 30 % available alumina) mined in the Darling Range at Willowdale and Huntly. The extensive undeveloped Mitchell Plateau deposits in Western Australia also have around 30 % available alumina.

Typical volumes

Table 9 summarises the materials volumes for the Australian industry, in terms of bauxite ore, alumina production and solid residues. The data are consistent with statistics reported by the ABARE (2007).

Table 9: Summary of bauxite volumes mined in 2006 and estimates resulting
volumes of extractable alumina and solid residues (AAC, 2007)

Radiation Protection Series No. 15

Mine	Refineries	Bauxite Mined and Corresponding Estimates of Bauxite and Residue (Mt a ⁻¹)			
		Bauxite	Alumina	Mud Residue	Sand Residue
Gove, NT (Rio Tinto Alcan)	Gove, NT	6	3	1.3	1.7
Weipa, Qld (Rio Tinto Alcan)	Gladstone, Qld (QAL); Yarwun, Qld (Rio Tinto Alcan); plus exports	16.5	8.3	3.1	5.1
Huntly, WA (Alcoa)	Kwinana and Pinjarra, WA (Alcoa)	20	6	8	6
Willowdale, WA (Alcoa)	Wagerup, WA (Alcoa)	8.5	2.5	3.9	2.1
Boddington, WA (BHP Billiton)	Worsley, WA	12	3.5	5.4	3.1

Note: Estimates based on AAC Sustainability Data – indicative estimates only

The Gove bauxite is a lateritic deposit mainly composed of gibbsite, with boehmite as a minor component. Hematite and goethite are the iron oxide constituents, while silica is in the form of kaolinite and quartz. The Weipa bauxite resource occurs naturally in pisolitic (pea-like) form, with about 70 to 80% of the extractable alumina in the bauxite present as gibbsite and containing 1 to 2% quartz. Around 150,000 tonnes per year of Weipa bauxite is roasted in the range 900°C and 1200°C for 50-60 minutes to produce calcined bauxite, which is exported for use as an industrial abrasive. Darling Range bauxite is predominantly gibbsite and typically is covered by topsoil and overburden which is removed and conserved for later remediation. The cap rock bauxite is drilled and blasted before extraction with the more friable bauxite below.

The open cut mining procedures used by all five mines indicate that dust inhalation and radon exposure may possibly result in some above-background radiological impacts, in addition to that from gamma emission – see following sub-section.

Typical radionuclide concentrations and potential radiological significance

Chemical concentrations for Th and U in bauxite, and the corresponding ²³²Th and ²³⁸U activity concentrations have been reported by Cooper (2005), von Philpsborn and Kühnast (1992) and Sato et al (1986). The indicative ranges for the reported Th and U trace levels taken across the Australian operations are 10 - 200 ppm for Th and 5 - 23 ppm for U. The corresponding spreads in activity concentrations for bauxite are 0.04 to 0.8 Bq g⁻¹ for ²³²Th and 0.06 to 0.3 Bq g⁻¹ for ²³⁸U.

In addition to radiation associated with ²³²Th and ²³⁸U and their decay products, there is a relatively small contribution to radiation dose estimates from ⁴⁰K in the bauxite. Measurement of potassium levels in bauxite by companies has indicated that the ⁴⁰K component makes a negligible contribution to above-background radiological estimates.

Radiation
Protection
Series
No. 15
Direct measurement of gamma levels from ores has indicated that above-background doses from this source are unlikely to have any radiological consequences, but may still require assessment. Dust inhalation and radon may provide above-background doses of radiological interest, but these sources may be discounted if ventilation is adequate.

A2.2 MINERAL PROCESSING STEPS

The main raw materials for the Bayer process, as well as bauxite, are caustic soda and lime, with these latter not being of possible consequence radiologically.

There are six basic steps in the Bayer process. The following description is based on information provided by the industry and also from MCA (2007).

Step 1. Bauxite mining and washing

Following open-cut mining of the ore, the material is transported to the refinery. The extracted ore may be washed prior to transportation.

Step 2. Bauxite grinding and slurry production

The crushed ore is ground, with a solution of hot, recycled concentrated sodium hydroxide being added during grinding to produce a bauxite slurry. The slurry is pumped to holding tanks prior to the digestion stage. There is some removal of silica from the bauxite at this stage which may result in some transfer of radioactivity from the bauxite.

Step 3. Bauxite digestion in caustic soda at high temperature and pressure

The bauxite slurry is fed into a digester where it is mixed under pressure with additional recycled caustic soda. The slurry leaves the digestion stage with the hydrated alumina in solution as sodium aluminate solution (designated *green liquor*), plus undissolved ore solids.

Step 4. Separation and washing of solid residues

The green liquor is then passed to *clarification vessels* (also termed *mud thickeners*) which allow the undissolved bauxite solids to settle out. Separation of the undissolved residue from the liquor involves three stages: first, the coarse sand-sized residue (or *sand residue*) is removed and washed to recover caustic soda; second, the mud residue is separated out; and, third the remaining green liquor is pumped through filters to remove any remaining impurities. The sand and mud residues are together pumped to residue lakes and the green liquor then passes to the hydrated alumina precipitation stage.

Step 5. Precipitation of aluminium hydroxide

The hydrated alumina is precipitated from the liquor as crystals of aluminium hydroxide. To do this, the green liquor solution is seeded in precipitator vessels with fine crystalline aluminium hydroxide, which seeds the precipitation of solid aluminium hydroxide as the solution cools. When completed the solid aluminium hydroxide is passed on to the next stage and the remaining liquor, which contains caustic soda and some sodium aluminate, goes back to the digesters. Aluminium hydroxide is washed to remove any remaining liquor and dried. Finally it is heated to approximately 1000°C to drive off the water of crystallisation, leaving the alumina, which is a dry, pure white, sandy material. A portion of the alumina may be left in the hydrate form or further processed for the chemical industry.

Steps 1-5 may require radiological evaluation depending on the radionuclide levels in the bauxite feed as well as plant design. Step 4, and the subsequent storage of the solid residue material, is the step of principal radiological interest as the bauxite radioactivity passes almost entirely to residue. In addition to radiological evaluations of the residue production in Step 4, and subsequent residue storage, further evaluations for Steps 1 - 3 and 5 may be required with reference to -

- (a) The mining and crushing of ore in Step 1 will result in some emission of radionuclide-containing dust and also radon gas, which may require radiological impact assessment. Plant survey measurements by Alcoa of gamma levels, atmospheric gross alpha concentrations and radon concentrations have indicated that above-background doses above 1 mSv a⁻¹ are highly unlikely for any staff involved with Step 1, provided that adequate ventilation is maintained during this stage.
- (b) As for Step 1, there may be release of radionuclide-containing dust and radon during Step 2. There may also be some leaching of radionuclides into the caustic wash solution. Additionally, there is the possibility during Step 2 of discernible gamma exposure from the radionuclides in the solids.
- (c) The slurry produced in Step 2 carries the NORM activity to Step 3 as the undissolved solids fraction. Also, as for Step 2, there may be some release of radionuclide activity into solution, as well as radon release. In practice, the pH regime is unfavourable for the release of radium into solution.
- (d) Step 5 involves re-circulation of caustic liquor and therefore the possible progressive accumulation of activity in liquor and perhaps the subsequent deposition of radionuclides within Bayer process equipment. This issue requires some further evaluation although results reported to date have not shown indications of activity accumulation within the process.

In addition to Steps 1 - 5, plant maintenance should also be considered with respect to gamma radiation during de-scaling maintenance operations, plus the additional possibility that radionuclide-containing dust and radon might be released during de-scaling.

Roasting of bauxite to produce calcined bauxite also requires radiological evaluation with particular reference to the emission of radon and thoron and their decay products.

A2.3 Types of NORM residues resulting from mineral processing

Virtually the entire amount of radioactivity in the bauxite ore is transferred to the mud and sand residue streams and there is practically no deportment of ²³²Th and ²³⁸U series radionuclides to the Bayer process alumina.

The main solid residues from the alumina production are predominantly undissolved bauxite residues containing iron, silica and titanium removed from the digestion step of the process, plus aluminium hydrate that is not extracted in the process. Some of the radioactivity may be associated with trace quantities of non-

bauxitic minerals, such as ilmenite or monazite. Most alumina producers add lime during the process which forms a number of compounds that end up with the bauxite residue. The following elemental composition data indicate the wide range in chemical composition found in residue from different bauxites:

Fe_2O_3	30 - 60 %
Al_2O_3	10 - 20%
SiO ₂	3 - 50 %
Na ₂ O	2 - 10 %
CaO	2 - 8%
TiO ₂	Trace -10%

The trace element content includes elements such as zinc, phosphorus, nickel and vanadium as well as Th and U.

The main liquid residues are those which arise from the washing of solid residues and from the settling ponds. These are recycled as process water.

Disposal of mud and other solid residues commonly takes place by spreading in layers over a large area to allow the material to dry, followed by rehabilitation of the land, which involves covering with sand and re-vegetating the surface. Leachates from the disposal areas are collected and returned to production as process water.

Typical volumes

Table 9 shows alumina and residue production estimates derived from the 5 Australian mines. The amount of bauxite residues generated, per tonne of alumina produced, varies greatly depending on the type of bauxite used, from 0.3 tonnes for high grade bauxite to 2.5 tonnes for very low grade (AAC, 2003). There is also substantial variability between the refineries in the relative split of mud residue and sand residue produced per tonne of alumina. The higher concentrations of radionuclides in the mud residue compared with the sand residue are attributed to the strong tendency of radionuclides to be associated with the fine-grained mineralogy in mud residue.

Estimates of residue production associated with each mining operation are given in Table 9.

Typical radionuclide concentrations for each type of material

The chemical concentrations for Th and U in bauxite mud residue, and the corresponding 232 Th and 238 U activity concentrations, can be expected to increase by as much as a factor of 2-3 relative to the bauxite concentrations, depending on the mineralogy of the ore as well as the level of the bauxite. The indicative activity concentrations for 232 Th taken across the Australian operations varies from levels substantially less than 0.5 Bq g⁻¹ to values in the vicinity of 1.5 Bq g⁻¹. The corresponding indicative range for 238 U has an upper limit of approximately 0.6 Bq g⁻¹.

The indicative range of ²³²Th activity concentrations signifies that, while the mud residue for some operations slightly exceed the exemption limit of 1 Bq g⁻¹ (1 Bq g⁻¹) specified in *Code of Practice and Safety Guide for Radiation Protection and Radioactive Waste Management in Mining and Mineral Processing* (ARPANSA, 2005), operators may seek an exemption from the appropriate regulator(s) on a graded basis. For this reason, consideration of an exemption application for such operations would require an assessment of above-background doses for workers



against the 1 mSv a^{-1} criterion, as well as the demonstration of protection optimisation.

Activity concentrations for sand residue from the operations are substantially less than the corresponding bauxite levels, and therefore the sand residue materials can be expected to gain a regulatory exemption according to activity.

A2.4 MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES FOR EACH TYPE OF RESIDUE

The principal ARPANSA document pertaining to the radiological assessment of bauxite processing is the *Code of Practice and Safety Guide for Radiation Protection and Radioactive Waste Management in Mining and Mineral Processing* (ARPANSA, 2005). Supplementary information is given in the IAEA document: *Assessing the Need for Radiation Protection Measures in Work Involving Minerals and Raw Materials* (IAEA, 2006a).

Exemption and exclusion principles for bulk materials such as bauxite ore and mud residue are considered in the IAEA guidance *Safety Guide for the Application of the Concepts of Exclusion, Exemption and Clearance Safety Guide* (IAEA, 2004a) which is designated RS-G-1.7. This Guide should be considered together with the IAEA 'BSS115' document *International Basic Safety Standards for Protection Against Ionizing Radiation and for the Safety of Radiation Sources* (IAEA, 1996).

The extent to which radiological management strategies may be required is represented as follows:

- 1. Evaluation of representative, time-averaged radionuclide activity concentrations (²³²Th and ²³⁸U) for the ore and for the two residue streams (*mud* and *sand*). The head-of-chain activity concentrations are conveniently determined from elemental analysis data, assuming secular equilibrium for each decay chain.
- 2. Assessment of the likelihood of compliance with the 1 Bq g⁻¹ exemption limit, and, in consultation with the regulator, whether the materials and processes qualify for exemption status. Where the materials exceed the 1 Bq g⁻¹ limit by a small amount (perhaps by *ca.* 1 Bq g⁻¹), the regulator may consider an application for an exemption according to a graded approach.
- 3. Use of positional and personal monitoring to examine compliance with the 1 mSv a⁻¹ above-background level, where deemed relevant by the appropriate regulator(s). This assessment will also involve assessments of natural background dose to determine above-background doses for designated individuals.
- 4. Where the 1 mSv a⁻¹ level is exceeded for any worker category, the Company would develop protection optimisation strategies in consultation with the regulator.
- 5. The regulator may require the operator to develop and operate an on-going NORM management plan as a condition of exemption.

Assessment of Materials

Composite samples of the bauxite and residue streams (mud and sand residue components) should be acquired over an appropriate period to provide representative time-averaged concentrations of the ore body currently being mined. Elemental analysis of the Th and U trace concentrations (typical ranges, up to 500 and 50 parts-per-million dry weight, respectively) should be conducted by an accredited laboratory, with appropriate validation being used. The concentrations are readily converted to ²³²Th and ²³⁸U activities assuming that the two series are in secular equilibrium. Assessments should be conducted for bauxite and residues from new mining and processing operations, as well as for existing operations which have not yet been assessed.

Compliance Testing Against the 1 Bq g-1 Exemption Level

Clear compliance with the 1 Bq g^{-1} exemption level may form the basis of an application for exemption. However, it must be appreciated that the regulator may

still require an assessment of above-background doses for staff in appropriate work categories to ensure that no staff member is likely to exceed the 1 mSv a^{-1} dose level.

Positional and Personal Monitoring

Where the 1 Bq g⁻¹ exemption level is exceeded for some or all of the materials, the regulator may still consider an exemption application on a graded basis if the operator can establish that no worker is likely to exceed the 1 mSv a⁻¹ level and also that protection optimisation has been demonstrated according to the ALARA principle. An assessment of incremental doses for appropriate worker categories will normally involve separate assessments of the gamma, radon and airborne gross alpha components. Each of these three assessments will necessarily involve determination of the natural background level. Background assessments will be demanding technically as the increment will be comparable with the natural background level.

Protection Optimisation

Protection optimisation measures may include (i) introducing administrative controls to limit area occupancy times for work categories where the 1 mSv a^{-1} limit may be exceeded for 100% occupancy, notably for residue area workers; and (ii) applying ventilation measures, where appropriate, as in the mining, washing and crushing of bauxite ore.

On-Going NORM Management

The regulator may require the operator to develop and conduct an on-going NORM management plan as part of exemption compliance. This may involve one or more of the following: materials activity assessments, positional monitoring and personal monitoring.

Transport and Trade

Transport of materials containing radionuclides within Australia is regulated by all jurisdictions using the provisions of the ARPANSA *Code of Practice for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material* (ARPANSA, 2008). Transport of bauxite, Bayer process materials, residue materials and end-use products within Australia can be expected to gain an exemption from the Code, as the Code adopts a factor-of-ten relaxation of the 1 Bq g⁻¹ exemption value for materials containing only natural radionuclides. IAEA guidance on the transport of radioactive materials applies to the international movement of materials (IAEA, 2005). For materials containing only natural radionuclides, the IAEA has also adopted a factor of ten relaxation of the activity concentration level for exempt material of 1 Bq g⁻¹. There may be some more restrictive, country-specific regulations on the movement of bauxite processing materials and end-use products, depending on the activity concentrations.

Storage options (surface deposition, landfill, utilisation)

Bauxite residue is most often stored on land using a variety of methods, and there has also been some ocean disposal of residue.

The residue contains some residual alkalinity; and hence the storage areas are constructed to reduce the risks of seepage to groundwater. Storage is mainly accomplished by the 'dry stacking' method. This process produces a thickened residue which is spread in layers over storage areas. Additional water is removed through a combination of drainage and evaporative drying. The advantages include
reduced environmental risk, more stable landforms for remediation and a wider range of potential land uses for storage areas in the future.

Assessments of residue areas have indicated barely discernible transfer of radionuclides to groundwater which is consistent with the highly alkaline condition of the residue. Groundwater monitoring for radionuclide concentrations will test this assumption.

Remediation of bauxite residue areas for specific uses may require formal approval by the appropriate regulator. The regulator may require submission of a radiological assessment of the remediation plan, including details of protection optimisation strategies based on the estimation of potential incremental radiation doses for members of the public.

Suitability for utilisation

The use of residue material has been evaluated for many scenarios. These include use as a:

- soil conditioning additive in agriculture, with particular reference to phosphate binding;
- phosphate removal medium in sewage and industrial wastewater treatment;
- substitute for clay, or as a clay additive, in the manufacture of construction materials such as bricks and tiles;
- road base construction material;
- filler in the production of rubbers and PVC.

The development of end-use strategies may include exploiting the lower activity concentrations of sand residues.

Evaluation of specific end-use applications may require approval by the regulator on a case-by-case basis. This may entail submission of an exemption application which would include a radiological assessment.

Examples of health impact assessments for different management strategies

Company assessments of the possible radiological impact of bauxite processing operations have been conducted for more than 20 years. A succession of studies has included (i) the deportment of bauxite radionuclide activity through the Bayer process with particular respect to the ores, alumina product and solid residues; (ii) the potential health impacts of the process, residue management and prospective end-uses of residue on the workforce and members of the public; and (iii) health impacts of rehabilitated residue areas.

Radiation	References (Annex 2)
Protection Series	Australian Aluminium Council (AAC) (2007). Public submission to ARPANSA.
No. 15	Australian Aluminium Council (AAC) (2007). Sustainability Data.
	Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics (ABARE) (2007). Australian Mineral Statistics, March quarter; 2007.
	Australian Radiation Protection and Nuclear Safety Agency (ARPANSA) (2001). Code of Practice for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material. Radiation Protection Series no. 2, ARPANSA, Yallambie; 2001.
ty Guide (NORM)	Australian Radiation Protection and Nuclear Safety Agency (ARPANSA) (2005). Code of Practice and Safety Guide for Radiation Protection and Radioactive Waste Management in Mining and Mineral Processing. Radiation Protection Series no. 9, ARPANSA, Yallambie; 2005.
Safety Guide Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM)	Cooper, M.B. (2005). Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials (NORM) in Australian Industries – Review of Current Inventories and Future Generation. Report prepared for the Radiation Health and Safety Advisory Council, ERS-006, December 2003. Revision September 2005.
active N	IAEA (1996). International Basic Safety Standards for Protection against Ionizing Radiation and for the Safety of Radiation Sources. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. Safety Series No. 115.
g Radio	IAEA (2004). Application of the Concepts of Exclusion, Exemption and Clearance Safety Guide. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. Safety Standards Series No. RS-G-1.7.
courrin	IAEA (2005). Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. Safety Standards Series No. TS- R-1.
rally O	IAEA (2006a). Assessing the Need for Radiation Protection Measures in Work Involving Minerals and Raw Materials. International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna. Safety Reports Series No. 49.
ofNatu	MCA (2007). Aluminium Fact Sheet. Minerals Council of Australia. http://www.minerals.org.au/education/secondary/secondary resources/fact sheets/aluminium
ement o	Sato, C., Kazama, S., Sakamoto, A. and Hirayanagi, K. (1986). Behaviour of Radioactive Elements (Uranium and Thorium) in Bayer Process. In Light Metals 1986, The Metallurgical Society of America.
Manage	Von Philipsborn, H. and Kühnast, E. (1992). Gamma Spectrometric Characterisation of Industrially Used African and Australian Bauxites and Their Red Mud Tailings. Radiation Protection Dosimetry, 45, 741-743.
K	 Woodcock, J.T., Hamilton, J.K. (Editors). Australasian Mining and Metallurgy: The Sir Maurice Mawby Memorial Volume. Second Edition (in two volumes). The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Monograph Series, Monograph No. 19. Melbourne, Australia, 1993. Specific papers cited - Baker, R. Bauxite mining by Alcoa of Australia Ltd in Western Australia. Vol. 1; 749-750.
100	

Gouma, J., Bhasin, A. Alumina production by Nabalco Pty Limited at Gove, NT. Vol. 1; 763-766.

Hinde, R.A., Mantarelli, D.M. Bauxite mining by Worsley Alumina Pty Ltd at Boddington, WA. Vol. 1; 745-748.

McDonald, K.B., Mandla, R. Bauxite mining and beneficiation by Comalco Aluminium Ltd at Weipa, Qld. Vol. 1; 750-754.

Newchurch, F.N., Galloway, T.J., Moretto, K.E. G.R. Alumina production by Worsley Alumina Pty Ltd at Worsley, WA. Vol. 1; 769-772.

O'Keeffe, F.D. Bauxite mining by Nabalco Pty Limited at Gove, NT. Vol. 1; 754-755.

Skiba, G.R. Alumina production by Queensland Alumina Limited, at Gladstone, Qld. Vol. 1; 766-768.

Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM) Safety Guide

Annex 3

Radiation Protection Series No. 15

Management of NORM in the Phosphate Industry

A3.1 BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE PHOSPHATE INDUSTRY

World extraction of phosphate containing rock is in excess of 145 million tonnes per annum (Mew 1994, Mineral Handbook 1994-1995). The majority of the phosphate rock production (>90%) is used for the manufacture of fertilisers.

Phosphate fertilisers for agricultural use are derived from phosphate rock and are produced in several forms, characterised by the phosphorus content of the fertiliser. Normal superphosphate contains approximately 20% available phosphorus. Higher analysis phosphate fertilisers are triple superphosphate, mono/di-ammonium phosphate, and di-calcium phosphate and are generally increasing in use. The production of various forms of phosphate fertilisers requires the acidulation of the phosphate ore with either sulphuric or phosphoric acid.

The Australian market for phosphate fertiliser is 3-4 million tonnes of superphosphate (ABARE 2007). Some 75 per cent of the Australian market for phosphates is supplied by locally manufactured superphosphate with the balance by imports of ammonium phosphates, currently around 1 million tonnes. Local production of superphosphate uses imported ore, mainly from Christmas Island, Nauru, North Africa, and China. The major deposit of phosphate rock in Australia is the Duchess ore body in Queensland. Phosphate rock from this mine site is used in an integrated fertiliser plant for the production of ammonium phosphate products, partly to supply the local and export markets.

High purity phosphoric acid is an important industrial chemical as a raw material for phosphate chemicals used extensively in detergents, deflocculants, animal feeds and for corrosion treatment of metal. Phosphoric acid used industrially in Australia is now derived from imported material. For economic reasons, local production of high purity phosphoric acid ceased in the early 1990's (Chemlink).

A3.2 SOURCES OF PHOSPHATE ROCK

The majority of phosphate rock deposits are found in large beds of marine sedimentary rocks, but can be found in other areas. There are three types of phosphate rock:

- 1. Phosphate rock of sedimentary origin: this type accounts for 85% of the current phosphorus production,
- 2. Phosphorus rock of volcanic origin, the principle deposit of this rock type is in the Kola Peninsula in Russia;
- 3. Phosphate rock of biological origin: the accumulation of droppings from marine birds has given rise to deposits of guano from which phosphoric acid has been leached and reacted with calcium in the underlying rock to give tri-calcium phosphate.

All three rock types are mined and processed for the manufacture of fertilisers and other phosphorus containing compounds. Phosphate rock formed primarily from guano, such as that found on Nauru, plays a smaller role in terms of worldwide supply and demand.

The known commercially viable phosphate rock reserves and annual production for 1991 and 1992 are estimated to be 12,586 million tonnes based on a US\$40 per

102

tonne production cost limit (Mineral Handbook 1994-1995). Estimates based on the current and projected rates of usage indicate that the current reserves will last about 500 years. **Radiation Protection Series**

The majority of the world's phosphate rock comes from the United States (Florida, North Carolina, and Tennessee) and the Kola Peninsula. Smaller deposits are found throughout North Africa and Asia.

Australia has two active phosphate rock operations. Christmas Island Phosphates Pty. Ltd. (a subsidiary of Western Australia's Phosphate Resources Ltd.) operate an open pit mine on Christmas Island (an overseas dependent area of Australia that is located about 360 km south of Java, Indonesia, in the Indian Ocean) and WMC Fertilisers Ltd. (the wholly owned subsidiary of WMC Ltd.) operate the Phosphate Hill-Duchess open pit mine southeast of Mount Isa, Queensland. Phosphate has been mined on Christmas Island since 1897.

In 1997, the Federal Government awarded a 21-year mining lease to Christmas Island Phosphates, which had been mining phosphate on the island under contract since 1990. Production was marketed to fertiliser manufacturers in Australia and Southeast Asia (Resource Information Unit, 2002, p. 378).

Mining began in 1999 at the Phosphate Hill-Duchess Mine with a planned maximum rate of 2.2 Mt a⁻¹ of phosphate rock for the production of fertiliser. About one-half of production was sold domestically, and the remainder was exported to Southeast Asia and New Zealand (Australian Journal of Mining, 2002).

A3.3 PHOSPHATE PROCESSING

In Australia, phosphoric acid production is confined to the manufacture of phosphate fertilisers and to a lesser extent the production of higher purity polyphosphates by the thermal process using imported elemental phosphorus. Plans to produce phosphoric acid by the wet process are well advanced in Queensland and Western Australia.

Phosphoric acid for production of fertilisers is normally produced via the wet acid process. A simplified view of the wet acid process is shown in Figure 6.

In the wet process facility, phosphoric acid is produced by reacting sulphuric acid with naturally occurring phosphate rock. The phosphate rock is dried, crushed, and then continuously fed into the reactor along with sulphuric acid. The reaction combines calcium from the phosphate rock with sulphate, forming calcium sulphate (CaSO4), commonly referred to as phosphogypsum in order to differentiate it from naturally occurring gypsum. The phosphogypsum is separated from the reaction solution by filtration. For each tonne of phosphoric acid, approximately 5 tonnes of gypsum is generated (Guimond 1979).

If phosphoric acid derived from the phosphate rock is used, either in place of, or partly as a replacement for sulphuric acid, a higher analysis phosphate fertiliser is produced called double and triple phosphate. This form of phosphate fertiliser contains more phosphorus (typically to 20 percent as phosphorus). High analysis fertiliser is therefore more economic at locations distant from place of manufacture or supply. To address this shift in demand favouring higher analysis fertiliser, certain Australian manufacturers are producing phosphoric acid to replace sulphuric acid.

Protection Series No. 15

Phosphate Rock Sulphuric Acid (H₂SO₄) Phosphoric Acid Plant Filtration Filtration Phosphoric Acid Gypsum Pile

To further processing, fertiliser product and/or market

Figure 6: A simplified view of the wet phosphate process

High analysis phosphates are also currently imported (especially ammonium phosphates with a high concentration of nitrogen and phosphorus) and often blended with locally produced single strength superphosphate to provide a double strength fertiliser.

The major solid waste arising from phosphoric acid production is large quantities of calcium sulphate, gypsum. This is often referred to as phosphogypsum to differentiate it from the natural occurring material. As previously mentioned, this is typically about 5 tonnes of gypsum for each tonne of phosphoric acid produced. The gypsum is acidic in nature due to the incomplete removal of the phosphoric acid and is typically stockpiled on site in clay-lined dams or disposed of as landfill along with the scale and filter materials.

The production of wet process phosphoric acid also generates a considerable quantity of acidic cooling water with high concentrations of phosphorus and fluoride. This excess water is collected in cooling ponds that are used to temporarily store excess precipitation for subsequent evaporation and to allow recirculation of the process water to the plant for reuse. Leachate seeping from both the cooling water and gypsum stockpiles is therefore a potential source of groundwater contamination and emission of inventory substances. Excess rainfall also results in water overflows from settling ponds.

Phosphoric acid used for the manufacture of higher value chemicals for use in detergents etc. are produced via the thermal treatment of elemental phosphorus and not directly from phosphate rock. Raw materials for the production of phosphoric acid by the thermal process are elemental (yellow) phosphorus, air, and water. Thermal process phosphoric acid manufacture, involves three major steps: (1) combustion; (2) hydration; and (3) demisting. Concentration of H_3PO_4 produced from thermal process normally ranges from 75 to 85 percent. This high concentration is required for high-grade chemical production and other non-fertiliser product manufacturing. Efficient plants recover about 99.9 percent of the elemental phosphorus burned as phosphoric acid.

A3.4 THE ORIGIN OF PHOSPHATE NORM

Phosphate rock of sedimentary origin contains low levels of naturally occurring uranium and other radionuclides of the ²³⁸U decay series as an indigenous inclusion. The concentrations of radionuclides vary according to the origin and intrinsic composition of each deposit. Typical variations in the levels of radionuclides from the major phosphate producing areas are shown in Table 10. As a consequence of this natural variation, the exposure to the phosphate NORM varies considerably depending on the original source of the rock.

Table 10:	Specific	activities	(Bq g ⁻¹)	and r	radium	equivale	ent act	tivities	(Ra-eq)	of
	natural	radionucli	des in	phosph	ate roo	k from	some	major	phospha	ite
	produci	ng areas (B	eretka &	. Mathe	ew, 1996	3)		-		

	Specific Activity (Bq g ⁻¹)			Radium equiv. act.
Country	Ra-226	Th232	K-40	Ra-eq (Bq g ⁻¹)
China	0.15	0.025		0.151
Christmas Islands	0.3	0.007		0.329
Israel	1.5-			1.5-1.7
	1.7*			
Jordan	1.3-			1.3-1.85
	1.85*			
Morocco	1.7	0.03		2.087
Nauru	0.85	0.007		0.855
Senegal	1.4	0.067		1.491
Togo	1.2	0.11		1.332
Tunisia	0.52	0.092	<0.1	0.648
Former USSR				
Kola (1)	0.04	0.091	0.17	0.181
Kola (2)	0.07	0.092		0.2
USA		0.016		
Florida (1)	1.6			1.622
Florida (2)	2.1			2.1
Florida (3)	1.0			1.0
Utah	1.85	0.03		1.891
Wyoming	2.3	0.01		2.314

*U-Values

A proportion of the radioactive species within the original rock is retained within the fertiliser and other products from the processing. Uranium and thorium are preferentially extracted with the phosphoric acid. Phosphogypsum on the other hand contains proportionately higher concentrations of radium. The increased concentration of radium within the phosphogypsum results from differences in the chemical and crystal growth behaviour of radium sulphate. These differences also result in the radium content being concentrated within the fine particle sized fractions of the gypsum.

The level of NORM found in the products from phosphate processing are dependent on the level within the original rock. The radiation level typically found within the products from the phosphoric acid process utilising Florida rock is summarised in Table 11 (Guimond 1979). [*Note: The level of radioactive material is expressed as Becqueres per gram (Bq g⁻¹) for solids or Becquerel per cubic meter (Bq m⁻³) for airborne species*]. The concentrations of radioactive species within the products of

Radiation Protection Series No. 15

phosphate processing given in the table are high as a consequence of the levels in the parent rock source (refer to Table 10). Selection of a rock with lower inherent radioactive materials results in a proportionately lower level within the products.

lo. 15 | | Ta

able 11:	The distribution	of radionuclides	within t	the	products	generated	from
	Florida rock				-	C	

Material	Ra-226	U-238	Th-230	Th-232
Waterial	(Bq g ⁻¹)			
Normal Superphosphate	0.7881	0.7437	0.666	0.0222
Diammonium	0.2072	2.331	2.405	0.0148
Phosphates				
Concentrated	0.777	2.146	1.776	0.0444
Superphosphate				
Monoammonium	0.185	2.035	1.850	0.0629
Phosphates				
Phosphoric acid (29%	< 0.037	0.9361	1.0471	0.1147
acid)				
Gypsum	1.221	0.222	0.481	0.0111

A3.5 OCCUPATIONAL NORM EXPOSURE

Exposure to phosphate NORM in the working environment can occur via several routes during the extraction, processing and storage of finished products and by-products:

- dust exposure from the mining and transportation of the phosphate rock;
- processing of the rock:
- workplace exposure dust and scale etc;
- products and by-products (gypsum);
- storage of the waste products (gypsum) and water run off from stockpiles.

The control strategies for the exposure to NORM via inhalation and ingestion are no different in principle from the control approaches recommended by occupational hygienists for the control of exposures to many other hazardous materials. As in other occupational health control matters, the hierarchy of control should be applied to mitigate the impact on those working in and around the area. As NORM is present as an unwanted contaminant in the parent phosphate rock, the options of elimination or substitution are not available.

Procedural controls apply to virtually all work potentially involving NORM contaminated items. Such a procedure might contain:

- working definitions of 'NORM contaminated' used for determining when the NORM procedure applies;
- a classification of tasks on NORM contaminated equipment on the basis of their potential for generating NORM dust;
- options for carrying out tasks by methods which generate a minimum of airborne dust;
- personal protective equipment by NORM task classification;
- methods for containing NORM, preventing the spread of contamination, and for collecting, storing and labelling waste; and
- steps to be taken if it is proposed to release a NORM contaminated item of equipment from site.



Personal protective equipment controls are likely to be embedded in the NORM procedure as described above. These controls will focus on preventing inhalation of dust through the use of appropriate effective respiratory protection against airborne NORM and on preventing the accumulation of NORM on clothing worn outside the immediate work area.

Achieving effective respiratory protection against any hazardous dust requires significant effort in the form of a formal respiratory protection program with elements including the selection, cleaning and maintenance of respirators, the training of respirator wearers, and the individual fit testing of respirators for each wearer. Australian Standard AS/NZS 1715 'Selection, Maintenance and Use of Respiratory Protective Devices' provides detailed advice on the content of an effective respiratory protective equipment program.

A3.6 MANAGEMENT OF WASTE AND RESIDUE

The use of waste material from the processing of phosphate ore is primarily concerned with the large quantities of gypsum produces as a by-product from the process. The normal practice is to stockpile the gypsum, although some small amounts are used for soil remediation. As a result of this stockpiling practice the worldwide reserves of by-product gypsum are therefore substantial.

Many scenarios have been evaluated both in Australia and overseas. These include use as a:

- soil conditioning additive in agriculture;
- substitute for natural gypsum in the manufacture of plaster wall board;
- substitute for natural gypsum as a setting control agent in cement;
- road base construction material.

While these alternatives have been considered, the availability of cheap, high quality natural gypsum has resulted in little use of the phosphogypsum produced. This is not the case in some European and Asian countries where gypsum is not as readily available. The use of phosphogypsum in these countries is not highly regulated and is often given a favourable outlook because of the other environmental effects of the stockpiled material and its leachates. As a result of its limited (practically nil) use in Australia, exposure to the radionuclides present in phosphogypsum is not considered a high risk.

While it is unlikely that these uses will become wide spread because of the abundant levels of natural gypsum, each will need to be considered on a case by case basis with particular attention paid to the source of the parent phosphate rock, which has a major influence on the level of radionuclides in the material.

A3.7 PUBLIC HEALTH

The major potential source of public exposure to NORM from the phosphate industry is via through the use of phosphate based fertilisers, which have become essential in agriculture. Phosphate fertilisers are produced and used worldwide to replenish natural nutrients depleted from soils because of farming and erosion. As a consequence of the radionuclides present in the phosphate rock from which it was derived, phosphate fertiliser and waste products contain part of the original radionuclide load. This results in the redistribution of radionuclides throughout the environment and potentially to the food chain.

It must be recognised that there is an indigenous NORM load and so the addition of any additional radionuclide containing material must be seen in this context. The

potential radiological importance of fertilisers in the environment in a specific country is dependent on the concentration of radionuclides in the source rock used to manufacture the fertiliser. The choice of rock source can therefore have a significant effect on any potential exposure to NORM.

Australia takes the majority of its phosphate rock from nearby Nauru and Christmas Island, both of which have significant guano deposits. Guano deposits have the lowest level of NORM (relative to other sources of natural phosphate); as a consequence the concentration of radionuclides is significantly lower than, for example, in phosphates used in the United States where NORM levels are several times higher.

The levels of radionuclides within the phosphate fertilisers are quite small and the impact on a local area is limited by the application to crops and pastures. The application of phosphate based fertilisers provides a typical phosphorus loading in the order of a few kilograms per hectare per year. At normal rates of application there is no significant increase in the overall uranium and thorium levels in soil and consequently individual doses from their use are not enhanced above normal background (Cooper, 2005).

References (Annex 3)

Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics (ABARE) (2007). Australian Mineral Statistics, September quarter; 2007.

Australian Journal of Mining, 2002

Beretka, J. and Mathew, P.J. (1996). Natural radioactivity of Australian building materials, Industrial wastes and by-products. Health Physics, 48(1), 87-95.

Chemlink. Technical information, <u>http://www.chemlink.com.au/</u>

- Cooper, M.B. (2005). Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials (NORM) in Australian Industries – Review of Current Inventories and Future Generation. Report prepared for the Radiation Health and Safety Advisory Council, ERS-006, December 2003. Revision September 2005.
- Guimond, R.J. (1979). The radiological aspects of fertiliser utilisation. US Environmental Protection Agency report.
- Menzel, R.G. (1968). Uranium, Radium and Thorium content in phosphate rocks and their possible radiation hazard. J. Agr. Food Chem., 16(2).

Mew, Michael. (1994). Phosphate Rock. Metals and Minerals Annual Review, 1994.

Minerals Handbook. 1994–1995. Roskill. Information Service Ltd.

Safety Guide Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM

ARPANSA Radiation Publications

Protection

ARPANSA has taken over responsibility for the administration of the former NHMRC Radiation Health Series of publications and for the codes developed under the *Environment Protection (Nuclear Codes) Act 1978.* The publications are being progressively reviewed and republished as part of the *Radiation Protection Series.* All of the Nuclear Codes have now been republished in the *Radiation Protection Series.*

All publications listed below are available in electronic format, and can be downloaded free of charge by visiting ARPANSA's website at <u>www.arpansa.gov.au/Publications/codes/index.cfm</u>.

Radiation Protection Series publications are available for purchase directly from ARPANSA. Further information can be obtained by telephoning ARPANSA on 1800 022 333 (freecall within Australia) or (03) 9433 2211.

- RPS 1 Recommendations for Limiting Exposure to Ionizing Radiation (1995) and National Standard for Limiting Occupational Exposure to Ionizing Radiation (republished 2002)
- **RPS 2** Code of Practice for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material (2008)
- RPS 2.1 Safety Guide for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material (2008)
- RPS 3 Radiation Protection Standard for Maximum Exposure Levels to Radiofrequency Fields 3 kHz to 300 GHz (2002)
- **RPS 4** Recommendations for the Discharge of Patients Undergoing Treatment with Radioactive Substances (2002)
- **RPS 5** Code of Practice and Safety Guide for Portable Density/Moisture Gauges Containing Radioactive Sources (2004)
- RPS 6 National Directory for Radiation Protection Edition 1.0 (2004)
- RPS 7 Recommendations for Intervention in Emergency Situations Involving Radiation Exposure (2004)
- RPS 8 Code of Practice for the Exposure of Humans to Ionizing Radiation for Medical Research Purposes (2005)
- **RPS 9** Code of Practice and Safety Guide for Radiation Protection and Radioactive Waste Management in Mining and Mineral Processing (2005)
- RPS 10 Code of Practice and Safety Guide for Radiation Protection in Dentistry (2005)
- **RPS 11** Code of Practice for the Security of Radioactive Sources (2007)
- RPS 12 Radiation Protection Standard for Occupational Exposure to Ultraviolet Radiation (2006)
- RPS 13 Code of Practice and Safety Guide for Safe Use of Fixed Radiation Gauges (2007)
- RPS 14 Code of Practice for Radiation Protection in the Medical Applications of Ionizing Radiation (2008)
- RPS 14.1 Safety Guide for Radiation Protection in Diagnostic and Interventional Radiology (2008)
- RPS 14.2 Safety Guide for Radiation Protection in Nuclear Medicine (2008)
- RPS 15 Safety Guide for Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM)

Series Protection Series No. 15

Radiation Protection	RPS 16	Safety Guide for the Predisposal Management of Radioactive Waste (2008)
Series No. 15	Those pu are:	ublications from the NHMRC Radiation Health Series that are still current
	RHS 3	Code of practice for the safe use of ionizing radiation in veterinary radiology: Parts 1 and 2 (1982)
	RHS 8	Code of nursing practice for staff exposed to ionizing radiation (1984)
	RHS 9	Code of practice for protection against ionizing radiation emitted from X-ray analysis equipment (1984)
Safety Guide rial (NORM)	RHS 10	Code of practice for safe use of ionizing radiation in veterinary radiology: part 3-radiotherapy (1984)
ji N	RHS 13	Code of practice for the disposal of radioactive wastes by the user (1985)
N Z	RHS 14	Recommendations for minimising radiological hazards to patients (1985)
al (RHS 15	Code of practice for the safe use of microwave diathermy units (1985)
Saf Material	RHS 16	Code of practice for the safe use of short wave (radiofrequency) diathermy units (1985)
e Ma	RHS 18	Code of practice for the safe handling of corpses containing radioactive materials (1986)
activ	RHS 19	Code of practice for the safe use of ionizing radiation in secondary schools (1986)
urring Radioactive	RHS 21	Revised statement on cabinet X-ray equipment for examination of letters, packages, baggage, freight and other articles for security, quality control and other purposes (1987)
මූ	RHS 22	Statement on enclosed X-ray equipment for special applications (1987)
, in the second s	RHS 23	Code of practice for the control and safe handling of radioactive sources used for therapeutic purposes (1988)
00	RHS 24	Code of practice for the design and safe operation of non-medical irradiation facilities (1988)
rally	RHS 25	Recommendations for ionization chamber smoke detectors for commercial and industrial fire protection systems (1988)
Vatu	RHS 28	Code of practice for the safe use of sealed radioactive sources in bore-hole logging (1989)
t of]	RHS 30	Interim guidelines on limits of exposure to 50/60Hz electric and magnetic fields (1989)
men	RHS 31	Code of practice for the safe use of industrial radiography equipment (1989)
e e e	RHS 34	Safety guidelines for magnetic resonance diagnostic facilities (1991)
Management of Natura	RHS 35	Code of practice for the near-surface disposal of radioactive waste in Australia (1992)
2	RHS 36	Code of practice for the safe use of lasers in schools (1995)
	RHS 38	Recommended limits on radioactive contamination on surfaces in laboratories (1995)

Regulatory Authorities

Where advice or assistance is required from the relevant regulatory authority for radiation protection, it may be obtained from the following officers:

Radiation Protection Series No. 15

COMMONWEALTH, STATE/TERRITORY	CONTAC	т
Commonwealth	Chief Executive Officer ARPANSA PO Box 655 Miranda NSW 1490 Email: info@arpansa.gov.au	Tel: (02) 9541 8333 Fax: (02) 9541 8314
New South Wales	Manager Hazardous Materials and Ra Department of Environment and Clima PO Box A290 Sydney South NSW 1232 Email: radiation@environment.nsw.go	te Change Tel: (02) 9995 5000 Fax: (02) 9995 6603
Queensland	Director, Radiation Health Unit Department of Health 450 Gregory Terrace Fortitude Valley QLD 4006 Email: radiation_health@health.qld.go	Tel: (07) 3406 8000 Fax: (07) 3406 8030
South Australia	Director, Radiation Protection Division Environment Protection Authority PO Box 721 Kent Town SA 5071 Email: <u>radiationprotection@epa.sa.gov</u>	Tel: (08) 8130 0700 Fax: (08) 8130 0777
Tasmania	Senior Health Physicist Health Physics Branch Department of Health and Human Ser GPO Box 125B Hobart TAS 7001 Email: <u>health.physics@dhhs.tas.gov.a</u>	Tel: (03) 6222 7256 Fax: (03) 6222 7257
Victoria	Team Leader, Radiation Safety Department of Human Services GPO Box 4057 Melbourne VIC 3001 Email: <u>radiation.safety@dhs.vic.gov.at</u>	Tel: 1300 767 469 Fax: 1300 769 274
Western Australia	Secretary, Radiological Council Locked Bag 2006 PO Nedlands WA 6009 Email: <u>radiation.health@health.wa.gov</u>	Tel: (08) 9346 2260 Fax: (08) 9381 1423 <u>⁄.au</u>
Australian Capital Territory	Manager Radiation Safety Radiation Safety Section ACT Health Locked Bag 5 Weston Creek ACT 2611 Email: <u>radiation.safety@act.gov.au</u>	Tel: (02) 6207 6946 Fax: (02) 6207 6966
Northern Territory	Manager Radiation Protection Radiation Protection Section Department of Health and Families GPO Box 40596 Casuarina NT 0811 Email: <u>envirohealth@nt.gov.au</u>	Tel: (08) 8922 7152 Fax: (08) 8922 7334

Please note: This table was correct at the time of printing but is subject to change from time to time. For the most up-to-date list, the reader is advised to consult the ARPANSA web site (www.arpansa.gov.au).

For after hours emergencies only, the police will provide the appropriate emergency contact number.

Management of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM) Safety Guide

111

Radiation
ProtectionContributors to Drafting and Review

Protection Series No. 15

WORKING GROUP

Mr Alan Melbourne	Manager, Standards Development & Committee Support, ARPANSA (convenor)				
Dr Richard O'Brien	Environmental Radioactivity Section, Environmental & Radiation Health Branch, ARPANSA				
Em Prof Brian O'Connor	The Australian Aluminium Council				
Mr Andrew Johnston	Senior Scientist, Radiation Protection Division, Environment Protection Authority, South Australia				
Mr David Hamilton	Senior Industrial Hygiene Adviser, Esso Australia Pty Ltd				
Dr Gavan Stray	Compounds Production Manager, Boral Plasterboard				

Index

A

abrasives 16, 50, 93
acceptable risk76
access times
acidic cooling water 104
acidulation
action level 40
activity concentration 3, 5, 7, 10, 12, 17,
35-40, 46, 58, 82, 88, 90, 93, 96-99
adequate ventilation 49, 50, 95
air filters82
air-arc gouging84
airborne NORM dust 18, 26, 53, 56, 84,
87, 106
ALARA principle 30, 31, 98
alkaline
alpha radiation21
alumina4, 10-11, 15, 18, 38, 91-93, 95-96,
99
aluminium
hydroxide
<i>metal</i> 10, 91
production
ammonium phosphates 11, 102, 104
animal feeds 11, 102
approval
assessment 6-7, 21, 29-30, 33-37, 40-48,
52-54, 56-59, 77, 94, 96-99
Australian Standard85, 107
authorisations 43
awareness 5

B

backfill12, 32
barium compounds 79
barriers 51-52, 83
baseline assessment 45
bauxite 4, 6-7, 10-11, 30, 38, 59, 91-99
bauxite/aluminium6, 10, 59
Bayer process10, 91-92, 94-95, 98-99
Best Practice Regulation Handbook 47
beta radiation
binding agent 50
biodiversity
blister copper13
boehmite
bottom ash 14-15, 20, 30
building industry 4-5, 9, 12, 20, 22, 24,
29-30, 36, 39, 45, 59, 108
bulk material 23, 27, 46, 97
bunded areas 50
bunds 50-51

burial	
butane	
by-product 4, 7	, 11, 21, 24, 58, 106-108

С

calcined bauxite93, 94	5
cap rock9	3
caustic soda10, 94	4
cement 12, 14-15, 32, 89, 10	7
ceramic glaze4, 18, 28	
ceramic pigments	8
characterisation of materials	
chemical hazard5	
chemical separation20	
chemicals	
clarification vessels	4
classification	6
clean 14-15, 22, 26, 29, 50, 82, 84-86	j,
88-89, 107	ĺ
clearance9	7
close-out requirements 46, 50	6
coal 4, 14-15, 23, 38, 5	
coal-fired power station23, 5	
combustion14, 38, 104	
commodities 4-5, 27, 3	
compensating factors5	
compliance	8
Compliance Testing9	7
computer model	8
concentrate4, 12-14, 16, 19, 34, 36, 38-39	
90, 94, 105-106	
concrete extender	5
condensate7	9
conditional exemption 42, 58	8
contaminant 9, 14, 19, 21, 57, 79, 80, 84	ł,
106	
contaminated	
clothing50	0
equipment	4
<i>site</i> 5,	7
contamination control85-86, 89	
contingency plans	3
control measures27, 52, 84, 100	6
copper4, 12-13, 3	
copper iron sulphides11	
cross-border issues	
crude oil10, 78-80, 8	
crushed ore	4

D

deflocculants	 	11, 1	02
demisting	 	1	04
deposition			

de-scaling
detergents 11, 102, 104
di-calcium phosphate 102
digester
digestion 10, 94, 95
dilution
discharge14, 16-17, 26, 49, 51-53
dispersal 6, 45, 51-52
disposable coveralls
disposal5, 8, 11, 14, 16-19, 29-32, 41,
44-45, 50-51, 58-59, 88-89, 96
dose assessment43, 49, 52-53, 58
dose limit
dose rate meters 52
double strength fertiliser 104
downstream processing 6, 10, 16-17, 26,
82, 89
dredging16, 24, 26
dry
<i>material</i> 51
separation26, 50
weight
dust15-16, 18, 22, 24-28, 37-39, 45, 47,
50-53, 82, 85-86, 93-95, 106-107
dust mitigation methods
0
duty cycle81

Ε

effective dose	. 37, 39, 83
elemental phosphorus	
elimination	84, 106
encapsulation	32
enclosed cleaning equipment	
end-use	
engineered barriers	
environmental impact. 5, 23, 29	, 31-32, 37,
40, 44-45, 47, 49, 52-53, 55	
environmental impact assessme	nt 23, 29,
40, 44-45, 47, 52-53, 55	
environmental variables	53
erosion	
estimated doses	
ethane9-10, 78-80, 82	
exclusion	
exemption 5-8, 34-43, 46	
existing operational sites	56
export markets	
exposure3-7, 10, 18-40, 42	
58-59, 82-87, 90, 93, 95, 105-	
exposure pathway3, 7, 21, 23	, 27-29, 31,
45, 47, 50	
exposure time	
external exposure20, 23-26,	, 28-29, 45,
47, 50-51	
extraction4, 6, 9, 12-14, 16-17,	
36, 38, 44, 46, 50, 56, 58, 91,	93, 102,
106	

feedstock......10, 15, 38, 80, 89-91, 92 fertiliser ... 4, 11-12, 17, 23, 28, 38, 102-105, 107-108 field......9, 78-81, 85, 88, 90 filter 10, 12, 18-19, 80, 87, 94, 104 fire43, 53 f

flood	
flotation	
flow rates	
flue gas	
fluid flow lines	
fluid mixture	
fly ash	4, 14-15, 20, 30
food chain	23, 45, 47, 107
formation water9	, 26, 78-79, 88-89
fume13, 15	, 18, 22-24, 37, 39
future land use	

G

gamma 4, 10, 23, 25, 28, 37, 39, 81-83, 93-95, 98
gas stream 10, 15, 79
gas-related NORM82-83, 87
geometric effect24
geometry 20, 24, 56
gibbsite
glass bead blaster
gloves
goethite93
good practice 30, 83
graded approach to regulation7, 33, 35,
38-40, 58
green liquor
grinding 10, 29, 50, 84, 94
gross alpha concentrations95
groundwater 19, 23, 29, 31, 51-53, 98-99,
104
guano102, 108
gypsum11, 20, 30, 103-107

Η

30-32
49, 80
82, 84
56, 79
93
84
4, 106
51
102
94
3
10, 94
104

hydrocarbon	9,	7 8 -	-79,	85,	88
hygiene	••••	•••••	23,	50,	87

I

ideal site criteria51
ilmenite6, 11, 14-17, 96
impact assessment 44, 46, 48, 54-55, 95, 99
impaction points 82-83
impeller10, 50, 80-82, 84
industry 6-7, 9-13, 15-17, 20, 35-37,
39-40, 46, 49-50, 58, 78, 83-89, 91-92,
94-95, 102
ingestion 21, 23, 25-26, 28-29, 50, 83-84,
106
ingress of groundwater 50
inhalation 4, 20-22, 25-29, 45, 47, 50,
83-84, 86, 93-94, 106-107
initial assessment 52-53
injection
inspection
internal exposure 21-22, 25, 83
International Atomic Energy Agency
(IAEA)9-10, 18, 20, 24, 27-28, 32-33,
35-37, 39-40, 44-46, 51-53, 56-57, 78,
81, 83, 97, 98
international experience
involvement of stakeholders
ionizing radiation 32, 76
irrigation
iterative improvement 44, 54-55, 57
-

L

land slippage 43, 53
land use
landfill 5, 12, 14, 17, 19, 23, 29-30, 32, 59,
98, 104
land-spreading19
lateritic deposit
leachate
leaching 12, 14, 23, 29, 31, 51-52, 95
lead 1, 3-4, 12, 23, 26, 28, 31, 34-35, 39-40,
42, 50-51, 58, 79, 81, 83
leakage29, 51
legacy site7, 57, 58
levels of contamination53, 57
licence requirements41, 52
lime 19, 94, 96
liners 51-52
local infrastructure78
loose material 51, 82, 83

M

maintenance activities	50,	82,	86
management of NORM waste		44,	54

measured radionuclide concentrations33,
53
measurement 37-39, 41, 53-54, 87, 89,
93-94, 95
member of the public53
metal defects
methane9, 78-80, 85
Mg-Th alloy 28
milling
mineral 3-4, 6-9, 11, 13-22, 24-26, 29,
34-35, 39, 41, 50, 58, 79, 91, 94-97,
102-103, 108
mineral extraction
mineral sands 4, 6, 16, 21, 34, 58
mineralisation13, 96
minimisation of waste44
Mining Code 4, 6, 34, 43
Mining Safety Guide 6, 34, 43
mitigation
<i>measures</i> 49, 52
procedures
mobile26
model 44, 46, 53, 55-56
model predictions56
monazite 11, 15-16, 36, 38, 96
monitoring requirements 41, 44, 52-53, 56,
86
mono/di-ammonium phosphate102
mud residue11, 30, 91, 93-94, 96, 97
mud thickeners

Ν

natural background radiation . 4, 11-12, 47 98	,
natural material35, 46	3
near surface disposal23, 30, 51, 89)
Near Surface Disposal Code31, 45, 51	l
nickel 96	3
non-radiological issues56	3
NORM	
contaminated	3
contaminated waste 82	2
dust	3
Management Plan 29, 43, 44, 46, 49, 58	3
procedure	7
notification)

0

occupancy	28. 98
occupational health and safety	
occupational hygienists	
ocean disposal	
off-gases	
offshore9	
oil and gas industry6, 10, 78,	82, 84-85,
87-88,90	
oily sand 26	, 82-83, 89

onshore
open pit14, 24-25, 103
operational issues
operational precautions
operator 33-35, 40-41, 43-46, 52, 56-58,
86-89, 96-98
optimisation 30, 32-33, 35, 37, 41, 45, 47,
51, 58
ore 11-17, 21-23, 25-26, 34, 36-37, 56, 91,
92, 94-98, 102
overburden16, 25, 93
overflow 29, 104

P

parent phosphate rock 106-107
particle 21-22, 29, 105
particulate14, 16, 51
past operations
personal monitoring
personal protective equipment51, 84, 85,
106, 107
phosphate
binding99
<i>chemicals</i> 11, 102
fertilisers102-103, 108
<i>industry</i> 6, 52, 107
ore
processing105
rock 4, 11-12, 102-108
phosphogypsum 4, 11-12, 20, 30, 38,
103-105, 107
phosphoric acid11-12, 38, 102-106
phosphorus 11, 37-38, 96, 102-104, 108
physical separation80
planning
plasterboard
plastic sheets
points of impaction
polonium1, 3-4, 22, 51
polyphosphates103
potassium-401
precipitation . 10, 19, 39, 79-80, 82, 94, 104
preliminary assessment 54
pressure equipment81
procedural controls
process
<i>plants</i>
stream
water
processing 4, 6-10, 12-13, 16-18, 20-21,
21 26 20 21 24 26 40 41 44 47
24-26, 29, 31, 34, 36, 40-41, 44, 47,
51-52, 56, 58, 78-80, 82, 85, 90-92,
94-99, 103, 105-107
produced fluids
product 1-2, 4-7, 9-18, 21-22, 24-25,
27-29, 4, 36, 38, 46, 58, 78, 80, 83, 85,
88, 90, 93, 95, 98-99, 102, 104-107
production operations9, 79, 82-83
i i , , , = = =

propane	9, 78-80
protection optimisation	
public health	5, 32, 85, 107
public perception	
pump10, 19-20, 26, 50	, 79-82, 84-85,
89, 94	

R

radiation level 47, 81-83, 87, 105
radiation protection 5-8, 18, 27, 30, 35,
38-39, 41, 43, 45, 52-53, 88
radioactive decay1-2, 4, 10, 17, 22-23, 28,
76
radioactive equilibrium17-18, 80
radiological
radiological <i>issues</i> 7, 20-21, 27, 49, 56, 58
risk19, 20, 22, 30-31, 40, 50, 59
radionuclide1-4, 6, 9, 11-15, 17-26, 28-29,
31, 34-36, 39, 43, 46, 50-53, 56, 58, 76,
78, 81-83, 87-88, 91-93, 95-99, 105-108
radium
82-83, 95, 105
radon1, 4, 9-10, 20, 22, 25-27, 29, 37, 40,
45, 47, 49-50, 53, 79-83, 85, 88, 90,
93-95, 98
recycling of scrap metal45
reference level
register of operations42
registration
regulation 5-7, 27, 33-39, 41, 43, 46-48,
54, 58, 88, 98
Regulatory Authority 33-34, 38, 40, 46,
56, 111
regulatory impact statement
remediation 5, 7, 11, 14, 46-47, 52, 56-58,
93, 99, 107
repair work
reporting requirements 35, 42, 43
residence time
residue 4-7, 9-12, 14, 17-24, 26-27, 29-33,
35-36, 38, 41, 43, 45, 51, 54, 58-59, 85,
91-99, 107
respiratory protection
responsible person
restricted access 31, 50, 51
resuspension22, 25, 28-29, 50
reuse 32, 84, 86, 104
risk1-3, 5, 24-27, 29, 31-35, 37, 39-42,
49, 52-56, 58, 76-77, 83-84, 86, 88, 90,
98, 107
roadbase
roasting
run off
101 011

S

safety assessment	32, 40, 44, 47, 53
sampling	39, 86, 87

sand residue stream91, 95
scale 12, 20, 22, 26, 39, 79, 82-83, 87,
89, 104, 106
scrap metal
screening assessment 35, 37, 40-43, 77
scrubbers
sealed radioactive source77
secondary containment
secular equilibrium1, 76, 97
seepage
self-absorption
setting control agent
settling pond11, 14, 96, 104
shielding
site-specific data56
siting
skin 21, 23-24, 26, 28, 50, 83, 85
contamination85
exposures
slag 4, 13-15, 30, 32, 36, 38
sludge19-20, 26, 29, 38-39, 82-83, 88-89
slurry14, 16-17, 24, 26, 29, 94, 95
smelting
sodium aluminate
sodium hydroxide
soil conditioning 11-12, 23, 30, 99, 107
solid residue stream11, 91
solvent extraction11-13
specific activities105
spillage
splashing25-26, 28
spraying 50-51
stack
stockpile 12, 29, 39, 50, 89, 104, 106-107
storage
98, 106
substitution
sulphuric acid11-12, 17, 103
support determined and support in 12, 17, 100 support 50
superphosphate 11, 102, 104, 106
suppression of dust
surface contamination
surface water
Surface water

Т

tailings 4-5,	12-14, 16, 29, 32, 45, 51
tantalum	4, 13-14, 36
thermal process	
thorium1, 4, 10	0-18, 28-29, 34, 36, 39,
78, 105, 108	
thoron	

time management methods	52
time-averaged	97
tin4, 13-	14, 38
titanium15	-17, 95
transfer points	50
transport 7, 17, 22, 26-28, 32, 46,	51-52,
56, 58, 80, 85, 94, 98, 106	
Transport Code	27, 46
tri-calcium phosphate	102
triple superphosphate	102

U

unconditional exemption	40-42
underground mining	
underground work areas	
undissolved solids fraction	
UNSCEAR	
upstream	
uranium1, 4, 6, 9-19, 21,	28, 34, 39, 58,
87, 105, 108	

V

valves	10, 80, 82, 84-85, 89
vanadium	
ventilation rate	
volatilisation	8-4, 13-15, 18, 23, 39, 51

W

warning signs
washing 10-11, 23, 50, 94, 96, 98
waste 4-5, 8, 11-20, 23-25, 30-32, 34, 41,
43-45, 51, 54, 56, 81-82, 84, 86, 88-90,
104, 106-107
disposal5, 45, 56, 89-90
rock
rock pile24
water sprays 50
welding
wet separation14
work areas
work categories
worker 4, 7, 10, 20, 26-28, 36-37, 40, 49,
50, 52-53, 87, 96-98

Z

zinc	
zircon	6, 14-16, 18, 38
zirconia	16, 18, 37-38